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This annual report of the Education Labour Relations Council 
(ELRC) is a record of important achievements. I commend it to 
Parliament and all those with an interest in education.

The period under review saw a number of challenges in the 
education sector in South Africa, notably the protracted public 
service strike that lasted for 28 days. Despite these challenges, 
the ELRC, the combined teacher unions  (CTU-SADTU and 
CTU-SAOU) and the Department of Education engaged in 
negotiations to ultimately arrive at an agreement that would 
restore con� dence in education as a profession and assure 
adequate compensation for educators. Collective agreement 
1 and 2 of 2008 provided a framework for the establishment of 
an Occupation Speci� c Dispensation (OSD) for educators in 
the public education sector. The OSD seeks to ensure a fair, 
equitable and competitive remuneration structure for identi� ed 
categories of employees by providing for longer salary bands 
and substantial overlaps between salary levels.  The provision 
of quality education is further recognised through career 
pathing opportunities and additional remuneration.

By imparting their knowledge and experience to the next 
generation, teachers are helping map the destiny of our 
country. It is therefore imperative that teachers who are 
committed to excellence in education, are celebrated and 
rewarded for their contributions in shaping the South African 
leaders of tomorrow. We congratulate the ELRC and all other 
role players and especially thank the negotiators for their 
tireless efforts in crafting an agreement, the signi� cance of 
which will be felt long after today. 

The ELRC also played a crucial role in  contributing towards 
government’s broader objectives of skills development 
(ASGISA, JIPSA), by successfully facilitating the implementation 
of aspects of the Further Education and Training Colleges Act, 
16 of 2006. The resolutions that were concluded to facilitate 
this process subsequently necessitated the amendment of 
the ELRC Constitution to cater for the educators in the sector. 
(C.A. 4, 5 & 8 of 2007). 
In the process of transforming and restructuring the current 
Further Education and Training Colleges system, the FET 
Colleges  Act 16 of 2006 makes provision for the employment 
and transfer of staff at these colleges. In order to give effect 
to the substantive provisions of the Act, respective Collective 
Agreements of the ELRC and the GPSSBC have been 
concluded. These agreements seek to regulate the transfer of 
employees to the Colleges. 

The commitment and determination of the parties and the ELRC 
to achieve their goals and comply with the responsibilities given 
to them was illustrated with the establishment of the FETC 
Employers’ Organisation. The ELRC has lived up to one of its 
Batho Pele principles viz to serve the people that it works with. 
Educators in South Africa will bene� t tremendously from the 
OSD agreement, and the interests of FET College educators 
are also protected by the two FET College agreements that 
the ELRC concluded in 2007. 

On behalf of the Ministry of Education, I extend a warm word 
of gratitude for all the Council’s efforts and wish the ELRC well 
in all future endeavours.

MESSAGE FROM THE MINISTER OF 
EDUCATION

The Honourable Mrs Naledi Pandor
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It is a great honour to once again introduce the report of the 
Education Labour Relations Council for the 2007/8 � nancial 
year. The report re� ects the work that has been conducted 
by the Council in addressing matters of mutual interest 
between the Department of Education and the organised 
teaching profession. 

This work includes the prevention and management of 
disputes and grievances, and with some 400 000 employees 
in the sector, this is a full-time task in itself. However, the 
Council is also tasked with facilitating collective agreements 
between the employee and employer parties, which again 
involves extensive negotiations, both formal and informal. 

During the year under review the major accomplishment of 
the ELRC was to successfully facilitate the process by which 
parties concluded Collective Agreements 1 and 2 of 2008, 
which provide the framework for an Occupation Speci� c 
Dispensation (OSD) for educators. This OSD will reward 
those educators who teach “scarce skills”, and will introduce, 
for the � rst time, performance evaluations of teachers, taking 
account of learner performance as part of this evaluation. 
In future, good teachers will be well paid, and outstanding 
teachers even better paid. In addition, the salary scales have 

FOREWORD BY THE DIRECTOR 
GENERAL

Mr Duncan Hindle
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been lengthened considerably, ensuring more favourable 
retention strategies in education. These salary scales do not 
require a move into management: specialist teachers can 
earn considerably more staying in the classroom. All of this 
heralds a dramatic new era for education, and the ELRC is to 
be complemented on its role on securing this situation. 

The ELRC has also engaged in an exciting chapter in the 
reconstruction and development of the further education and 
training colleges sector by giving effect to the implementation 
of the FETC Act. The FETC sector faces a number of 
challenges as it attempts to provide vocational education to 
an increasing number of young people who seek to obtain 
the skills necessary for gainful employment in the labour 
market. Foremost amongst these challenges are issues of 
quality, ef� ciency, and relevance. And underlying this is the 
imperative to ensure that our FET colleges are able to attract 
and retain human resources (academic and non-academic 
staff) of the highest calibre. The quality of the FETC sector 
will be determined fundamentally by the quality of its human 
resources.

We therefore similarly commend the ELRC for the work 
it has done to ensure the smooth transfer of educators 

from education departments to FET colleges, without 
compromising their positions or the bene� ts that they enjoyed 
while employed by education departments. 

There is an ongoing need to train of� cials from both the 
Department of Education and the educator trade unions who 
are involved in dispute resolution and prevention on a day-
to-day basis, on core issues such as dispute resolution and 
prevention functions. Flowing from this, dispute resolution 
practitioners from both the DOE and the education trade 
unions were exposed to a high level of accredited training 
prepared by the Commission for Conciliation, Mediation 
and Arbitration (CCMA). The fruits of this intervention will 
materialise over a period of time and will hopefully see a 
more competent process for the prevention and resolving of 
disputes. 

The work of a Bargaining Council is never easy, especially 
in a contested terrain like education. History and context are 
real elements in any substantive discussion in the Council, 
and parties naturally have different perspectives on these. I 
would therefore like to thank the General Secretary, Mr Dhaya 
Govender, and the staff of the Council, for their efforts during 
the course of the year, which in many cases went well beyond 
the call of duty.
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VISION

To strive towards the continuous maintenance and promotion of labour peace, 
accomplished in the spirit of parties to the Council working together and contributing 
towards the transformation and development of a quality South African Public 

Education sector.  

MISSION 

To be the leading provider of quality, effective, ef� cient and non-partisan 
administration and facilitative mechanisms for Labour Peace and for the development 

of a quality South African Public Education sector.

ORGANISATIONAL VALUES 

As an organisation, the ELRC is guided by the following Batho Pele (people � rst) 
principles and values:  

•  We value people that we serve and those with whom we work; 
•   We commit ourselves to be fair, ethical, trustworthy and 
 accountable in all of our work; 
•   We endeavour to be customer-service oriented, striving to meet 
 the needs of our clients;  
•   We aim to work together as a team, encouraging co-operation 
 both from ourselves and others around us;  
•   We strive to achieve and maintain excellence; always meeting 
 the highest standards of performance at all levels of service 
 outputs and professionalism in all of our work; 
•  We strive to promote communication between ourselves and our 
 clients; 
•   We commit to the development and capacity building of our staff 
 through learning and growth;  
•   We encourage innovation as a means to continually address new 
 issues and seek better ways to achieve our goals and 
•  We commit to our work and to the vision and mission of the ELRC.

VISION AND MISSION
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It gives me great pleasure to once again present the Annual Report and 
achievements of the Education Labour Relations Council (ELRC) for the 
� nancial year 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008.

During the period under review, the ELRC ful� lled its mandate to 
continuously promote and maintain labour peace in public education, by 
ensuring that the objectives of the Council were achieved with amongst 
others, the conclusion of numerous collective agreements and by taking 
on almost a thousand referred disputes. 

The Council extended the scope of its constitution to include bargaining and 
dispute resolution for the Further Education and Training (FET) sector. Two 
collective agreements were signed for the FET sector, which promotes the 
fair implementation of the Further Education and Training Colleges (FETC) 
Act of 2006. Both agreements were based on the transfer of employees 
from the Department of Education to FET Colleges.  The agreements 
ensure the protection of the rights of transferred employees.

With regard to Dispute Resolution Services, there was a 62% increase in 
caseload compared to the previous � nancial year. These were related to 
the non-payment of salaries, which were as a result of the strike action of 
public service unions that commenced in June 2007. 

In order to empower dispute resolution practitioners in discharging the roles 
on behalf of their principals, the ELRC ensured that 187 practitioners initially 
enrolled for the Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration 
(CCMA) training course. Fifty percent of the practitioners completed all 
the modules. An additional arbitration module will be catered for in the 
2008/09 � nancial year, to give those participants who were unsuccessful 
an opportunity to complete the training. 

The Council � nalised the agreement that would pave the way for fair 
compensation in the education sector. The framework for an Occupation 
Speci� c Dispensation for educators in public education was signed on 
3 April 2008. The OSD will ensure a fair and equitable remuneration 
structure for educators and is a forward looking plan to systematically 
increase salaries after pre-determined periods based on speci� c criteria 
such as performance, quali� cations and competencies, scope of work and 
experience, thus enhancing the quality of public education. 

In order to strengthen the capacity of teacher unions in addressing HIV/
AIDS, the Council introduced its HIV/AIDS Project for South African 
educators, which involves Prevention, Care and Treatment Access (PCTA). 
The ELRC through its initiation, management and governance, guides 
the project in order to meet the goal of reducing the number of new HIV 
infections amongst educators and their families and mitigate the impact of 
HIV and AIDS on educators and their families.

As the Accounting Of� cer of the ELRC, I am satis� ed with the output 
and delivery of the core business services of the Council. This report 
demonstrates the commitment of the Council to the principles of 
transparency, accountability and service delivery.

PREAMBLE

Mr M Govender
General Secretary
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ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY REPORT

ADOPTION OF THE ELRC ANNUAL REPORT AND THE AUDITED ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 1 APRIL 2007 TO 31 
MARCH 2008

The Accounting Of� cer tabled this report to the Accounting Authority at its Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) held on 14 August 2008.

The AGM took place at

ELRC Building
261 West Avenue
Centurion

At the AGM, the Accounting Authority accepted the report as tabled by the Accounting 
Of� cer.

The Accounting Authority unanimously adopted the report.

The Accounting Authority has perused the Accounting Of� cer’s report and is satis� ed that 
the ELRC has discharged its responsibilities as a bargaining council and met its obligation in 
terms of its constitution and the PFMA. 

Acting Chairperson    Accounting Of� cer
S Sibeko M Govender

A ti Of�Acting Chairperson 
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1. INTRODUCTION

This report highlights key activities of the ELRC for the Financial Year 1 April 2007 to 31 
March 2008.

1.1 The Council

The Education Labour Relations Council (ELRC) derives its authority from the Labour Relations 
Act (LRA) as amended and its constitution and is a registered public entity that complies with the 
Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) of 1999, and Treasury Regulations.

The overriding aim of the ELRC is to provide labour relations services to its key stakeholders, in 
their pursuit of providing quality services in public education.

The core business of the Council is:

 1. To provide an independent and impartial forum for the resolution   
  of disputes in the sector; and
 2. To provide a forum for negotiations and consultations in matters of   
  mutual interest in the sector at both national and provincial levels. 1.2 

Executive Summary

1

Mr M Govender, (GS ELRC) (Right) meets Mr Enver Surty, the Deputy Minister of Education (Left) and Ms 
Penny Vinjevold (DDG FET) (Centre) at the Inauguration of the FETC Employers’ Organisation on 2 Nov 2007
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ELRC Constitution 

One of the signi� cant achievements for the period under review was the extension of the scope of the Council’s 
constitution to include bargaining and dispute resolution for the FET sector. 

1.3 Further Education and Training Sector

During the period under review the ELRC facilitated the implementation of the FETC Act No. 16 of 2006 
which saw two collective agreements being concluded; Collective Agreement No. 4 of 2007, Implementation 
of the Further Education and Training Colleges Act Number 16 of 2006 and Collective Agreement No. 5 of 
2007, Further Agreement on the Transfer of Employees from the Department of Education to Individual FET 
Colleges.

Collective agreement No. 4 of 2007 identi� es the process by which the employment contracts of educators 
currently appointed at Further Education and Training (FET) institutions would be transferred from the State as 
employer to the Council of the College. This agreement binds all employees who are members of trade union 
parties. The agreement contains guidelines to promote the effective, ef� cient and fair implementation of the 
FETC Act of 2006. The ELRC appointed a facilitator in each province to coordinate the transfer of employment 
contracts from the provincial education departments to the colleges. 

Collective agreement No. 5 of 2007 is a further agreement on the transfer of employees from the Department 
of Education to individual FET Colleges. The purpose of the agreement is to ensure that the transfer from the 
old employer (Departments of Education) to the new employer (Colleges) is conducted without disruption to the 
management and lecturing functions of the FET Colleges. It is also to ensure the adequate protection of the 
rights of the transferred employees. The parties agreed that the ELRC would create a bargaining unit for the 
FET sector within the ELRC as a transitional measure to deal with issues of mutual interest.  

The 2nd and 3d November 2007 saw the inauguration of the FETC Employers’ Organisation at the Kopanong 
Conference Centre in Benoni. On day one, a meeting with the Department of Education, presented by Mrs 
Penny Vinjevold (DDG), saw the � nalisation of Collective Agreement No. 5 of 2007 and the FETC Employer’s 
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Organisation Constitution was � nalised. Presented by Mr M Govender and Dr BS Mahlobo, the 
principals were instructed on the roles and responsibilities in governing and managing FET colleges. 
At the end of the evening, provincial breakaway sessions were held to nominate the Executive 
Committee candidates for the FETC Employer’s Organisation. 

The second day saw the adoption of the Constitution of the FETC Employer’s Organisation and the 
FETC Employer’s Organisation was of� cially launched on 3 November 2007 at the afternoon’s gala 
lunch. - A full report is attached under Annexure C

2.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION AND SUPPORT SERVICES

2.1  Dispute Resolution Services
 
This is one of the core functions of the Council, as provided in the Constitution, which sets out the 
objectives of the Council. These are, inter alia, to maintain and promote labour peace and to prevent 
and resolve labour disputes. 

A total of 955 disputes were referred to the ELRC for the 2007/08 � nancial period. This marked an 
increase of 62% in the caseload from the previous � nancial year. This sharp increase in the caseload 
can be attributed to the increase in Basic Condition of Employment Act (BCEA) disputes that were 
referred to the ELRC. The increase in the number of BCEA disputes referred to the ELRC, were mainly 
related to deductions made to the salaries of educators for the period of the strike action during June 
2007. 

FROM LEFT: Mr P Naake (Chairperson - FETC Employer’s Organisation), Mr KC Moodley (CCMA National Senior 
Commissioner ) and Mr  M Marumo (Secretary FETC Employer’s Organisation) 2 Nov 2007
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2.2  Dispute Resolution Services: An update on the Development of Dispute Resolution  
 Practitioners on the CCMA Commissioners’ Accreditation Course

The ELRC provided the training of dispute resolution practitioners from both employer and employee parties 
during the 2006/07 � nancial year. The purpose of the training was to empower Dispute Resolution Practitioners, 
who were involved in dispute resolution and prevention activities, with the relevant knowledge on labour law 
and the practical application thereof. The training would also bene� t the ELRC by increasing ef� ciency in the 
dispute resolution process. A total of 187 of� cials enrolled for the CCMA training course. 

The training of Dispute Resolution Practitioners on the accredited CCMA commissioner modules took place 
in all nine provinces. The training commenced in the second quarter of 2006 and was completed in 2008. 
Approximately 89% of the 135 practitioners who wrote the exam, managed to complete at least three modules 
of the training (Substantive law, Conciliation, Jurisdictional Rulings). Fifty percent of the originally enrolled 
participants managed to complete all the modules. While only 50% of the initial participants managed to be 
exposed to all six modules, a signi� cant number of practitioners were equipped with the basic skill to approach 
labour disputes. This in itself is a great bene� t to both the unions and the employer alike in empowering their 
representatives to be more au fait with the labour law and practical implementation thereof. A total of R 4, 
357 million was budgeted for the project, however, the actual expenditure for the project amounted to R2, 
904,443. 

It is envisaged that an additional arbitration module will be catered for in the 2008/09 � nancial year to give 
those participants who were unsuccessful, an opportunity to complete the training in its entirety. - A full report 
is attached under Annexure A

The breakdown of disputes referred to the Council related to:

 BCEA           40%
 Promotions and/or appointments      26%
 Other Unfair Labour Practices     18%
 Unfair Dismissal Disputes      10%
 Interpretation and Application of Collective Agreements Disputes 5%
 FET Disputes       1%

The caseload breakdown per province was as follows:

 KwaZulu-Natal       15%
 Western Cape       10%
 Gauteng        39%
 Limpopo        13%
 Eastern Cape       6%
 Free State       6%
 North West       5%
 Mpumalanga       4%
 Northern Cape       1%
 National (Department of Education)     1%
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3.  NEGOTIATION 
 SUPPORT SERVICES

The ELRC facilitates negotiations at both national and provincial level in accordance 
with its vision to promote labour peace within the public education sector.

3.1  National

The period under review was characterised by a substantial increase in activities, 
in comparison to the previous year, resulting in a signi� cant increase in the rate of 
achievement. A total of 6 collective agreements were concluded namely:

Collective Agreements concluded in the period under review
•   Collective Agreement No. 2 of 2007: Shop Stewards in Education
•   Collective Agreement No. 3 of 2007: The Levy Agreement addressed 
 the � nancial crisis that confronted the Council and subsequently 
 contributed to the Council’s objectives of promoting and maintaining 
 labour peace within public education through dispute prevention and 
 resolution. The parties to Council all agreed in principle to increase 
 the levy from R1.50 to R5 on either side. This levy increase came into 
 effect in August 2007.
•   Collective Agreement No. 4 and 5 of 2007. The ELRC continued to 
 play a crucial role in the improvement of quality public education by 
 contributing towards government’s broader objectives of skills 
 development (ASGISA JIPSA), by successfully facilitating the 
 implementation of the Further Education and Training Colleges Act, 
 No. 16 of 2006. The resolutions that were concluded to give way to this 
 process subsequently necessitated the amendment of the ELRC 
 Constitution to extend the scope so as to cater for the educators in the 
 sector. - A full report is attached under Annexure C

5

Delegates sign Collective Agreement No 
5 of 2007 on 2 November 2007 at the 
Inauguration of the FETC Employers’ 
Organisation
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Collective Agreements concluded and signed in new � nancial year
•   Collective Agreement No. 1 and 2 of 2008: Parties to Council concluded 
 negotiations for the framework for Occupation Speci� c Dispensation (OSD) for 
 educators in the period under review. The Agreements were however only signed 
 on the 3rd April 2008. - A full report is attached under Annexure B

Draft Collective Agreements
•   Draft Collective Agreement: FETC Bargaining Unit
•   Draft Collective Agreement: Amendments to tariffs and other conditions of service 
 regarding persons who perform duties in respect of public examinations.

3.2  Provincial

Three provincial agreements were rati� ed.

3.2.1  KwaZulu-Natal Chamber
•   Collective Agreement No. 2 of 2007 addressed Post Provisioning Norms.
•   Collective Agreement No. 3 of 2007 dealt with Surplus Educators. 

3.2.2  Limpopo Chamber
•   Implementation of Collective Agreement No. 1 of 2007: The permanent 
 appointment of temporary educators at Further Education and Training Colleges 
 (FETC), which resulted in 262 FET college lecturers being declared permanent.

6 EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL

FROM LEFT: Mr K Pieterse (CTU - SAOU), Mr F Patel (DDG DoE), Mr T Ntola (CTU - SADTU) and Mr 
Thulas Nxesi (CTU - SADTU) at the conclusion of Collective Agreement 1 and 2 of 2008 on 2 April 2008
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5thAfrican Regional Congress

26 - 28March 2008

Hosted by

Cape Town - SouthAfrica

International Industrial

RelationsAssociation

Proud Sponsors

4.  SUPPORT SERVICES

4.1 IRasa Conference

The Industrial Relations Association of South Africa (IRasa) and the Congress Organising Committee 
hosted the 5th African Regional Congress of the International Industrial Relations Association (IIRA). 
The Congress commenced on 26 March and ended on 28 March 2008. The opening session of the 
symposium was held at the University of Cape Town’s Graduate School of Business. The ELRC 
was well represented at the Congress. The Communication, Information, Reporting and Accounting 
(CIRA) Services Department contributed to the success of the  conference by branding the entire 
conference and taking responsibility for the layout and design of all pamphlets, notices, brochures 
and banners. 

The CIRA Services Department branded the entire 5th African Regional Congress and took 
responsibility for the layout and design of pamphlets, notices, brochures and banners. 
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The theme of the Congress was: Realising Decent Work in Africa: a Shared Vision 
of Growth and Improved Quality of Life in a Globalising World. Some of the main 
issues discussed were: securing improved quality of work and life; combating 
discrimination and child labour; enhancing social dialogue and democratic 
governance in the workplace; skills development and the building of ef� cient 
labour market institutions to ensure the monitoring and effective implementation 
of policies. The congress consisted of plenary and workshop sessions and a 
special workshop on the public sector convened, as the Public Sector in Africa is 
particularly important for the realisation of the Decent Work in Africa Agenda. 

The ELRC provided administrative support at the congress and sponsored printing 
and registration for some delegates, which amounted to R10 000. 

4.2  ELRC – HIV/AIDS Intervention programme

The ELRC commissioned the Human Science Research Council (HSRC) to 
undertake the � rst-ever comprehensive study on Supply and Demand, of which 
one of the components was the Impact of HIV/AIDS on educators in South Africa, 
in 2003. Based on the � ndings of this Report, the Prevention, Care and Treatment 
Access Project (PCTA) was initiated in the three South African provinces most 
impacted by HIV and AIDS, namely: The project provided the � rst comprehensive 
effort to deliver HIV/AIDS programming dedicated exclusively to educators living 
with and affected by HIV/AIDS.  Through this effort, levels of union capacity have 
begun to evolve to a higher level and many valuable lessons have been learned.  
Building on the lessons learned, and in an effort to ensure indigenous ownership 

FROM LEFT: Mr M Govender (GS, ELRC) and Ms. Jeanine Collins (Labour Of� cer - US 
Embassy) at the of� cial launch of the ELRC – HIV/AIDS Intervention programme
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and leadership of the efforts, the ELRC through its HIV/AIDS Intervention Programme,stepped forward 
to implement the next phase of the PCTA project nationwide, with the AFT and AED offering ongoing 
technical assistance.

The goal for Phase II of the PCTA project is to reduce the number of new HIV infections among 
educators and their families and mitigate the impact of HIV and AIDS on educators and their families 
by expanding access to Voluntary Counselling and Testing (VCT), Anti-Retroviral Therapy (ART), and 
care and support for those living with and affected by HIV/AIDS.   While the goal of this workplace 
project is directly related to the impact of HIV/AIDS among educators and their families, the ELRC 
believes a critical secondary outcome of this project is improving the education sector’s capacity to 
ensure effective HIV prevention, care, and support programmes for learners as well.

  

A full report is attached under Annexure D

 ACHIEVEMENTS

 • Other prevention: A total of 353 educators were reached in community based    
  outreach by unions in two provinces on World AIDS Day to promote prevention    
  beyond abstinence and being faithful. 

 • Counselling and Testing: The ELRC-PCTA successfully conducted the Training of   
  Trainers training for 52 (15 male and 37 female) master trainers across all the union   
  partners on counselling and testing.  AED and Tshepang Trust conducted the    
  training. 

 • Policy Analysis and System Strengthening:  The ELRC-PCTA project held a Grant 
  Compliance and Finance Administration workshop for 16 (10 female and 6 
  males) from union partners. In addition 20 master trainers from all union partners 
  were trained on workplace policies to counter HIV/AIDS induced stigma. The same 
  master trainers received an introductory course in monitoring and evaluation and a 
  follow-up refresher course four weeks later. 
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5.  FINANCIAL AND MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTABILITY

The ELRC in complying with the PFMA, Treasury Regulations and other Treasury prescripts, 
is audited by the Auditor-General. The ELRC’s � nancial and management reporting is in 
accordance with Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP). 

The Auditor-General performs a total audit, including a review of the performance information 
of the Council. The Audit Committee, an independent committee appointed by the Council, 
draws its authority from the Audit Committee Charter. It ensures � nancial and management 
compliance and accountability. 

The Accounting Of� cer and the Chief Financial Of� cer of the ELRC presented the Council’s 
Annual Report to the Education Portfolio Committee of the National Assembly in Parliament in 
October 2007, and its Three-Year Strategic Plan in May 2008. 

The sole source of income of the Council is the levy collected from the employer and employees 
(equal amounts on both sides). The parties to the ELRC all agreed, in principle to increase the 
levy from R1.50 to R5 on either side. This levy increase came into effect in August 2007.

Once again, Parliament was satis� ed with the excellent planning and reporting of the ELRC 
and its contributions to public education in South Africa in particular and Africa in general.
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1.1 SUBMISSION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT TO THE   
 EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY

 To the Minister of Education, the Hon Mrs Naledi Pandor, MP

 I have pleasure in presenting this report on the work of the Education Labour   
 Relations Council (ELRC) for the Financial Year ended 31 March 2008.

 

 Mr M Govender
 ACCOUNTING OFFICER
 General Secretary
 Education Labour Relations Council (ELRC)

Compliance Report

11

SEC
TIO

N
 A

An intense session during the OSD Negotiations. 
CLOCKWISE FROM LEFT: Department of Education, CTU - SADTU and CTU - SAOU
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1.2 APPLICABLE LEGISLATION

A number of policies have been implemented and legislation promulgated to create a framework 
for the transformation of education. Key legislation directing the ELRC in its core business 
include:

•   Labour Relations Act 66 of 1995;
•   Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999;
•   Promotion of Access to Information Act 54 of 2002; 
•   Employment of Educators Act 76 of 1998 (Prior to amendment by Act 57 of 2001); and
•   Further Education and Training Colleges Act 16 of 2006

Supporting legislation assisting the ELRC in its employer/business role:
•   Basic Conditions of Employment Act 75 of 1997;
•   Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998;
•   Skills Development Act 97 of 1998; and other legislation

1.3 LITIGATION AND APPEALS 

The nature of the business of the ELRC, like the CCMA, is such that some arbitration awards 
made by the Council are taken on review by the Labour Court. During the period under review, 
the total number of reviews decreased from 58 to 17.

The ELRC is always cited as the FIRST RESPONDENT. The ELRC as a matter of course does 
not oppose these review applications unless our conduct is questioned. None were opposed by 
the ELRC.

1.4 OVERSEAS TRIPS
 
No overseas trips were undertaken in the period under review. 

1.5 ACCOUNTING OFFICER’S REPORT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

The Accounting Of� cer’s report forms part of the audited Annual Financial Statements of the  
ELRC for the year ended 31 March 2008 
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1.5.1 Principal Activities of the ELRC

The primary business of the Council is to promote the maintenance of labour peace in the public education 
sector through the provision of dispute resolution (and prevention) services. To this end, the grievances 
and disputes of educators and of� cials are resolved through conciliation and / or arbitration. 

The secondary business of the Council is to promote the maintenance of labour peace in the public 
education sector through the provision of consultation and negotiations between trade unions and the 
state as the employer, as represented by the Department of Education.

  1.5.2 Organisational Structure: 
   Senior Management

Mahalingum Govender 
General Secretary

Matome Moshakga 
Chief Financial Of� cer

Vacant Post - Ravi Naidoo
Acting as Managing 
Senior Commissioner 
Dispute Prevention and 
Resolution Services on 
� xed term contract

Nolusindiso Foca
Senior Manager

Negotiations Support 
Services

Loganayagie Padayachee 
Senior Manager

Corporate Services

Gustav Worst 
Manager Communication, Information, 
Reporting and Accounting Services

Jonathan Loff  
Human Resources Manager
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THE COUNCIL CONSISTS OF:

EMPLOYER
 
Representing the state as an employer is the collective made up of the Provincial Departments of 
Education co-ordinated by the National Department of Education.
 

TRADE UNIONS
 
CTU-SADTU
South Africa Democratic Teachers Union (SADTU)
Cape Teacher’s Professional Association (CTPA)

CTU-SAOU
National Professional Teachers Organisation of South Africa (NAPTOSA)
Suid-Afrikaanse Onderwysersunie (SAOU)
National Teachers Union (NATU)
Professional Educators Union (PEU)
Public Servants Association (PSA)
Health and Other Service Personnel Trade Union Of South Africa (HOSPERSA)
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PROGRAMME 1:  Dispute Resolution and Support Services  16

PROGRAMME 2:  Dispute Prevention Support Services  26

PROGRAMME 3:  Negotiations Support Services   28

PROGRAMME 4:  Executive Services    64

PROGRAMME 5:  Corporate Services    90

Performance Report

SEC
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FROM LEFT: Dr B Mahlobo (Chief Director FET Colleges), Ms Penny Vinjevold (DDG FET) and Mr M Govender, 
(GS ELRC) at the Inauguration of the FETC Employers’ Organisation on 2 Nov 2007



16 EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL

PROGRAMME 1 
 DISPUTE RESOLUTION AND SUPPORT SERVICES

PROGRAMME 1.1:  DISPUTE RESOLUTION SERVICES 

A Total of 955 disputes were referred to the ELRC for the 2007/2008 � nancial year. This marked 
an increase of 62% in the caseload from the previous � nancial year. This sharp increase in the 
caseload can be attributed to the increase in BCEA (Basic Condition of Employment Act) disputes 
that were referred to the ELRC during the current � nancial year. The increase in the number of 
BCEA disputes referred to the ELRC during the current � nancial year mainly related to the non-
payment of salary, most of which can be attributed to the deductions made to the salaries of 
educators for the period of the strike action during June 2007.
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REFERRALS BY PROVINCE
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DISPUTE REFERRALS BY PROVINCE

The province with the highest number of disputes for the � nancial year under review was Gauteng. 
The high referral rate for the Gauteng Province can be largely attributed to some 300 BCEA disputes, 
emanating from deductions to educators salaries during the period of the strike action. In previous 
years the trend would be that Kwazulu-Natal would be the highest referring province, followed by the 
Western Cape. In this instance 80 referrals were received from Limpopo Province dealing with the non-
appointment of circuit managers, which caused the referral rate in the Limpopo Province to be skewed 
away from the norm of 10%, resulting in Limpopo having a higher referral rate than Western Cape as 
compared to previous years. (This can also be viewed as an exception to the trend that has prevailed 
over the years).
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Western Cape contributed to 10% of disputes referred, 
whilst both Free State and Eastern Cape accounted 
equally for 12 % of the total disputes referred. North 
West Province and Mpumalanga accounted for 5% 
and 4% of referred disputes respectively. 

The lowest referring was the Northern Cape and 
disputes lodged against the National Department 
of Education which accounted for 1% each of the 
total caseload respectively, down from 2% and 1% 
compared to the previous � nancial year.

REFERRALS BY PROVINCE �PERCENTAGE�
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If the 300 BCEA disputes declared in the Gauteng 
Province were to be excluded, the actual increase in the 
total disputes referred would then only amount to 11% 
rather than 62%. Kwazulu Natal would be the highest 
referring province as per the norm with a referral rate 

of 21% (down 1% from the previous � nancial year), 
followed by Limpopo and Western Cape with a referral 
rate of 18% and 15% respectively. Gauteng would then 
drop to a dispute referral rate of 11%, which would be 
within the norm over the previous years.

REFERRALS BY PROVINCE �EXCLUDING BCEA REFERRALS IN GAUTENG�

19ANNUAL REPORT 2007/08
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REFERRALS BY ISSUE IN DISPUTE

BCEA disputes were the majority  (40%) of disputes 
referred to the ELRC during the � nancial year under 
review. This however, is an exception to the norm over 
the years and as mentioned previously can be attributed 
to disputes regarding the non-payment of salary which 
emanated as a result of deductions made from certain 
educators salaries for the period of the strike action 
during 2007. Ordinarily BCEA disputes would occupy 
a very low percentage of the referrals to the ELRC. 
A total of 44% of disputes referred related to Unfair 
Labour Practices. Of these 26% related to issues of 
Promotion and Appointments and 18% related other 
Unfair Labour Practices (Provision of Bene� ts, Unfair 
disciplinary Action etc). Unfair Dismissal disputes 
accounted for 10% of the total disputes referred, whilst 
disputes relating to Interpretation and Application of 
Collective Agreements and FET disputes accounted 
for 5% and 1% respectively of all disputes referred.

BCEA
40%

PROMOTION & 
APPOINTMENT

26%

OTHER ULP's
18%

UD
10%

COLLECTIVE 
AGREMENT

5%

FET
1%

REFERRALS BY ISSUE IN DISPUTE
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IN PROCESS
46%

AWARD RENDERED
5% WITHDRAWN
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10%

DISMISSED
1%

SETTLED
35%

SETTLED

DISMISSED

OUT OF JURISDICTION

WITHDRAWN

AWARD RENDERED

IN PROCESS

Of the total number of disputes that were referred to the ELRC, 35% 
were settled, 10% were found to be non-jurisdictional, 5% had an award 
rendered, 3% of the disputes were withdrawn and 1% of the disputes 
were dismissed. Forty six percent of disputes were still work in progress 
awaiting � nalisation.

DISPUTES BY STATUS

DISPUTES BY STATUS
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For the current � nancial year a total of 18 awards were taken on review at 
the Labour Court. This is a considerable decline from the 58 awards that 
were taken on review in the previous � nancial year. The steady decline in 
awards being taken on review could possibly be attributed to the quality 
control measures, which the ELRC has instituted in dealing with awards. 
Another contributing factor could possibly be the empowering of Panelists 
on recent case law via the ELRC Labour Bulletin. The ELRC has plans to 
institute Professional Development Workshops for Panelists at least twice 
a year with the objective of re� ning the knowledge and professional skill of 
Panelists. The intention thereof is to further improve the quality of awards 
that are submitted by Panelists and to ensure a reduced rate of awards 
being taken on review.

REVIEWS:

AWARDS TAKEN ON REVIEW
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Free State had the highest review rate contributing to 22% of the total awards taken 
on review. This was followed by Western Cape, Northern Cape, Gauteng, Limpopo 
and North West, which accounted for 11% each of the total awards taken on review. 
Mpumalanga and Kwazulu-Natal each accounted for 6% of the total awards taken on 
review.

NW
11% WC

11%

KZN
6%

NC
11%

GP
11%

MP
6%LP

11%
EC
11%

FS
22%

GP

NC

KZN

FS

WC

NW

EC

LP

MP

AWARDS TAKEN ON REVIEW



24 EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL

COURSE FS NW GP KZN LP NC WE EC MP TOTAL

Substantive Law 19 21 23 37 24 12 21 7 23 187

Conciliation 16 20 20 37 20 12 18 24 22 189

Jurisdictional Rulings 16 18 20 37 21 9 18 15 14 168

Managing Dismissals 11 16 19 21 12 5  8  92

Arbitration 1 5 12 16 28 9  13   83

Arbitration 2 8 12 16 23 6  7 18  90

CCMA TRAINING

PROGRAMME 1.2:  
 TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT 

A total of 187 dispute resolution practitioners 
were initially enrolled to complete the six 
modules of the CCMA training. Approximately 
89% of the practitioners managed to complete at 
least three modules of the training (Substantive 
law, Conciliation, Jurisdictional Rulings). Fifty 
percent of the originally enrolled participants 
managed to complete all the modules. 

For the Arbitration modules, Mpumalanga 
and Limpopo were combined, as well as the 
Northern Cape and Free State were combined 
due to the decline in the number of participants 
in those provinces. 

The intention of exposing the participants to the 
CCMA training was to give them a grounding 
and insight into the substantive area of Labour 
Law as well as to equip them with a practical 
approach to conciliation and arbitration. While 
only 50% of the initial participants managed 
to be exposed to all six modules, a signi� cant 
number of practitioners were equipped with 
the basic skill to approach labour disputes. 
This in itself is a great bene� t to both the 
unions and the employer alike in empowering 
their representatives to be more au fait with 
the labour law and practical implementation 
thereof. 

A full report is attached under Annexure A



25ANNUAL REPORT 2007/08

Vacant
Registrar 

Dispute Prevention and Resolution Services

Vacant Post - Ravi Naidoo
Acting as Managing 
Senior Commissioner 
Dispute Prevention and 
Resolution Services on 
� xed term contract

Sizwe Skweyiya 
Case Management 

Of� cer

Brenda Nkosi
Case Management 

Of� cer

Eleisha Naidoo
Case Management Administrator

DISPUTE PREVENTION AND RESOLUTION SERVICES



26 EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL

PROGRAMME 2 
 DISPUTE PREVENTION SUPPORT SERVICES

INTRODUCTION 

In order for the ELRC to formally provide for and discharge dispute prevention support services in public 
education, Collective Agreement No. 2 of 2007 – Shop Stewards in Education – was signed on 31 July 
2007. The purpose of this agreement is to enable the Council to deliver dispute prevention support 
services in public education, and the appointment of trade union of� cials to facilitate negotiations, 
consultations, dispute resolution and dispute prevention.

Developing capacity among trade union of� cials in order to engage effectively in the applicable labour 
relations structures, procedures and processes and the effective utilisation of Shop Stewards in 
Education, will lead to the non-disruption of the teaching and learning environment.

The effective representation of members belonging to the trade unions in accordance with the applicable 
legislation and procedures will thus greatly enhance labour relations in the public education sector.  This 
will be to the bene� t of all concerned: the employer, educators and learners.
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ALLOCATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF SHOP STEWARDS

As stipulated in Clause 3.3.3 of the Agreement, the distribution of shop stewards shall take into 
cognisance the size of the province and the vote weights of the admitted trade unions in that province. 
The determination for the succeeding years shall be based on the vote weights calculated as at the 
30th September of the preceding year, and shall be valid for the period 1 January to 31 December of 
each calendar year (no change in allocations during the course of the year).

FUNDING

Payment provisions were made in the annual � nancial statements for full time shop stewards.  The 
payment calculations for the number of shop stewards per province were determined as per Section 
9 of the agreement. 

According to Section 9 of the Agreement, the ELRC funds the provisioning of the shop stewards as 
follows:
(a) The amount budgeted for the Shop Stewards (SS) shall be divided by the total number of 
 SSs (120), to determine the cost of one SS per annum.

(b) The provincial department would receive payment, in arrears, for SSs as calculated above, 
 on a 6 monthly basis during November and May of each year.

For expenditure please refer to Annual Financial Statements

OBJECTIVE

To facilitate and provide a non-partisan forum for the prevention and resolution of disputes.
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PROGRAMME 3 
 NEGOTIATIONS 
 SUPPORT SERVICES

PROGRAMME 3.1:  
 NEGOTIATIONS SUPPORT SERVICES �NATIONAL�

The period under review has been characterised by substantial increase in activities in comparison 
to the previous year, resulting in a signi� cant increase in the rate of productivity. Of note, a total 
of six collective agreements were adopted and three provincial agreements were rati� ed. Despite 
the industrial action and the budgetary constraints that affected the activities of the Council for a 
greater part of the year, parties continuously showed their commitment to improve the quality of 
public education by ensuring that the fewer resources that were at their disposal were utilised with 
great ef� ciency to ensure productivity.
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To list but a few of the signi� cant achievements for the period under review;

• 

•   

•   

  

The adoption of Collective Agreement No. 3 of 2007: Levy Agreement, 
addressed the � nancial crisis that confronted the Council and 
subsequently contributed to Council’s objectives of promoting and 
maintaining labour peace within public education through disputes 
prevention and resolution; as the greater percentage of the funds 
would be utilised to fund Shop Stewards in Education (Collective 
Agreement No. 2 of 2007).

The ELRC continued to play a crucial role towards the improvement of 
quality public education by contributing towards government’s broader 
objectives of skills development (ASGISA JIPSA), by successful 
facilitating the implementation of the Further Education and Training 
Colleges Act, 16 of 2006. The resolutions that were concluded to give 
way to this process subsequently necessitated the amendment of the 
ELRC Constitution to extend the scope so as to cater for the educators 
in the sector. (Collective Agreements No. 4 and 5 of 2007).  

- A full report is attached under Annexure C.

Collective Agreements No.1 and 2 of 2008: Parties to Council 
concluded negotiations for the Occupation Speci� c Dispensation for 
educators after nine months of intense negotiations. 

- A full report is attached under Annexure B

30

The Minister of Education, the Hon 
Mrs Naledi Pandor (Right), signs 
Collective Agreement No. 1 of 
2008 on 3 April 2008. Left: Deputy 
Minister of Education, Mr Enver 
Surty
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Post Provisioning Norms 
(MTEF)
To arrange a national 
workshop on the Post 
Provisioning Norms 

Consensus reached in 
chamber

June 2007 Not Achieved
Due to Public Sector 
industrial action

Task Team reports
To receive reports from task 
teams for submission to the 
Council

Secretariat convenes 
meetings of task teams and 
prepare reports

June 2007 Not Achieved
Due to Public Sector 
industrial action

Communication to 
ELRC stakeholders (The 
Negotiator Publication)
To ensure that stakeholders 
are kept up to date on 
negotiation matters

The newsletter published 
and distributed to all 
stakeholders

April 2007 – 
March 2008 

Achieved

FETC Act
To facilitate the 
implementation of the FETC 
Act of 2006

Facilitation meetings 
convened both nationally 
and provincially

June – 
November 2007

 Achieved

Annual Reports
To receive reports of 
committees, other structures 
and task teams of Council

The Annual Report adopted 
by the AGM

July 2007 Achieved

PERFORMANCE

Performance at a provincial level has declined as opposed to the 
previous � nancial year, out of nine provincial chambers; only one 
province concluded collective agreements.
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Collective Bargaining 
To identify items of mutual 
interest that require 
negotiation or consultation

Issues placed on agenda 
of Council and negotiations 
take place, collective 
agreements concluded

September 
2007

Achieved
Collective • 
Agreement No. 
2 of 2007: Shop 
Stewards in 
Education
Collective • 
Agreement No. 
3 of 2007: Levy 
Agreement
Collective • 
Agreement 
No. 4 of 2007: 
Implementation 
of the FETC Act 
of 2006
Collective • 
Agreement No. 5 
of 2007: Further 
Agreement on 
the transfer of 
employees from 
the Department 
of Education to 
individual FET 
Colleges
Draft Collective • 
agreement on 
Occupational 
Speci� c 
Dispensation 
for educators
Collective • 
Agreement No. 
6 of 2007: FETC 
Bargaining Unit
Collective • 
Agreement 
No. 7 of 2007: 
Amendments to 
tariffs and other 
conditions of 
service regarding 
persons who 
perform duties in 
respect of public 
examinations
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Rati� cation of Agreements 
To recommend chamber 
agreements for rati� cation

Agreements rati� ed by 
Council

As presented 
by the 
chambers

Achieved
Collective • 
Agreement No. 
1, 2 & 3 of 2007 
of KwaZulu-Natal
Distribution of 1. 
Early Childhood 
Development 
(ECD) posts for 
2007
Multi- term 2. 
agreement in 
the staf� ng of 
schools under 
the control of the 
KwaZulu-Natal 
Department of 
Education
Placement 3. 
of educators 
declare as 
additional to 
the school’s 
establishment in 
2007 but who are 
not yet placed

Post Provisioning Norms 
(MTEF)
To arrange a national 
workshop on the Post 
Provisioning Norms (PPN)

Presentations done by 
provincial departments,
Information sharing

September 
2007

Not Achieved
Workshop was postponed 
due to budgetary 
constraints

ELRC research reports 
workshops
To arrange a national 
workshop on all ELRC 
research reports

Research workshop 
convened

July 2007 Achieved

Panellists for Conciliation
To review the existing panel 
and enter into new contracts 
with the panellists

Collective Agreement on 
appointment of panellists 
here applicable.  Collective 
Agreement rati� ed at 
Council

November 2007 Not Achieved
Matter to be � nalised in 
the next � nancial year

Vote Weights
To establish the vote 
entitlement of parties and 
representation in committees

Agreement signed in 
Council

January 2008 Not Achieved
Matter will be � nalised in 
the next quarter

IRASA Annual Conference
To attend the IRASA Annual 
Conference

Delegates to attend the 
IRASA Annual Conference

March 2008 Achieved
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ADDITIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Occupational Speci� c 
Dispensation (OSD)
To introduce an occupational 
speci� c dispensation for 
educators

To reach agreement on 
the framework for the 
establishment of OSD

Employer tabled a draft 
collective agreement

Agreement on the 
framework reached

September 
2007

March 2008

Not Achieved

Achieved

Amendments to the ELRC 
Constitution (FETC)
To facilitate meetings to 
amend the ELRC Constitution 
regarding the inclusion of the 
FETC sector

Amendments adopted by 
Council

January 2008 Achieved
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PROGRAMME 3.2 
 NEGOTIATION SUPPORT SERVICES �PROVINCIAL�

The Eastern Cape Chamber’s performance for the period under review further declined owing to the non-
sitting of Chamber meetings and eventually sub-committee meetings. Parties agreed that lessons drawn 
from experience were indications that the Chamber could not just move on, but that a process of revival that 
would seek to redirect Parties to the legal and Constitutional mandate of the Chamber was necessary. 

Parties solicited the intervention of the General Secretary of the ELRC, which culminated in a relationship 
building exercise, led by a facilitator appointed by the ELRC. It was hoped that the process would have 
been concluded by the beginning of the fourth quarter. Subsequent to this, Parties agreed to put on hold all 
Chamber and sub-committee meetings to address issues of commitment to Chamber and its constitutional 
mandate as a matter of priority. Chamber activity remained limited to STANCO, which facilitated the process 
of rolling out a relationship building exercise. The process has taken longer than all parties anticipated. 
However, it is now hoped that the process would be concluded by the end of April 2008 to signal a fresh start 
in the coming � nancial year. 

Due to the challenges sketched above, most Chamber objectives as re� ected in the Council strategic and 
operational plans, could not be achieved. One MTEF PPN Consultation meeting was convened in which 
Parties could not agree. 

Parties are now, eagerly looking forward to the facilitation process to bring together all role players in 
rede� ning and recommitting them to the legal mandate of the Provincial Chamber.  

3.2.1 EASTERN CAPE
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Post Provisioning Norms & 
Medium Term Expenditure 
Framework (MTEF):
To provide a forum for 
consultations on the 
distribution of posts created

Consultation meetings/
workshops

Consultation concluded

New staff establishments

September 
2007

Not achieved
One Consultation meeting 
was held. Parties could 
not reach an agreement

Collective Agreements:
To monitor implementation 
of PELRC, ELRC Collective 
agreements and PSCBC 
Resolutions.

Reports submitted to 
Chamber 

September 
2007

Not achieved
Chamber meetings were 
put on hold to allow the 
Relationship Building 
Process (RBP) to prepare 
ground for effective 
Chamber operations 

Dispute Prevention
To monitor the handling of 
grievances 

Meetings

Receive information from 
the Employer

September 
2007

Not achieved
All sub-committee 
meetings were put on 
hold until such time the 
relationship building 
process addresses key 
issues that handicap 
Chamber functionality 

IQMS
To monitor the implementation 
of development programmes

Reports submitted to the 
Chamber

All quarters Not achieved
All sub-committee and 
Chamber meetings were 
put on hold until such time 
the relationship building 
process addresses key 
issues that handicap 
Chamber functionality

Skills Development Plan
To provide a forum for 
consultation on Skills 
Development Plan

Reports submitted to the 
Chamber

All quarters Not achieved
All sub-committee and 
Chamber meetings were 
put on hold until such time 
the relationship building 
process addresses key 
issues that handicap 
Chamber functionality

ADDITIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Revitalisation of Chamber 
To monitor the roll out of the 
facilitation process

Minutes of meetings January 2008 Achieved

Executive Management of 
Chamber through STANCO 
To ensure that the bridge 
building exercise led by the 
facilitator takes place

Execution of STANCO 
decisions

Ongoing Achieved
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During the period under review, parties did not conclude any collective agreement but reached a mutual 
understanding on several issues that were tabled; hence about 80% of the overall objectives re� ected in the 
Chamber operational plan had been achieved.
  
At the beginning of this � nancial year, activities had to be suspended due to the strike action, as a result 
consultation and negotiation processes could not yield positive results. 

The Employer recorded signi� cant progress with the implementation of � ve national agreements, namely, 
Collective Agreement No. 8 of 2003, Collective Agreements No. 4 and No. 5 of 2005, Collective Agreement 
No. 3 of 2006 and Collective Agreement No. 5 of 2006.  Implementation of accelerated progression had 
been � nalized except for few of� cials who have been identi� ed as having not submitted IQMS scores, but 
Employer and Trade Unions made a commitment to follow up such cases. The school grading norms has 
been successfully been completed.

The major challenge faced by the Chamber was the implementation of the 2nd and 3rd phase conversion 
of temporary educators into permanent appointment. There were con� icting views on the conversion of 
educators. One view was that some of the educators were not convertible since they had already exited the 

3.2.2 FREE STATE
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system. Another view was that these educators also quali� ed in terms of the Chamber’s interpretation and 
understanding on the de� nition of the 2nd phase conversion.   
 
However, intervention strategies had been put in place to ensure that individual cases in respect of educators 
who exited the system, as well as those who were convertible but had outstanding appointment letters, could 
be dealt with to conclude the process.

The MTEF consultation process commenced late in September and was concluded in November 2007. After 
the � rst consultation, Labour discovered discrepancies in the post establishment and the Employer agreed 
to rectify and update the information, and also made a commitment to ensure that people who would be 
negatively affected by the system would get recourse. The statistical overview showed a constant decline in 
learner numbers in the province, which could be attributed to various socio-economic factors. The educator: 
learner ratio remained at 1:29. Further consultation on the identi� cation process and placement of educators 
additional to the staff establishment, was adequately dealt with. 

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

National Collective 
Agreements (CAs)
CA 8 of 2003
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of Collective 
Agreement 8 of 2003.

CA 4 & 5 of 2005
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of Collective 
Agreements 4 & 5 of 2005 on 
the IQMS for FET Therapists 
and Psychologists.

CA 3 of 2006
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of Collective 
Agreement 3 of 2006 on 
school grading norms.
CA 5 of 2006
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of Collective 
Agreement 5 of 2006 on 
improved career pathing for 
quali� ed PL 1 educators and 
accelerated progression for all 
educators on applicable salary 
levels

Reports on implementation 
endorsed by the Chamber

Reports on implementation 
endorsed by the Chamber.

 
Reports on implementation 
endorsed by the Chamber

Reports on implementation 
endorsed by the Chamber

June – 
September 
2007

June – 
September 
2007

December 2007

 December 
2007

 Achieved

 
Achieved

Achieved

 Achieved
 

Safety of Educators
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of safety 
policy for educators at schools

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber

March 2008 Not achieved
Chamber has established 
a task team to develop a 
policy on safety in schools
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Post provisioning norms 
(MTEF)
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the post 
provisioning norms and 
creation of educator posts

Consultative meeting held September - 
December 2007

Achieved 

Employment Equity Plan
To monitor the implementation 
of Employment Equity Plan

Reports on implementation 
of equity plan endorsed by 
the Chamber

March 2008 Achieved

Skills development plan
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the skills 
development plan

Skills development reports 
endorsed by the Chamber

December 2007 
- March 2008

Achieved

Further Education and 
Training Institutions 
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the staff 
provisioning for FET or on 
matters pertaining to FET

Consultation concluded and 
reports endorsed by the 
Chamber 

March 2008 Achieved 

Advertising and � lling of 
posts 
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the � lling of 
posts.

Consultation on the 
management plan 
concluded. Progress reports 
endorsed by the Chamber

December 2007 Achieved

ADDITIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Conversion of Temporary 
Educators
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the permanent 
appointment of temporary 
educators in terms of the 2nd & 
3rd phase of conversion

Consultation concluded
 
Reports on implementation 
endorsed by Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved

Placement of excess 
educators 
To place educators who are 
additional to the establishment

Consultation concluded

Report tabled at the 
Chamber 

March 2008 Achieved 
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During the period under review, the Chamber worked hard to achieve the strategic objectives of its operational 
plan.  Negotiations and consultations were supported by the functioning and interaction within some task 
teams.

Noticeable events took place during this period, including the historic industrial action within the public sector.  
This resulted in the Chamber not engaging in negotiations during the � rst quarter.  

The Chamber has successfully completed cross-boarder transfers and 1725 temporary educators quali� ed 
for absorption.  

The Chamber also endorsed a circular in respect of training of educators in preparation for the implementation 
of the National Curriculum Statement (NCS) in 2008.  The target audience for this training include GET NCS 
(grades 4 –9); FET NCS (grades 10 – 12) and Foundation Phase NCS (grades R – 3).  

The Chamber takes cognisance of the shortcomings, challenges and even non-achievement in certain areas.  
The postponements and cancellation of certain meetings remains a challenge as most objectives are either 
achieved beyond the target dates as stipulated in the operational plan or not achieved at all.

The Chamber remains positive that it will be able to resolve these matters in the next � nancial year. 

3.2.3    GAUTENG
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE RESULT 

Adult Basic Education and 
Training (ABET) 
To provide a forum for 
consultation to address the 
conditions of employment for 
ABET educators

Progress reports on the 
new payment procedure 
endorsed by the Chamber 

June 2007 Achieved

Collective Agreements 
To facilitate the effective and 
ef� cient implementation of 
collective agreements

Reports tabled and 
resolutions signed 

September 
2007 

Not Achieved

Employment Equity 
To monitor the implementation 
of the employment equity 
targets for the GDE

Progress reports tabled in 
the Chamber  

June 2007 Not Achieved
Scheduled meetings 
were postponed.  Task 
team meetings would 
be rescheduled in the 
Chamber meeting

Advertisement and � lling of 
promotional posts 
To provide a forum for 
reaching consensus on the 
advertising of promotional 
posts in the vacancy list by the 
department

Management plan and 
circular endorsed by the 
Chamber 

June 2007 Achieved

Further Education and 
Training
To monitor the implementation 
of the recapitalization process 
for colleges in the province 

Progress reports endorsed 
by the Chamber

December 2007 Achieved

HIV/AIDS/EAP
To monitor the implementation 
of intervention programmes by 
the department

Progress reports endorsed 
by the Chamber

December 2007 Achieved 

Implementation of 
the Integrated Quality 
Management System (IQMS) 
To monitor the implementation 
of IQMS

Reports from monitoring
Teams endorsed by 
Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved

National Curriculum 
Statement (NCS)
To facilitate the 
implementation of NCS 
training

Progress reports endorsed 
by the Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE RESULT 

Performance Management 
To provide a forum for 
reaching consensus on salary 
and grade progression for 
both CS and PS educators 

Circulars in respect of 
payments by the department 
endorsed by the Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved

Post Provisioning / MTEF
To provide a forum for 
consultation for the creation of 
educator posts

Consultative meetings held
in the Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved

Temporary educators 
To reach an agreement on 
the placement of permanent 
and temporary educators who 
meet the requirements. 

Progress reports endorsed 
in the Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved

Inclusive education / LSEN
To promote the 
implementation of the LSEN 
policy and the guidelines on 
inclusive education.

Task team meetings held in 
the Chamber

March 2008 Not achieved 
Due to the postponement 
of scheduled meetings, 
the task team could not 
ful� l its tasks.  A task team 
would be rescheduled in 
the chamber meeting

Information technology to 
public schools 
To monitor the implementation 
of Gauteng Online

Progress reports tabled in 
the Chamber

June 2007 Achieved
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In the period under review the following Collective Agreements were concluded: 

(a)  Collective Agreement Number 2 of 2007 that was speaking to Post Provisioning Norms.
(b)  Collective Agreement Number 3 of 2007 that dealt with Surplus Educators. 

The KwaZulu-Natal Chamber was on the verge of signing another Collective Agreement that deals with 
displaced educators.  The Chamber made very progressive amendments to a Transfer Policy and believes 

that it would deliver to the expectations of both the Employer and the employees.

3.2.4 KWAZULU�NATAL
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Post Provisioning Norms 
(MTEF)
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the creation 
of educator posts for the 
province

Consultation meetings / 
workshops held

Information disseminated

September 
2007

Achieved

Employment Equity
To monitor the implementation 
of the Employment Equity 
Plan

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber

December 2007 Achieved

Further Education and 
Training (FET)
To monitor the regulatory 
changes to FET Colleges and 
implications for educators

Workshop held and reports 
presented

July 2007 Achieved

Monitor the Implementation 
of IQMS
Develop Management Plan for 
monitoring

Plans developed and 
presented to Chamber

IQMS implemented

October 2007 Achieved

Staf� ng
To absorb matched surplus 
educators

To consult on guidelines for 
the � lling of of� ce – based and 
school based promotion posts

Report of matched surplus 
educators adopted by 
Chamber

Report adopted by Chamber

October 2007

February 2008

Achieved

Achieved

Skills Development Plan
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the skills 
development plan

Reports presented to the 
Chamber

March 2008 Not Achieved
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ADDITIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Monitor the Provisions 
of NCS Developmental 
programmes
Monitor programmes

Progress report presented 
to Chamber

August 2007 Achieved

Monitor the educators 
development structured 
programmes (NPDE/ACE)
Educators trained on 
computer literacy and upgrade 
their quali� cations

Progress report presented 
to Chamber

August 2007 Achieved

District Functionality
To brief chamber on the 
possible devolving of functions 
to district level

Workshops held and report 
presented

September 
2007

Achieved

Pay Progression
To implement Accelerated Pay 
and Grade Progression

Monitor he implementation 
of accelerated pay and 
grade progression.  Report 
adopted by Chamber

October 2007 Achieved

Learning Areas and Subject 
Committees
To monitor the Functioning of 
Learning Area Committees

Report on monitoring the 
functioning of Subject and 
Learning Area adopted by 
Chamber

October 2007 Achieved

Monitor the implementation 
of Of� ce-based PMDS
Monitor implementation

Report on the Monitoring of 
the implementation of PMDS 
for Of� ce Based Educators 
adopted by Chamber

October 2007 Achieved
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3.2.5    LIMPOPO

The report re� ects the activities of the Chamber during the period under review as per the operational plan. 
The Chamber has discharged its role and responsibility by maintaining peace in the province.  60% of the 
goals set for the year have been achieved.

The period under review saw the achievement on the implementation of Collective Agreement No. 3 of 2006 
on school grading norms. The Chamber endorsed the � nal report on the grading of schools. Consultation on 
Early Childhood Development (ECD) and Adult Basic Education and Training (ABET) took place and reports 
were tabled in the Chamber.

Parties demonstrated their commitment in a special Chamber meeting by reaching an agreement to change 
the status of 506 educators to permanent employment in terms of section 6(B) of the Employment of the 
Educators Act No. 76 of 1998 as amended. 
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Further achievement was demonstrated on the conclusion and implementation of Collective Agreement No. 1 
of 2007 (Permanent appointment of temporary educators at Further Education and Training Colleges), which 
resulted in 262 FET college lecturers being declared permanent. Engagements continue on the absorption 
of educators who opted to remain with the Department of Education as the Employer.

The advertisement and � lling of vacant posts was a success. 2 645 promotional posts and 4 296 post level 
1 educator posts were advertised. The process of � lling the vacant posts is at an advance stage as per the 
adopted management plan.

Collective Agreements No. 1 and 2 of 2006 continue to have a positive effect on educators who did not 
qualify for absorption in 2006. This resulted in 943 educators made permanent.

The Chamber is in the process of concluding a collective agreement, which seeks to amend a provincial 
Collective Agreement No. 1 of 2000 (Shortlisting and interview process).

The unachieved goals will be attended to in the next � nancial year.

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Collective Agreements
To facilitate negotiations on 
the conclusion of provincial 
Collective Agreements

To facilitate the effective and 
ef� cient implementation of 
Collective Agreements

Negotiations concluded

Endorsement of report by 
the Chamber

March 2008

March 2008

Achieved

Achieved

MTEF consultation-Post 
provisioning
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the MTEF 
process in the province.
To identify risks that 
could impede meaningful 
consultation

Consultation meetings and 
workshops held

March 2008 Not achieved
Consultation meeting will 
be scheduled in the next 
� nancial year
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

FET
To provide a forum for 
consultations of outstanding 
issues pertaining to FET

Consultation meetings held March 2008 Achieved

Employment equity.
To monitor the implementation 
of employment equity

Reports presented to the 
Chamber

March 2008 Not achieved
Scheduled chamber 
meeting postponed

Adult Basic Education and 
Training (ABET) and Early 
Childhood Development 
(ECD)
To provide forum of 
consultation on Adult Basic 
Education and Training 
(ABET) and Early Childhood 
Development (ECD) matters

Progress report endorsed by 
the Chamber

March 2008 Achieved

Vacant posts
To provide a forum for 
reaching consensus on the 
advertisement and � lling of 
CS1 posts

Consensus reached March 2008 Achieved

Integrated Quality 
Management System(IQMS)
To facilitate and monitor 
implementation of Integrated 
Quality Management System 
(IQMS)

Reports tabled in the 
Chamber 

March 2008 Not achieved
Report to be tabled in the 
Chamber meeting

ADDITIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS 

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Promotional posts
To provide a forum for 
reaching consensus on the 
appointment of promotional 
post

Endorsement of reports in 
the Chamber

March 2008  Achieved
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3.2.6 MPUMULANGA

The period under review was a very dif� cult and challenging one and was characterised by the postponement 
of quite a number of planned chamber activities due to the non-availability of some of the parties; hence the 
non-achievement of some of the goals the Chamber had set for itself. Signi� cant progress has been recorded 
for the 2007/08 annual period, such as the implementation of the Integrated Quality Management System 
(IQMS). Collective Agreement No. 5 of 2006 was reached, which was on the improved career pathing for 
quali� ed post level 1 educators and accelerated progression for all educators on applicable salary levels. 
Another agreement that was concluded was Collective Agreement No. 3 of 2006 on the school grading 
norms.

The Chamber is continuing with work on the implementation of the Prevention, Care, Treatment and Access 
(PCTA) programme, which is aimed at dealing with the challenges posed by the HIV and AIDS pandemic 
to public education. The training for the PCTA programme has been extended to managers of schools and 
circuits. Achievement has also been recorded with employment equity where a decision was taken for 
updated reports on the targets set to be presented quarterly to the Chamber. 



50 EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL

The process of the absorption of former college lecturers in the Bushbuckridge region to curriculum 
implementers’ posts has been � nalised. 32 unquali� ed educators were voluntarily transferred to public 
servants posts. Consultation on the creation and the distribution of educator posts (PPN) was concluded 
over two sessions. The contracts of about 3057 contract educators have been renewed and the Chamber is 
on the verge of concluding collective agreements that seek to advertise vacant principals posts in the print 
media; appoint temporary educators in vacant substantive posts on a permanent basis and absorb FET 
college educators who opted to remain with the Department of Education as their Employer, when the FETC 
Act No. 16 of 2006 was implemented.

The Chamber remains committed in its resolve to promote and maintain labour peace in public education.

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Implementation of collective 
agreements
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of collective 
agreement 5 of 2006 on the 
improved career pathing 
for quali� ed post level 1 
educators and accelerated 
progression for all educators 
on applicable salary levels.

To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of Collective 
Agreement No. 3 of 2006 on 
the school grading norms

Reports on the 
implementation of the 
agreement tabled

Reports on the 
implementation of the 
agreement tabled

March 2008

June 2007

Achieved

Achieved

Implementation of the IQMS
To facilitate and monitor 
the implementation of 
the Integrated Quality 
Management System 
for educators therapists, 
psychologists and FET 
educators

Task team meetings held
Reports on implementation 
tabled

March 2008 Achieved

Employment Equity
To ensure representativity in 
the workplace in line with the 
employment equity act

Reports tabled in the task 
team and the Chamber

December 
2007

Achieved

HIV/AIDS
To monitor the implementation 
of the HIV/AIDS policy and the 
intervention programmes

Progress reports on the 
implementation of the 
intervention programmes 
tabled

March 2008 Achieved

Skills development
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the skills plan 
and development programmes 
for educators

Reports tabled December 
2007

Achieved
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

ABET Dispensation
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
appointment and payment 
dispensation for ABET 
practitioners in the province

Consensus reached
Reports tabled

March 2008 Not achieved
The issue will be left 
to the processes of 
the national ELRC for 
� nalisation

Post Provisioning Norms
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the creation 
and the distribution of 
educators posts

Consultation concluded September 
2007

Achieved

Filling of posts
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
advertisement and � lling of 
vacant educators posts

Reports on the 
appointments effected 
tabled

December 
2007

Achieved

FET
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
outstanding issues pertaining 
to FET colleges 

Consultation concluded March 2008 Not achieved
A draft collective 
agreement has been 
tabled for consideration by 
parties

Inclusive education (LSEN)
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the policy and 
guidelines on LSEN

Reports tabled March 2008 Not achieved
A task team with terms 
of reference has been 
established to look at 
issues on LSEN and 
report to the Chamber

ADDITIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Temporary educators
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the extension 
of the contracts of serving 
temporary educators

Reports tabled in the 
Chamber

March 2008 Achieved

Former college lecturers
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the absorption 
of former college lecturers in 
the Bushbuckridge region

Consultation concluded

Reports tabled

September 
2007

Achieved

Unquali� ed educators
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the transfer of 
unquali� ed educators to public 
servants posts

Consultation conducted

Reports tabled

December 
2008

Achieved
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3.2.7    NORTHERN CAPE

This report is a re� ection on the activities of the Chamber during the period under review. 

From perusing the report most objectives in the operational plan have been achieved to a large extent. 
Where there was non-achievement corrective measures have been taken to ensure achievement.

MTEF consultations were concluded on 1 November 2007 instead of 30 September 2007. This was a result 
of the introduction of the new Post Provisioning Norms model with which the Northern Cape Education 
Department (NCED) had problems implementing. The delay in issuing the staff establishments to schools 
caused problems and this had a negative impact on the excess declaration. To counter the problem the 
NCED decided that excess declaration should happen in the second quarter to give schools enough time.

280 educators were identi� ed who have been appointed on a temporary basis for two (2) or more years in 
the system. The conversions will be made before end of May 2008.

Collective Agreement No. 8 of 2001, which focuses on acting allowance, has been 80% implemented. All 
those educators that qualify have been paid. Strategies have been developed to address the backlog.
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Summative evaluation was done and educators received their salary progression. In the Province, 5 209 
educators were evaluated, while 2 106 were not evaluated. Various reasons were given for the non-evaluation 
of some educators. 

263 applications were received for bursary applications in different � elds. The ETDP – SETA for 2007/08 
programme required 673 people in the following � elds:

 50 ABET level 1    20 ABET level 5
 50 Development Practices   44 ECD
 30 ODETP    8 PGCE
 10 Administration and Finance  10 Non ETD (Cleaners)
 50 NGO/CBO voucher project  71 SDF
 30 Interns    10 Bursary
 10 Workplace    280 Skills Programme

The NCED sponsored � fty (50) needy learners in the Province to study education majoring in Maths, Science 
Technology and Languages. 1 071 bursaries were awarded in various � elds. The Department engaged in an 
exercise to improve the quali� cation levels of principals. The intention is to ensure that the requisite skills are 
acquired before candidates can become eligible for principal ship. The Advanced Certi� cate in Education 
(ACE) in leadership will be conducted by the following universities: Free State, North West and Stellenbosch.  
100 principals will be trained.

With the implementation of the FET Act the employees at FET Colleges were insecure. Chamber decided 
to establish a task team that will deal with implementation problems and to assist employees to understand 
the Act.

The parties agreed on a mechanism to resolve grievances in the Province. A collective agreement was 
drafted that will be adopted in the next � nancial year.

96% of Learner Teacher Support Material (LTSM) has been delivered to schools and responsible managers 
are auditing the dissemination of this material. The reason for the outstanding 4% is the new curriculum 
introduced in grade 12. By the end of March 2008 the 4% would have been delivered to the schools.

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Post Provisioning Norms 
(MTEF)
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the budget 
and the post provisioning 
determination for 2008/09

Adoption of the post 
provisioning determination 
for 2008/09

October 2007 Achieved

Implementation of 
Collective Agreements
To facilitate the effective and 
ef� cient implementation of 
collective agreements

Endorsement of reports by 
the Chamber

March 2008 Achieved

Implementation of IQMS
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of IQMS

Implementation reports 
tabled and endorsed by the 
Chamber

February 2008 Achieved
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Skills Development
To monitor progress on 
the implementation of the 
workplace skills plan.
To monitor progress on the 
implementation of the bursary 
policy.

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber

Bursaries awarded

Annual training plan 
endorsed

February 2008

January 2008

February 2008

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Adult Basic Education & 
Training (ABET)
To provide a forum for 
consultation on matters 
pertaining to ABET

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber 

February 2008 Achieved

Inclusive education/LSEN
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
implementation of the LSEN 
policy and the guidelines on 
inclusive education

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber

September 
2007

Not achieved
Reports will be endorsed 
in the next quarter

Further Education and 
Training (FET)
To monitor the implementation 
of the FET ACT

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber

March 2008 Achieved

Early Childhood and 
Development (ECD)
To interact with reports on 
the developments in the ECD 
sector

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber.

October 2007.
Not Achieved.
The reports will be 
presented in the next 
quarter

Curriculum
To monitor progress on 
the implementation of the 
Revised National Curriculum 
Statements and the roll out 
of the National Curriculum 
Statements

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Teacher Development 
To monitor progress in 
the upgrading of educator 
quali� cations

Progress reports on teacher 
development endorsed by 
the Chamber

November 
2007

Achieved

Advertisement and Filling of 
Posts
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
advertisement and the � lling 
of posts

Vacancy list released to the 
schools

June 2007 Achieved

Dispute Prevention
To monitor the handling of 
grievances in the Province

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber

Draft collective agreement 
on dispute prevention 
endorsed by the Chamber

November 
2007

February 2008

Achieved

The draft collective 
agreement will be 
endorsed in the next 
� nancial year

Training & Capacity 
Building
To enhance capacity and 
develop negotiation skills.

Training on negotiation skills 
conducted.
Workshop on committee 
work procedures held

June 2007 Not achieved
Matter to be � nalised in 
the next � nancial year

ADDITIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

National Teaching Awards 
(NTA)
To encourage educators to 
partake in the NTA

More educators partaking in 
the NTA

Provincial and National 
awards ceremonies

October 2007 Achieved
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3.2.8   NORTH WEST

During the 2007/08 � nancial period, the North West Chamber recorded a number of signi� cant achievements, 
such as the successful facilitation and implementation of the IQMS. The Chamber also conducted consultative 
meetings and workshops on post provisioning norms for educators. From June 2007, the Chamber engaged 
in meetings to monitor the implementation of programmes such as the National Curriculum Statement (NCS) 
and was also engaged in an ongoing process of facilitating and implementing collective agreements.

The Chamber was unsuccessful in its quest to monitor and implement its Employment Equity Plan, as well 
as its aim to monitor and implement its skills development plan.   These issues will be � nalised in the next 
� nancial year. 
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Employment Equity
To monitor the implementation 
of the Employment Equity plan

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber

April 2007- 
March 2008

Not Achieved
Matter to be � nalised in 
the next quarter

Skills Development plan
To monitor the implementation 
of the skills development plan

Reports endorsed by the 
Chamber

April 2007- 
March 2008

Not Achieved
Matter to be � nalised in 
the next quarter

Implementation of the IQMS
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of the IQMS

Reports of the 
Developmental programmes 
based on the Summative 
Evaluation endorsed by the 
Chamber

April 2007- 
March 2008

 Achieved

Implementation of 
Collective Agreements
To facilitate the effective and 
ef� cient implementation of 
collective agreements

Endorsement of reports by 
the Chamber

Submission of the reports to 
the Council

April 2007- 
March 2008

 Achieved

Post provisioning norms 
(MTEF)
To provide a forum for 
consultation for the creation of 
educator post

To identify risks that 
might impede meaningful 
consultation.

Consultation meetings/
workshops held

Information disseminated

June 2007- 
March 2008

 Achieved

Curriculum development 
and implementation
To monitor the implementation 
of curriculum programmes 
such as the National 
Curriculum Statements 
and the Revised National 
Curriculum Statements 

Endorsements of the 
implementation reports by 
the Chamber

June 2007 
– December 
2008

Achieved 
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3.2.9    WESTERN CAPE

This report re� ects the achievements and challenges during the period under review, based on the operational 
plan objectives, as per the strategic plan of the Council.  To ensure a high level of achievement of goals, 
parties assessed the Chamber’s operational plan in every STANCO meeting.

Signi� cant progress has been made with the Workplace Skills Plan (WSP), which was adopted in a special 
Departmental Training Committee (DTC) meeting of 23 April 2007.  Whole School Evaluation (WSE) was 
completed on 19 October 2007.  The consultation on the Re-Allocation of ELSEN support educators was 
dealt with successfully.  The employee parties formally adopted the Employment Equity Plan of the Western 
Cape Education Department on 19 November 2007.  

The challenges faced by the Chamber were the cancellation of scheduled meetings.  There was a delay in 
dealing with items that stay on the Chamber agenda for too long, especially matters on the Appointment 
Processes and consultation on the Education Plan.  
 
In spite of the challenges, parties were positive and developed common understandings on matters of mutual 
interest. 
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Implementation of 
Collective Agreements
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of collective 
agreement No. 3 of 2006 on 
the school grading norms

To facilitate and monitor 
the implementation of 
the collective agreement 
on the Integrated Quality 
Management System for 
educators, FET educators, 
therapists and psychologists 

Reports on implementation 
noted by Chamber 

Reports on implementation 
noted by Chamber

June 2007

June 2007

Achieved

Achieved

Post Provisioning Norms 
(MTEF)
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the education 
budget, the creation and the 
distribution of posts

Consultation conducted and 
concluded

16 August & 22 
August 2007

Achieved

Employment Equity
To consult on procedures for 
the implementation of the 
Employment Equity targets 
as set out in the Employment 
Equity Plan of the Department 
of Education 

Reports noted by the 
Chamber

WCED’s Employment 
Equity Plan adopted in 
Chamber

March 2007

29 November 
2007 

Achieved

Achieved

Skills Development 
To monitor progress on 
the implementation of the 
workplace skills plan

To monitor progress on the 
implementation of the bursary 
policy

Reports noted by the 
Chamber

Reports noted by the 
Chamber

June 2007

June 2007

Achieved

Achieved

Education Plan
To provide for consultation on 
personnel plans in respect 
of the placement of excess 
educators

Reports noted by the 
Chamber

November 
2007

Not achieved
The plan was put on hold 
until the Re-engineering 
process was � nalised
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Safe school Environment
To monitor the implementation 
of the policy for safety 
and security at schools – 
educators

Reports noted by the 
Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved

Employee Health and 
Wellness Programme
To support the initiative to 
retain educators and promote 
a culture of teaching and 
learning

Reports noted by the 
Chamber

June 2007 Achieved

Excess Educators
To provide a forum for 
consultation in respect of 
the placement of excess 
educators

Reports noted by the 
Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved

HIV/AIDS
To facilitate and monitor the 
implementation of the policy 
on HIV/AIDS programmes

Reports noted by the 
Chamber

September 
2007

Achieved

Further Education and 
Training (FET)
To provide a forum for 
consultations of outstanding 
issues pertaining to FET 
implementation in schools

Consultation meetings held March 2007 – 
April 2008

Achieved

ADDITIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Conciliation Meeting
To provide a forum for 
consultation with regard to 
the deadlock between the 
employer and employee 
parties

Consultation concluded 8 August 2007 Achieved

PTT Workshop.
To conduct a workshop 
for PTT members on the 
IQMS year planner and the 
Moderation Process in the 
Western Cape.

Workshop held 30 April 2007 Achieved
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Common Understanding on 
the Utilization of sick leave
To provide a forum for 
consultation on a common 
understanding on the 
utilisation of sick leave

Circular adopted in the 
Chamber meeting

19 November 
2007

Achieved

Common Understanding 
on the processes 
and Procedures to be 
followed with regard to an 
application for Ill Health 
Retirement
To provide a forum for 
consultation on a common 
understanding and procedures 
to be followed with regard to 
an application for Ill Health 
Retirement

Circular adopted in the 
Chamber meeting

19 November 
2007

Achieved

Draft Guidelines for the 
Appointment Process
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the draft 
guidelines or the appointment 
process

Circular adopted in the 
Chamber meeting

19 November 
2007

Achieved

Re-Allocation of ELSEN 
Support Educators
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the re-
allocation of ELSEN support 
educators

Consultation concluded 17 March 2008 Achieved

Appointment of VSP 
Educators
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 
procedures to be followed 
by the appointment of VSP 
educators

Circular adopted in the 
Chamber meeting

20 February 
2007

Achieved

37% Allowance for 
Temporary Educators
To provide a forum for 
consultation on the 37% 
allowance for temporary 
educators

Consultation concluded 22 November 
2007

Achieved
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PROGRAMME 3.3:  
 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

During the period under review no research was 
conducted due to the protracted Public Service 
strike. The Occupation Speci� c Dispensation for 
educators, which was only concluded in March 
2008, identi� es new areas for research that would 
be conducted in the new � nancial year.

Mosa Mathlabe
Provincial Secretary - 

Limpopo

Kingsley Phele
Provincial Of� cer - 

Limpopo

Vusi Mhlaba 
Provincial Secretary - 

KwaZulu Natal

Andisha Maharaj
Provincial Of� cer - 

KwaZulu Natal

Sharon Cawa
Provincial Secretary - 

Gauteng

Jeani Tsheko
Provincial Of� cer - 

Gauteng

Rose Sefotlhelo
Provincial Secretary - 

Free State

Leah Mokale
Provincial Of� cer - 

Free State

Nosisa Siwendu 
Provincial Secretary - 
Eastern Cape 

Nceba Make 
Provincial Of� cer - 
Eastern Cape 
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NEGOTIATIONS SUPPORT SERVICES

Nolusindiso Foca
Senior Manager
Negotiations Support 
Services

Michelle Milne
Administrator - 

Negotiations Support Services

Vacant
Provincial Secretary - 

North West

Bernie Tataw
Provincial Secretary - 

Western Cape

Thembisa Stwayi  
Provincial Of� cer - 

Western Cape

William Monaise
Provincial Of� cer - 

North West

Ursula Rasego
Provincial Secretary - 

Northern Cape

Pulane Mofoti
Provincial Of� cer - 

Northern Cape

Nomsa Madonsela 
Provincial Secretary - 

Mpumalanga

Jamela Machimana
Provincial Of� cer - 

Mpumalanga
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PROGRAMME 4 
 EXECUTIVE SERVICES

PROGRAMME 4.1:  
 MANAGEMENT, INTERVENTION AND FACILITATION SERVICES 

4.1.1 FETC FACILITATION         

INTRODUCTION 

The Further Education and Training Colleges Act (FETC) was promulgated on 11 December 2006.  
The Act provides for the employment of staff at public further education and training colleges.

It was noted that a bold step such as this one would have the inherent dimension of clear 
communications of operation and implementation.  Thus it was decided that the ELRC would facilitate 
the effective implementation of the FETC Act in so far as the appointment of staff is concerned and 
the matters incidental. 
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This process consisted primarily of fora of engagement, consultation, workshops, and information sharing 
sessions.  It provided information to all affected parties in order to actively engage in the parliamentary 
process. The process involved the DoE (Old Employer) and Trade Unions registered in the ELRC, and had 
as its primary objective the implementation of Collective Agreements Numbers 4 and 5. 

BACKGROUND

The Council, at a Bargaining Meeting, took a decision to convene a workshop on the implications of the FECT 
Bill.  The purpose of the workshop, held in the form of a colloquium, was to interact with the proposed FETC 
Act and its implications on the rights of the educators.  The outcome of the colloquium was that the FECT Act 
as well as conditions of services needed additional clari� cation.  

Subsequent to the Colloquium and on the understanding that the Parliamentary processes regarding the 
FETC ACT was concluded; the ELRC FETC Task Team meeting was convened to consider the impact of the 
FETC ACT on the conditions of service for FET educators in the categories viz. transfer of employment and 
labour rights.
 
The FETC Task Team concurred on the issues that needed to be addressed in the ELRC, which included:
•   Current and future conditions of service, 
•   The appointment and transfers (Section 197), and
•   Consistency in norms and standards 
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Programme 4.2:   Financial and Risk Management 71
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Programme 4.5:   Communication, Information, Reporting and Accounting Services 88
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INTERVENTION

In June 2007, the General Secretary, assisted by the CCMA National 
Senior Commissioner K C Moodley, addressed a meeting of the 
SACPO in East London. Some issues raised in the meeting included: 
who the new employer would be – principal or college council; and 
where bargaining for the sector would be conducted – ELRC or a new 
one created.

After bi-lateral meetings between the DOE and the trade unions, the 
DG tabled the Collective Agreement No. 4 of 2007 for � nalisation. 
The objective of the agreement was to identify the process by which 
the employment of educators at FET institutions would be transferred 
from the State to the College. It contained guidelines to promote the 
effective, ef� cient and fair implementation of the FETC Act.

On the 18th August 2007 a workshop was held with facilitators.  At the 
workshop Collective Agreement No. 4 of 2007 was discussed and the 
facilitation process conceptualised.  A series of meetings emanated 
from this workshop, which were held in August 2007 and gave rise to 
the formulation of draft ELRC Collective Agreement No 5 of 2007 that 
was based on the collective agreement from the PHSDSBC. 

The second set of bi-laterals between the DOE and CTU-SADTU and 
CTU-SAOU were facilitated by the GS before the second consultative 
meeting of which the purpose was to � nalise the consultation between 
the DoE and the trade unions that was required by Collective Agreement 
No. 4 of 2007.  Draft Collective Agreement No. 5 of 2007 was discussed 
in its entirety at this consultative meeting and there was unanimity in 
respect of all clauses of the agreement.  

66

Signing of Collective Agreement 
No. 4 of 2007. 

FROM LEFT: Dr N Awa (Treasurer 
FETC Employer’s Organisation) 
and Ms Penny Vinjevold (DDG FET) 
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The General Secretary was tasked to ensure that this agreement was signed. The objective 
of this agreement is to ensure that the transfer of employees was in accordance with the 
provisions of section 197 of the LRA, the FETC Act and Collective Agreement No 4 of 2007. 
The secondary objective was to ensure that the transfer is fair, equitable and transparent.

A full report is attached under Annexure C 

4.1.2 OCCUPATION SPECIFIC 
  DISPENSATION NEGOTIATIONS 

BACKGROUND

PSCBC Resolution No. 1 of 2007: “Agreement on improvement in salaries and other conditions 
of service for the � nancial years 2007/2008 to 2010/2011” was concluded on 5th July 2007.

Subsequent to the PSCBC Resolution No. 1 of 2007 the ELRC convened a number of meetings 
to negotiate the draft Collective Agreement on OSD tabled by the Department of Education. 
After intense negotiations parties to council could not reach agreement and therefore the 
following interventions took place.

14th January 2008 - The DG of the DOE extended an invitation to the principals of trade 
unions in the ELRC to explore resolution/agreement on OSD. 

FROM LEFT: Mr T Nxesi (CTU - SADTU), Mr C Klopper (CTU - SAOU), Mr M Govender (ELRC) and Mr F 
Patel (DoE) after the conclusion of Collective Agreement No. 1 and 2 of 2008 - 2 April 2008
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22nd January 2008 - The education trade unions had 
discussions to formulate a common position on OSD.

23rd January 2008 - An ELRC report on OSD was tabled 
at PSCBC after which the matter was referred back to 
the ELRC.

INTERVENTION

Subsequent to the Director General’s (DG) invitation, 
CTU-SADTU met with the Deputy Director General (DDG) 
on the 24th January 2008 to explore a resolution on OSD.  
Both parties agreed on a process of facilitation.

On 25th January 2008, following a discussion between 
the General Secretary and the late Mr D Pasquallie the 
4-6 February 2008 was identi� ed for the OSD facilitation 
meeting with Mr Brian Currin as the facilitator.

The facilitation meetings between Mr Brian Currin and 
parties to Council were convened to reach consensus 
on the Collective Agreement, but during negotiations 
on 28th February 2008, notwithstanding progress, the 
parties did not reach an agreement. 

Based on Mr Currin’s redraft of sections of the proposed 
collective agreement, both the employer and employee 
parties felt that progress was being made and undertook 
to seek fresh mandates. The Department of Education 

placed on record that it was not within their remit to extend 
the deadline of 29 February 2008. In the circumstances 
the Department of Education requested that mandates 
be sought urgently and that negotiations continue on 29 
February 2008. 

The union parties indicated that it would not be possible 
for them to obtain mandates within such a short period. 
In the circumstances, but without in any way undermining 
the integrity of the deadline as per the PSCBC referral, the 
General Secretary invited the union parties to approach 
the Council once mandates had been obtained. He would 
then advise the Department of Education accordingly, 
and if appropriate would convene further negotiations. In 
summary, the parties could not resolve their dispute. 

The General Secretary of the ELRC convened a number 
of meetings with leaders of parties in order to � nd 
consensus.

Nine months of intense deliberation, discussion and 
negotiations took place before Collective Agreement 1 
of 2008: “Framework for establishment of an occupation 
speci� c dispensation (OSD) for educators in public 
education” and Collective Agreement 2 of 2008: “Special 
Task Team” was concluded.

The OSD Agreement ensures a fair, equitable and 
competitive remuneration structure for identi� ed cate-
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gories of employees, which would provide for longer salary 
bands and substantial overlaps between salary levels to 
facilitate adequate salary progression to employees who 
choose to remain in the classroom instead of aspiring to 
move into supervisory or management posts.

With the OSD Agreement, a proper career pathing model 
that does not entail automatic increases but a forward 
looking plan to systematically increase salaries after 
pre-determined periods based on speci� c criteria such 
as performance, quali� cations, competencies, scope of 
work and experience; would be put into place.  One of the 
areas covered by the OSD is the provision for dual career 
paths in terms of which professionals and specialists 
could progress to levels where they earn salaries that are 
equal to/or higher than that of managers without moving 
into management/supervisory posts.  This would ensure 
that good educators could be retained in the classroom.

The introduction of the OSD for educators would ensure 
that no educator would receive a salary (notch or package) 
that is less than what s/he received on 31 December 
2007 prior to the implementation of the Agreement.  The 
salaries of educators would be upwardly adjusted based 
on the salary notches that applied on 1 July 2007 and 
then translated to the new OSD salary scales.  

A full report is attached under Annexure B

Nine months of intense deliberation, 
discussion and negotiations took 
place before Collective Agreement 1 
and 2 of 2008 were concluded. 

Mr H Hendricks (CTU - SAOU)
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4.1.3 ELRC EASTERN CAPE CHAMBER

The strained relations between the Eastern Cape Employer and Employee Parties compromised 
the ability of the Chamber to deliver on its constitutional mandate.  After years of a stalemate, 
Parties to the Chamber (ECDoE, Top Management, and their counterparts - Teacher Unions’ 
Provincial Leadership) went through a rigorous three- day session with the sole objective: re� ect 
on what best should be done to bring life to the Provincial Chamber. 

The Relationship Building by Objective Exercise (RBO) as the process is commonly referred 
to, has culminated in a series of activities / tasks to be carried out monitored by a Task Team 
comprised of Parties’ representatives. To these “Tasks”, the Head of the Eastern Cape Department 
has been allocated an oversight function. All Parties seemed very committed to see the process 
being a success in ensuring that Chamber functions and its performance improves.  

Of note is the fact that the cornerstone to the process yet to unfold lies in the “What is to be done, 
by whom and when?” The strength of the process hinges on the extent to which all role players 
(Of� ce of the HOD ECDoE, Mandatory Structures, Parties’ representatives to the Chamber 
and PELRC Staff) honour and discharge responsibilities assigned to each in terms of the RBO 
decisions.  

The ELRC General Secretary, the Chief Financial Of� cer, and Senior Manager: Negotiations, 
rendered support in the period building up the RBO and will further its role in the arduous work 
that still lies ahead in view of the commitment the parties have shown in nurturing the rediscovery 
of the importance of investing in building good working relations. Central to this is the extent to 
which the parties realise the importance of managing points of difference between themselves.

Mr M Govender (GS ELRC) reporting on the OSD implementation and the ELRC HIV/AIDS Intervention 
Programme to a sub division of CTU - SAOU   - PEU National Of� ce
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PROGRAMME 4.2:   
 FINANCIAL AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Financial Policies and 
Procedures
To review and update 
the � nancial policies and 
procedures in line with GRAP

Revised � nancial policies 
and procedures approved 
by Executive Committee 

Monthly Not Achieved

Supply Chain Management 
To review and maintain the 
procurement policy in line with 
the Supply Chain Management 
requirements

Revised procurement policy 
approved by Accounting 
Of� cer 

Annually Achieved

Fraud Prevention Plan
To review, advocate and 
monitor the Fraud Prevention 
Plan

Revised Fraud Prevention 
Plan approved by 
Accounting Of� cer

Advocacy conducted

Quarterly Achieved 

Achieved

Risk Management
To review and monitor the Risk 
Management strategy and plan

Risks managed Ongoing Achieved

PFMA and Treasury 
Regulations
To comply with the PFMA and 
Treasury Regulations

Compliance report 
submitted

Performance reports 
(Inclusive of Financial 
Statements) 

Monthly

Quarterly

Achieved

Achieved

Compliance with LRA
To lodge Arbitration Awards in 
terms of LRA 66 of 1995 as 
amended

To lodge collective agreements 
in terms of section 54(3)(a) of 
The Labour Relations Act

Awards lodged with Labour 
Court

Collective Agreements 
lodged with Registrar of 
Labour Relations DOL

Within 30 days

Within 30 days

Not achieved

Not achieved

Information Technology
To install adequate information 
systems

Availability of Computers 
and the necessary software 
to all staff

As need arises Achieved

Financial & Organisational  
Management
To monitor budget against 
expenditure

Variance report submitted 
to CS

10th day of 
each month

Achieved
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GOAL / OBJECTIVE
KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Standing Committees
To receive and approve the 
reports of the various standing 
committees

Approval of the 
recommendations

1 April 2007 to 
31 March 2008

Achieved

Budget
To determine the budget of the 
Council and recommend such 
to the Executive Authority

Approved Budget by the 
Governing Body and sent 
to the Executive Authority

1 October 
2007 to 31 
December 
2007

Achieved

Research 
To reach an agreement on 
the research on the Post 
Provisioning Model and 
Workload of Educators

Positive Report on 
the success of the 
implementation

1 April 2007 to 
31 March 2008

Achieved

Reports
To receive and ratify the 
Quarterly reports of the 
Accounting Of� cer

To receive and ratify the Annual 
report from the Accounting 
Of� cer

Quarterly reports rati� ed 
for submission to Executive 
Authority

Annual report rati� ed, 
submitted to the AGM in 
July 2007 for adoption

1 April 2007 to 
March 2008

July 2007

Achieved

Achieved

PROGRAMME 4.3:  
 
 GOVERNANCE SUPPORT SERVICES 
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ELRC EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr S Padayachee (DoE)

Mr J Slater (DoE)

Mr S Faker (DoE)

Mr JR Nkosi (DoE)

Mr F Hugo (DoE)

The Late Mr D Pasquallie 
(CTU-SADTU)

Mr D Moreothata (CTU-SADTU)

Ms JM Peane (CTU-SADTU)

Mr H Hendricks (CTU-SAOU)

Mr A Thompson (CTU-SAOU)

Mr M Govender (ELRC)

Mr AW Kutumela (Chairperson)
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PROGRAMME 4.4:  
 MOBILISING EMPLOYEES SERVICES
 �HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT�  

INTRODUCTION

This report summarises the employment relations activities of the ELRC for the past � nancial year. Issues 
that are being reported on include employment and vacancies, employment equity, skills development, 
expenditure, labour relations, etc. The Council maintained its commitment towards employment equity by 
having a workforce that comprises of all race and gender groups at all levels. 

The Council for the � rst time since its inception faced the problem of not � lling vacant posts due to the 
uncertainty of the levy increase. The Accounting Of� cer of the Council and its employees would like to thank 
the Education Department and the Teacher Unions for having the best interest of the Council at heart. The 
levy increase will go a long way in assisting the Council to continue to meet the needs of its stakeholders in 
a proactive manner. 
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The Council has always been committed to the continuous development of its staff and to creating a culture 
of unity and harmony amongst its diverse workforce. The number of employees employed by the Council 
over the last couple of years increased steadily.

EMPLOYMENT AND VACANCIES

The following table is a summary of the current staff compliment, staff turnover and vacancies as at the end 
of the period under review.

STAFF COMPLIMENT 

DEPARTMENT
NUMBER 

OF POSTS

CURRENT 
NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYEES

NUMBER OF 
TERMINA-

TIONS

TRANSFERS
INTO

COUNCIL

NEW 
APPOINT-

MENTS

NUMBER OF 
VACANCIES

Programme 1  
Dispute 

Resolution 
Services

5 4 3 0 2 1

Programme 2
Dispute 

Prevention 
Services

-Shop 
stewards

- Shop 
stewards

- Shop 
stewards

- Shop 
stewards

- Shop 
stewards

- Shop 
stewards

Programme 3 
Negotiations 

Support 
Services

22 18 3 0 4 4

Programme 4
 Executive 
Services

5 3 1 0 0 2

Programme 5
 Corporate 
Services

10 9 1 0 2 1

TOTAL 42 34 8 0 8 8

The Council appointed eight new employees and eight terminations occurred during the period under 
review. 
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TURNOVER RATE BY PROGRAMME 

Programme

Number of 
Employees 

Per 
Programme

Appointments 
Transfers In

Terminations 
& Transfers 

Out

Permanent 
Employees

Vacancy Rate

Programme 1                      
Dispute Resolution 

Services
5 3 3 4 20%

Programme 2                          
Dispute Prevention 

Services 
0 0 0 0 0%

Programme 3                      
Negotiations Support 

Services 
(National & Provincial)

22 5 3 18 14%

Programme 4                            
Executive Services 5 0 1 3 20%

Programme 5                            
Corporate Services 10 2 1 9 10%

TOTAL 42 10 8 34 19%

TURNOVER RATE

One of � ve employees resigned in the executive of� ce resulting in a turnover of 20%, while three employees 
left the negotiations department resulting in a 13.6% turnover rate, one employee resigned in the corporate 
services department resulting in 10% turnover rate and three employees left the disputes department causing 
the department to have a 20% turnover rate for the period under review. The Council has an overall turnover 
rate of 19%.

VACANCY RATE

One of � ve posts in the executive of� ce was vacant during the period under review resulting in a vacancy 
rate of 20%, while four of the twenty-two posts in the negotiations department were vacant leaving the 
department with a 14% vacancy rate, one of the ten posts were vacant in the corporate services department 
resulting in 10% vacancy rate and two of the � ve posts in the disputes department was left vacant causing 
the department to have 60% vacancy rate for the period under review. The Council has an overall vacancy 
rate of 19%.
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TURNOVER RATE PER SALARY LEVEL

Salary Level

Number of 
Employees 
Per Salary 

Level

Appointments 
and Transfers 
into Council

Terminations 
and transfers 

out

Permanent 
Employees

Turnover Rate

Salary Level 13 1 0 0 1 0%

Salary Level 9 - 12 18 4 4 15 22%

Salary Level 6 - 8 6 2 2 4 33%

Salary Level 3 - 5 12 3 2 10 17%

Salary level 1 - 2 5 1 0 4 0%

TOTAL 42 10 8 34 19%

Four of eighteen salary level 9-12 employees left during the period under review causing that salary level 
to have a 22% turnover rate, while two of the six salary level 6-8 posts left creating a turnover rate of 33%, 
two of the twelve salary level 3-5 posts left creating a 17% turnover rate on that salary level and two (2) no 
employees left resulting in a 0% turnover rate. The overall average turnover rate for the Council is 19%,

REASONS WHY STAFF LEAVE THE EMPLOYMENT OF THE COUNCIL

Termination Type Number % of Total

Death   

Resignation 7 87%

Expiry of Contract   

Dismissal - operational 
reasons

  

Dismissal - misconduct 1 13%

Dismissal - inef� ciency   

Discharged due to ill-
health

  

Retirement   

Other   

TOTAL 8 100%

Total number of employees who left as a % of the total employment 19%

Seven of the thirty-four employees who were employed by the Council at the beginning of the period under 
review resigned from the employment with the Council, while one of the employment terminations was a 
result of an employee being dismissed for misconduct.
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PROMOTIONS 

No employees were promoted to higher positions during the period under 
review.

EMPLOYMENT EQUITY

The Council recognises its responsibility to equalise opportunities for those 
people who are socially, economically and educationally disadvantaged – de� ned 
as blacks (comprising African, Asian and Coloured persons), women and the 
disabled.

EMPLOYEES BY GENDER 

The Council employed thirty-four employees at the end of the period under review. 
Twenty-one of the thirty-four employees are females and the thirteen are males. 

EMPLOYEES BY RACE

Twenty-� ve of the employees employed by the Council at the end of the period 
under review are African while four are Indian, three are White and the other two 
are Coloured.

MALE EMPLOYEES BY RACE

Ten of the thirteen males employed by the Council are African, while one is Indian, 
one Coloured and one White. 

FEMALES EMPLOYEES BY RACE

Fifteen of the twenty-one females employed by the Council are African, three are 
Indian, two are White and the other one is Coloured.

78

The ELRC is committed to the 
continuous development of its staff 
and to creating a culture of unity 
and harmony amongst its diverse 
workforce.

FROM LEFT: Hosea Moitsi and 

David Ramokgopana
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FOR EMPLOYMENT EQUITY PURPOSES; THIS REPORT CLASSIFIED ELRC POSITIONS INTO 
THE FOLLOWING EE CATEGORIES AND LEVELS.

ELRC POST EE Employment Category EE Salary Level

General Secretary 
Legislators, Senior Of� cials and 
Managers Senior Management

Administrator CSS Professionals Skilled 

Administrator DRS Clerks Skilled 

Administrator Human 
Resources

Legislators, Senior Of� cials and 
Managers Skilled 

Chief Financial Of� cer
Legislators, Senior Of� cials and 
Managers Professionally Quali� ed

Senior Manager CSS
Legislators, Senior Of� cials and 
Managers Professionally Quali� ed

Senior Commissioning 
Manager DRS

Legislators, Senior Of� cials and 
Managers Professionally Quali� ed

Senior Manager NSS
Legislators, Senior Of� cials and 
Managers Professionally Quali� ed

Provincial Secretary
Legislators, Senior Of� cials and 
Managers Skilled

Manager: CIRA Professionals Skilled

PA General Secretary
Technicians and associate 
professionals Semi Skilled

Senior Of� cer CSS Clerks Semi Skilled

Senior Of� cer DRS Clerks Semi Skilled

Senior Of� cer NSS Clerks Semi Skilled

Driver 
Plant and machine operators & 
assemblers Semi Skilled

Of� cer DRS Clerks Semi Skilled

Of� cer NSS Clerks Semi Skilled

Provincial Admin Support 
Of� cer Clerks Semi Skilled

Receptionist Clerks Semi Skilled

Cleaner Elementary Occupations Unskilled

Security Guard Elementary Occupations Unskilled

Supervisor Cleaners Elementary Occupations Unskilled
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1. OCCUPATIONAL CATEGORIES

1.1 Employees Note: A=Africans, C=Coloureds, I Indians and W=Whites

OCCUPATIONAL           

CATEGORIES

MALE  FEMALE  Foreign Nationals
TOTAL

A C I W  A C I W  MALE FEMALE

Legislators, senior 
of� cials and 
managers

2 1 1 0 7 1 1 0 0 0 13

Professionals 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 2

Technicians 
and associate 
professionals

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Clerks 5 0 0 0 6 0 2 1 0 0 14

Service and sales 
workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled agricultural 
and � shery 
workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Craft and related 
trades workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Plant and 
machine 
operators and 
assemblers

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Elementary 
Occupations

2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4

TOTAL 
PERMANENT

10 1 1 1 15 1 3 2 0 0 34

Non - permanent 
employees

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 10 1 1 1 15 1 3 2 0 0 34
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1.2 Employees with disabilities Note: A=Africans, C=Coloureds, I Indians and W=Whites

OCCUPATIONAL           

CATEGORIES

MALE  FEMALE  Foreign Nationals
TOTAL

A C I W  A C I W  MALE FEMALE

Legislators, senior 
of� cials and 
managers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professionals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Technicians 
and associate 
professionals

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Clerks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Service and sales 
workers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled agricultural 
and � shery 
workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Craft and related 
trades workers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Plant and 
machine 
operators and 
assemblers

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Elementary 
Occupations

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

TOTAL 
PERMANENT

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Non – permanent 
employees

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
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2.  OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS

2.1 Employees Note: A=Africans, C=Coloureds, I Indians and W=Whites

OCCUPATIONAL                    

LEVELS

MALE  FEMALE  Foreign Nationals
TOTAL

A C I W  A C I W  MALE FEMALE

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior 
Management

0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Professionally 
quali� ed and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid management

1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 3

Skilled technical 
and academically 
quali� ed 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foreman and 
superintendents

1 1 0 1 6 1 0 2 0 0 12

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision making

6 0 0 0 6 0 2 0 0 0 14

Unskilled and 
de� ned decision 
making

2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4

TOTAL 
PERMANENT

10 1 1 1 15 1 3 2 0 0 34

Non - permanent 
employees

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 10 1 1 1 15 1 3 2 0 0 34
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2.2 Employees with disabilities Note: A=Africans, C=Coloureds, I=Indians and W=Whites

OCCUPATIONAL                   

LEVELS

MALE  FEMALE  Foreign Nationals
TOTAL

A C I W  A C I W  MALE FEMALE

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior 
Management

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professionally 
quali� ed and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid management

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled technical 
and academically 
quali� ed 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foreman and 
superintendents

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision making

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled and 
de� ned decision 
making

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

TOTAL 
PERMANENT

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Non - permanent 
employees

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

FOREIGN NATIONALS

No foreign nationals are employed by the Council as at the end of the 
period under review. 

JOB EVALUATION 

Two jobs were evaluated during this � nancial year and are subject to 
approval of the Executive Committee before salaries are adjusted.

PERFORMANCE REWARDS

Employees have been assessed, performances will be moderated and 
appropriate rewards will be discussed and approved by the EXCO in 
the new � nancial year. 
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SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

The Council during the period under review continued to show 
its commitment towards skills development for acquiring 
both job speci� c skills as well as for economic and social 
transformation. The tables below indicate the investment per 
programme, salary level and race and gender. 

Skills Development by Salary Level April 
2006 - March 2007

Salary 
Level

Number 
of Current 
Employees

Number of 
Employees 

Trained 
Including 

Staff that left

Percentage 
of Total Staff 

Trained

Training 
Cost Per 
Salary 
Level

Average 
Cost per 

Employee

Percentage of 
Total Training 

Spent

Salary Level 
13 1 1 4.00% R 18,328 R 18,328 5.67%

Salary Level 
9 – 12 16 16 64.00% R 247,354 R 15,460 76.55%

Salary Level 
6 – 8 4 4 16.00% R 35,010 R 8,753 10.83%

Salary Level 
3 – 5 10 3 12.00% R 21,372 R 7,124 6.61%

Salary Level 
1 – 2 3 1 4.00% R 1,100 R 1,100 0.34%

TOTAL 34 25 100.00% R 323,164 R 12,927 100.00%

The Council, in the period under review, invested a total 
amount of R 323,164.00 in skills development of twenty-� ve 
of its employees. R 18,328 (5.67%) was invested in an (4%) 
employee on salary level 13, R 247,354 in sixteen (64%) 
employees on salary levels 9-12, R 35,010 (10.83%) in three 
(12%) employees on salary level 3-5 and R 1,100 in one (4%) 
employee on salary level 1-2.
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Skills Development by Race & Gender 
April 2006 - March 2007

Race & 
Gender

Number 
of Current 
Employees

Number of 
Employees 

Trained 
including 

Staff that left

Percentage 
of Total Staff 

Trained

Training 
Cost per 
Race & 
Gender

Average 
Cost per 

Employee

Percentage of 
total Training

African  17 68.00% R 194,503 R 11,441 60.19%

Male 11 10 40.00% R 84,395 R 8,439 26.12%

Female 14 7 28.00% R 110,108 R 15,730 34.07%

Indian  3 12.00% R 53,982 R 17,994 16.70%

Male 1 2 8.00% R 20,177 R 10,088 6.24%

Female 2 1 4.00% R 33,805 R 33,805 10.46%

Coloured  2 8.00% R 40,324 R 20,162 12.48%

Male 1 2 8.00% R 40,324 R 20,162 12.48%

Female 1 0 0.00% R 000 R 0.00 0.00%

White  3 12.00% R 34,355 R 11,452 10.63%

Male 1 1 4.00% R 22,600 R 22,600 6.99%

Female 3 2 8.00% R 11,755 R 5,878 3.64%

TOTAL 34 25 100.00% R 323,164 R 12,927 100.00%

LABOUR RELATIONS

Two disciplinary cases were opened against two employees of the Council during the period under review. 

No collective agreements with the employee trade union were signed during this period. 

No labour disputes were lodged during the period under review.

INJURY ON DUTY

Two employees reported injuries on duty during the period under review.

HIV/AIDS AND HEALTH PROMOTION PROGRAMMES

The employer distributed a manual on HIV/AIDS to reinforce previous learning and the entire health and 
safety committee was trained to ensure that members are aware of and capable to perform their functions 
as health and safety representatives. 
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FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS REPORT, THE SALARY LEVELS 
COLUMN IN THE TABLES INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING ELRC 
POSITIONS:

Salary Level 13 – 16

General Secretary

Salary Level 9 - 12 

Administrator CSS

Administrator DRS

Administrator Human Resources

Chief Financial Of� cer

Senior Manager CSS

Senior Commissioning Manager DRS

Senior Manager NSS

Provincial Secretaries
Manager: Communication, Information, Reporting and Accounting 
Services

Salary Level 6-8

PA General Secretary

Senior Of� cer CSS

Senior Of� cer DRS *2

Senior Of� cer NSS

Salary Level 3-5

Driver 

Of� cer DRS

Of� cer NSS

Provincial Admin Support Of� cers

Receptionist 

Salary Level 1-2

Cleaner

Security Guard

Supervisor Cleaners
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PERSONNEL COSTS PER PROGRAMME 

Programme
Number of 
Employees 

Paid
Basic Salaries

Housing 
Allowances

Medical Aid
Retirement 

Funding
Bonusses

Travel 
Allowance

Total Cost
Average per 
Employee

Programme 1
Dispute 

Resolution 
Services

7 R 497,746.63 R 38,000.00 R 36,270.13 R 84,428.70 R 77,238.73 R 12,696.00 R 746,380.19 R 106,625.74

Programme 2
Dispute 

Prevention 
Services

Programme 3
Negotiations 

Support 
Services

22 R 2,011,125.92 R 197,000.00 R 143,517.24 R 352,139.81 R 428,260.66 R 29,832.00 R 3,161,875.63 R 143,721.62

Programme 4
Executive 
Services

5 R 1,160,109.52 R 20,000.00 R 17,925.99 R 159,677.28 R 250,276.79 R 79,392.32 R 1,687,381.90 R 337,476.38

Programme 5
Corporate 
Services

9 R 728,227.61 R 85,000.00 R 66,216.80 R 131,081.28 R 118,354.79 R 15,432.00 R 1,144,312.48 R 127,145.83

TOTAL 43 R 4,397,209.68 R 340,000.00 R 263,930.16 R 727,327.07 R 874,130.97 R 137,352.32 R 6,739,950.20 R 156,743.03

REMUNERATION PER PROGRAMME

PERSONNEL COSTS PER SALARY LEVEL

Salary 
Levels

Number of 
Employees 

Paid
Basic Salaries

Housing 
Allowances

Medical Aid
Retirement 

Funding

Bonusses 
and Leave 

Pay

Travel 
Allowance

Total Cost
Average per 
Employee

Salary Level 
13

1 R 383,606.04 - - R 69,049.08 R 146,270.02 R 64,644.00 R 663,570.14 R 663,570.14

Salary Level 
9 - 12

19 R 2,888,397.29 R 134,500.00 R 135,116.69 R 456,278.41 R 557,057.56 R 72,708.32 R 4,244,058.27 R 223,371.49

Salary Level 
6 - 8

6 R 425,220.75 R 51,000.00 R 41,370.12 R 77,094.52 R 74,587.77 - R 669,273.16 R 111,545.53

Salary Level 
3 - 5

12 R 568,451.60 R 116,500.00 R 64,725.32 R 101,228.74 R 76,330.92 - R 927,236.58 R 77,269.72

Salary Level 
1 - 2

4 R 131,534.00 R 38,000.00 R 22,718.03 R 23,676.32 R 19,884.70 _ R 235,813.05 R 58,953.26

TOTAL 42 R 4,397,209.68 R 340,000.00 R 263,930.16 R 727,327.07 R 874,130.97 R 137,352.32R 6,739,951.20 R 160,475.03
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PROGRAMME 4.5:  
 COMMUNICATION, INFORMATION, 
 REPORTING AND ACCOUNTING 
 SERVICES �CIRA� 

GOAL / OBJECTIVE KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR
TARGET / 

TIMEFRAME
PERFORMANCE 

RESULT 

Compliance with 
PFMA
To compile quarterly 
reports in compliance 
with the PFMA 

To compile an annual 
report in compliance 
with the PFMA

Quarterly Report approved by the 
General Secretary, Audit Committee, 
Governing Body and submitted to 
the Executive Authority. 

Annual Report approved by the 
General Secretary and Auditor 
General. Submitted to Ministry and 
National Treasury

27 July 2007
30 Oct 2007
31 Jan 2008
30 April 2008

31 August 
2007

Achieved

Achieved

Publications
To compile the Labour 
Bulletin

To compile the New 
Negotiator’s News

To ensure staff is kept 
up to date of ELRC 
activities

Labour Bulletin published and 
distributed to dispute resolution 
practitioners

Negotiator published and distributed 
to parties

Newsletter published and distributed 
to all staff

Quarterly

Quarterly

Monthly

Not Achieved
Only 2 Labour Bulletins 
were published

Not Achieved
Only 2 Negotiator’s 
News were published

Achieved

Access to information
To ensure that the 
latest information 
pertaining labour 
relations is available in 
the Information Centre 
of the ELRC

To update the ELRC 
website.

To implement the policy 
on Information Sharing 
as per the PAIA Manual

Information made available  

Website updated

Manual for PAIA
Deputy Information of� cers 
(provincial secretaries)

Ongoing

Ongoing

March 2008

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Marketing
To market the ELRC by 
means of brochures, 
marketing material, 
exhibitions etc.

To compile and adopt 
a marketing and 
communication strategy 
for the ELRC

Brochures, marketing material, 
exhibitions provided

Strategy adopted and implemented

Ongoing

Ongoing

Achieved

Achieved
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Matome Moshakga 
Chief Financial Of� cer

Mahalingum Govender 
General Secretary

Rene’ McDonald
Executive Support and 

Client Liaison

Jonathan Loff
Human Resources 

Manager

Gustav Worst 
Manager: Communication, 
Information, Reporting and 
Accounting Services

EXECUTIVE SERVICES
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PROGRAMME 5: 
 CORPORATE SERVICES 

PROGRAMME 5.1:  FINANCIAL SERVICES 

The levies increased by 158% compared to 2006/08 due to securing of a levy increase from 
R3 to R10 effective from August 2008.  Expenditure increased by 40% which is attributed to 
the broadened scope of Council’s operations.  The Council has re-strategised its operations by 
adopting a saving and value for money approach since the next levy increase is anticipated only 
in 2012. 
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ADMINISTRATION 
EXPENSES

7%

STAFF COST
20%

NET 
SURPLUS

25%
OPERATING EXPENSES

48%

2008

      2008   2007
Net surplus as a percentage of levies  17%   -53%

The � nancial performance of the Council is satisfactory.  The Council under spent 
in terms of the budget due to the unpredictable nature of bargaining a number of 
factors contributed to the under utilisation which are mentioned in the operational 
programmes.  
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PROGRAMME 5.1:  
 FINANCIAL SERVICES
  �CONTINUED� 

-10,000,000

-5,000,000

-

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

STAFF COST ADMINISTRATION
EXPENSES

OPERATING EXPENSES NET
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

2006/2007 2007/2008

The � nancial position of the Council is favourable in terms of liquidity.

      2008   2007
Current ratio     2.02   1.59
Acid test ratio     1.96   1.53
  
The Council maximised cash by investing in short term � xed investments.
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Sarie Meyer
Administrator

Corporate Services

Loganayagie Padayachee  
Senior Manager Corporate 

Services

Lindiwe Mathabathe  
Admin Of� cer & Receptionist

Donald Ramolongo
Driver

Mandiya Sijendu
Senior Of� cer Administration

David Ramokgopana
Supervisor

Hosea Moitsi 
Security Of� cer

Portia Motha 
General Assistant

Nomtandazo Mamba
General Assistant

CORPORATE SERVICES
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PROGRAMME 5.2:  ADMINISTRATION SERVICES 

Due to insuf� cient funds capital expenditure was at a minimum.  Administration 
services were prioritised in terms of operational requirements. A number of 
minor repairs and maintenance took place during the � nancial year.  Rental 
lease agreements expired during the � nancial year whereby renewal only 
took place after the levy increase.  Analysis of rental of� ces was done to 
determine value for money.  Some of� ces were down sized, which incurred 
renovation cost.  No contract awards above R100, 000 thresholds took place 
during the � nancial year.
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             Registration Number : LR2/6/6/110
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(Established in terms of the Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act No. 66 of 1995))

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
 31 MARCH 2008
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

We are pleased to present our report for the � nancial year ended 31 March 2008.

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE:

The audit committee consists of the members listed hereunder and meets at least 4 times per annum as per its 
approved terms of reference. 

NAME OF MEMBER     MEETINGS  MEETINGS 
      Scheduled  Attended    
    
Mr. D Coovadia (Chairperson)          5       5 
Mr. P Moore             5       3
Mr. Z Myeza            5       4 
Mr. XYZ Mac Master (Resigned Jan.’08)         5       1
Ms. GH Neewat (Resigned Jan.’08)          5          2

2. AUDIT COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITY

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 38(1)(a) of the PFMA 
and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13 and 27(1)(10). The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate 
formal terms of reference as its audit committee charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and 
has discharged its responsibilities as contained therein.

3. THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The system of controls is designed to provide cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and that liabilities 
and working capital are ef� ciently managed. 

In line with the PFMA and the King II Report requirements, Internal Audit provides the Audit Committee and 
Management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by means of 
the risk management process, as well as the identi� cation of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the 
controls and processes.

From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the audit report on the Annual Financial Statements and management 
letter of the Auditor-General, it was noted that no signi� cant or material non-compliance with prescribed policies and 
procedures has been reported. Accordingly, we can report that the system of internal control for the period under 
review was suf� ciently effective and ef� cient except for a lack of certain internal controls relating to � nancial policies 
and procedures.
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4. THE QUALITY OF THE IN-YEAR MANAGEMENT REPORTS SUBMITTED IN TERMS OF
    THE PUBLIC FINANCE MANAGEMENT ACT

The Committee is satis� ed with the content, quality and suggested recommendations of Quarterly Reports prepared 
and issued by the Accounting Of� cer for Council during the year under review.

5. EVALUATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has:

Reviewed and discussed with the Auditor-General and the Acting Accounting Of� cer the audited annual 
� nancial statements to be included in the annual report;

Reviewed the accounting policies and;

Reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and the responses of management.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of the Auditor-General on the annual � nancial statements 
and is of the opinion that the audited annual � nancial statements be accepted and read together with the report of 
the Auditor-General.

CHAIRPERSON
DATE: 31 July 2008

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 March 2008 

Notice is hereby issued, in terms of Clause 15 of the ELRC Constitution, that the Annual General Meeting of the 
Council has been scheduled as follows:

DATE: 25  July 2008
TIME:         10H30
VENUE:      ELRC BUILDING
 261 WEST AVENUE
 CENTURION

Please receive herewith the agenda for the Annual General meeting in terms of clause 15.2 of the ELRC 
Constitution. 

AGENDA

 Welcome1. 
 Presentation of credentials of Councillors 2. 
 Special Resolution:  Postponement of AGM3. 
 Minutes of the previous Annual General Meeting4. 
 Matters arising ex-minutes, other than those covered by the agenda5. 
 Annual Report of the Council by the Accounting Of� cer in terms of the PFMA, including the  6. 
 � nancial statements of the previous � nancial year, which � nancial year shall run from 1 April to  
 31 March

 The independent report of the Auditor-General in respect of the � nancial statements referred to  7. 
 in clause 15.2.2(e)

 The independent report of the Audit Committee, in terms of the PFMA8. 
 Adoption of the Annual Report of the Council, including the � nancial statements9. 
 The levies to be imposed on educators10. 
 The appointment of members of the Audit Committee11. 
 The appointment of a Chairperson of the Audit Committee12. 
 The appointment of members of the Executive Committee13. 
 The election of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairpersons14. 
 Closure  15. 
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PLEASE NOTE:

 (a) That in terms of clause 12.1(b) “The General Secretary  shall request nominations for a new Chairperson   
 and Deputy-chairpersons for the forthcoming term of of� ce, to reach him 30 days  prior to the Annual  
 General Meeting ”, you are therefore requested to kindly forward nominations by Monday, 30 June 2008.  

 SPECIAL RESOLUTION: POSTPONEMENT OF AGM

 In noting that in terms of Clause 15.2.1 “The Council shall hold its Annual General Meeting during the 
 month of July each year.”

 The meeting agrees that the Annual General Meeting of the Council be postponed to Thursday 
 14th August 2008.

 Mover:            Seconder:  

Kind regards

ACTING GENERAL SECRETARY
NO FOCA

THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 March 2008 

   

Council be pooststpoponened d toto Thursday 

ACTINGNN  GGGENERAL SE
NO FFFOOOCAAA
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
(Established in terms of the Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act No. 66 of 1995))

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BY THE ACCOUNTING 
AUTHORITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 March 2008

The Annual Financial Statements which appear on pages 107 to 125 to  were approved by the Accounting 
Authority on 24 July 2008.

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY
NO FOCA
(ACTING GENERAL SECRETARY)

Date: 24 July 2008

OUNNNTINGNN  AUTHORIT
FOCAAA
ING GEGEGENERAL SECR

o y o J y 008
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION OF THE EDUCATION 
LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

I have audited the accompanying � nancial statements of the Education Labour Relations Council which comprise 1. 
the statement of � nancial position as at 31 March 2008, statement of � nancial performance, statement of changes 
in net assets and cash � ow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of signi� cant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 111 to 125.

Responsibility of the accounting authority for the � nancial statements

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these � nancial statements 2. 
in accordance with the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in note 1.1 to the 
� nancial statements and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 
1999) (PFMA). This responsibility includes: 

designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of • 
� nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies• 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.• 

Responsibility of the Auditor-General

As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the 3. 
Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these � nancial 
statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing and 4. General Notice 616 of 
2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the � nancial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 5. 
� nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the � nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the � nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

An audit also includes evaluating the:6. 
appropriateness of accounting policies used• 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management• 
overall presentation of the � nancial statements.• 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suf� cient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 7. 
opinion.
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Basis of accounting 

The public entity’s policy is to prepare � nancial statements on the basis of accounting determined by the National 8. 
Treasury, as set out in note 1.1 to the � nancial statements.

Opinion 

In my opinion the � nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects,9.  the � nancial position of the Education 
Labour Relations Council as at 31 March 2008 and its � nancial performance and cash � ows for the year then 
ended, in accordance with the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in note 1.1 to 
the � nancial statements and in the manner required by the PFMA.

Emphasis of matters 

Without qualifying my audit opinion, I draw attention to the following matters:

Highlighting critically important matters presented or disclosed in the � nancial statements

Unauthorised, irregular or fruitless and wasteful expenditure as well as material losses through criminal conduct
  
   10. As disclosed in note 15 to the � nancial statements, fruitless and wasteful expenditure to the amount of R2 485 

was incurred and irregular expenditure to the amount of R2 905 676 was incurred, as the tender process had 
not been followed resulting in fraudulent activities by employees of the Education Labour Relations Council.

Restatement of corresponding � gures

11. Note 17 to the � nancial statements on the prior period errors refers. The inappropriate accounting policy applied 
by the entity in the � nancial year ended 31 March 2007 caused me to express a quali� ed opinion on the � nancial 
statements relating to that year. During the � nancial year ended 31 March 2008, the prior year’s accounting policy 
for operating leases was revised to comply with the basis of accounting applicable in the � nancial year ended 31 
March 2008. The related corresponding � gures for 31 March 2007 have been restated accordingly.
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OTHER MATTERS

Without qualifying my audit opinion, I draw attention to the following matters that relate to my responsibilities in the 
audit of the � nancial statements: 

Matters of governance

12. The PFMA tasks the accounting authority with a number of responsibilities concerning � nancial and risk 
management and internal control. Fundamental to achieving this is the implementation of certain key governance 
responsibilities, which I have assessed as follows:

Matter of governance Yes No

Audit committee

The public entity had an audit committee in operation throughout the � nancial year.• �

The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, written terms of • 
reference.

�

The audit committee substantially ful� lled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in • 
section 77 of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.10/27.1.8.

�

Internal audit

The public entity had an internal audit function in operation throughout the � nancial • 
year.

�

The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved internal audit plan.• �

The internal audit function substantially ful� lled its responsibilities for the year, as set • 
out in Treasury Regulation 3.2/27.2.

�

Other matters of governance

The annual � nancial statements were submitted for audit as per the legislated deadlines • 
(section 55 of the PFMA).

�

The � nancial statements submitted for audit were not subject to any material • 
amendments resulting from the audit.

�

No signi� cant dif� culties were experienced during the audit concerning delays or the • 
unavailability of expected information and/or the unavailability of senior management.

�

The prior year's external audit recommendations have been substantially • 
implemented.

�

Unaudited supplementary schedules

13. The supplementary information set out on pages 126 does not form part of the � nancial statements and is 
presented as additional information. I have not audited this information.
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OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

REPORT ON PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

14. I have reviewed the performance information set on pages 15 to 94. (Section E excluded)

Responsibility of the accounting authority for the performance information

15. The accounting authority has additional responsibilities as required by section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA to ensure 
that the annual report and audited � nancial statements fairly present the performance against predetermined 
objectives of the public entity.

Responsibility of the Auditor-General

16. I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the PAA read with General Notice 616 of 2008, 
issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008. 

17. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of an audit nature to obtain suf� cient 
appropriate evidence about the performance information and related systems, processes and procedures. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement.

18. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is suf� cient and appropriate to provide a basis for the audit � ndings 
reported below. 

Audit � ndings (performance information)

Non-compliance with regulatory requirements

19.   Content of strategic/ corporate/ annual performance plan
The strategic plan of the Dispute Resolution Department of the Education Labour Relations Council did not 
include the measurable objectives, expected outcomes, programme outputs, indicators (measures) and targets 
of the entity’s programmes, as required by Treasury Regulation 5.2.3(d).

APPRECIATION

20. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Education Labour Relations Council during the audit is sincerely 
appreciated..

Pretoria

30 July 2008
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THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No 1 of 1999), as amended, requires the Accounting Authority to 
ensure that the Council keeps full and proper records of its � nancial affairs. The annual � nancial statements should 
fairly present the state of affairs of the Council, its � nancial results, its performance against predetermined objectives 
and its � nancial position at the end of the year in terms of Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
(GRAP). 

The � nancial statements are the responsibility of the Accounting Authority. The Auditor General is responsible for 
independently auditing and reporting on the � nancial statements. The Of� ce of the Auditor General has audited the 
� nancial statements and the report appears on page 103 and 106.

The � nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting 
Practices Board, with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statement. These � nancial statements are based on 
appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Accounting Authority has reviewed the Council’s budget and cash � ow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 
2008. On the basis of this review, and in view of the current � nancial position, the Accounting Authority has every 
reason to believe that the organisation will be a going concern in the year ahead and has continued to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the � nancial statements. 

The Accounting Authority sets standards to enable management to meet the above responsibilities by implementing 
systems of internal control and risk management that are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance 
against material misstatements and losses. The Council maintains internal � nancial controls to provide assurance 
regarding: 

 1.  The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposition
 2.  The maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of � nancial information used within 
       the business or for publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct de� ciencies as they are identi� ed. 
Even an effective system of internal control, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the 
possibility of circumvention or the overriding of controls. An effective system of internal control therefore aims to 
provide reasonable assurance with respect to the reliability of � nancial information and, in particular, � nancial 
statements presentation. Furthermore, because of change in conditions, the effectiveness of internal controls may 
vary over time. 
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The Accounting Authority has reviewed the Council’s system of internal control and risk management for the period 
April 2007 to March 2008. The Accounting Authority is of the opinion that the Council’s system of internal control and 
risk management were effective for the period under review. 

In the opinion of the Accounting Authority, based on the information available to date, the � nancial statements 
fairly present the � nancial position of the Council at 31 March 2008 and the results of its operations and cash � ow 
information for the year. 

The � nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008, set out on pages 107 to 125, were submitted for auditing 
on 30 May 2008 and approved by the Accounting Authority in terms of section 51 (1) (f) of the Public Finance 
Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) as amended and are signed on its behalf by: 

NO FOCA      M J Moshakga      
Acting General Secretary                                                  Chief Financial Of� cer

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

M J Moshakga      NO FFFOCCCA  
Actinggg GGeneral Secre
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THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY'S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

The Accounting Authority presents its report that forms part of the audited Annual Financial Statements of the ELRC 
for 31 March 2008. 

1. Principal Activities of the ELRC 

The primary business of the Council is to promote the maintenance of labour peace in the public education sector 
through the provisioning of dispute resolution (and prevention) services. To this end grievances and disputes of 
educators and of� cials are resolved through conciliation and / or arbitration. The secondary business of the Council 
is to promote the maintenance of labour peace in  the public education sector through the provisioning of consultation 
and negotiations between  trade unions and the state as the employer as represented by the Department of Education.  
The scope of operational activities have increased from August 2007 to include dispute prevention support services, 
research and development and training and development.

2. Review of operations

a)  Revenue

 The amount of revenue disclosed in the annual � nancial statements is R36,792,195 (2007: R14,703,438).  
 The actual levies received have increased by R22,033,879 an increase of 158%, which came into effect in  
 August 2007.

b)  Operating Surplus/De� cit
 The amount of operating surplus is R9,070,570 [2007: R-7,279,986] 

 Events subsequent to Statement of Financial Position date 
 The Accounting Authority is not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the 
 � nancial year, not otherwise dealt with in the report or annual � nancial statements that would affect the 
 results of the operations of the ELRC signi� cantly. 

 Accounting Authority’s interest in contracts
 No contracts involving the Accounting Authority’s interest were entered into, on behalf of the council, in 
 the current � nancial year. 

3. Approval by Accounting Authority

The Accounting Of� cer (General Secretary) shall present this report to the Accounting Authority at its Annual General 
Meeting on 14 August 2008 for its approval.

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY
NO FOCA
(ACTING GENERAL SECRETARY)
Date: 24 July 2008

OUNNNTINGNN  AUTHORIT
FOCAAA
TING GEGEGENERAL SECR
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Remuneration Schedule 
Bonus & Pension Other Expense 

Performance Contributions  Allowance
Payments

M Govender 383,606          86,902             69,049          -          64,644       604,201       
J Moshakga 281,186          50,456             50,613          -          14,748       397,003       
NO Foca 219,903          39,168             39,306          6,240       15,432       320,049       
NE Shandukani 67,846            -                  10,177          5,260       9,036         92,319         
L Padayachee 229,770          40,709             41,359          6,240       29,832       347,910       
H Worst 257,400          -                  -               -          -             257,400       

1,439,711       217,235           210,504        17,740     133,692     2,018,882    
   

Note: NE Shandukani resigned in July 2007 as Senior Manager: Dispute Resolution Services.

Basic Salary Total

THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
ACCOUNTING OFFICER'S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

General Secretary
Mr M Govender

Level 13

Chief Financial Officer
Mr MJ Moshakga

Level 12

Snr Manager: Corporate 
Services

Ms L Padayachee
Level 11

Snr Manager: Dispute 
Resolution Services

Vacant
Level 11

Snr Manager: Negotiation 
Support Services

Ms NO Foca
Level 11

Manager: Communication, 
Information, Reporting and 

Accounting
Mr H Worst

Level 10
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THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Restated
2008 2007

Notes R R

REVENUE 36,792,195      14,703,438      

Levies 2 35,903,139      13,869,260      

Investment income 3 881,256           824,503           

Other income 3 7,800               9,675               

EXPENDITURE 27,721,625      21,983,424      

Arbitration and mediation  1,551,613        2,837,694        
Audit fees 9 733,058           485,420           
Depreciation 9 1,155,023        1,213,964        
Rental 9 1,303,472        1,053,980        
Staff cost 9 7,371,733        7,153,000        
Other administration and operating expenses 15,606,726      9,239,366        

NET SURPLUS/( DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 9,070,570        (7,279,986)       
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THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2008

Restated
2008 2007

Notes R R

ASSETS

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4 8,117,496      9,133,973        

Current Assets 24,272,468    5,893,868        

Trade and other receivables 5 745,118         229,072           
Cash and cash equivalents 6 23,527,350    5,664,796        

Total Assets 32,389,964 15,027,841

LIABILITIES

Current  Liabilities

Trade and other payables 7 12,007,197    3,702,350        

Total  Liabilities 12,007,197    3,702,350        

Net Assets 20,382,767    11,325,491      

NET ASSETS

Designated funds 8 20,382,767    11,325,491      

Total Net Assets 20,382,767    11,325,491      
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THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Restated
2008 2007

Notes R R

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Receipts   
    Investment income 737,440                824,879           
    Levies 35,903,139           13,964,755      
    Other receipts 7,800                    20,286             
Payments  
    Employee cost (7,334,703)            (7,089,841)       
    Suppliers (11,308,834)          (17,383,829)     

Net cash Inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 10 18,004,842           (9,663,750)       
  
  

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
 

Purchase of fixed assets 4 (166,898)               (444,962)          
Proceed from disposal of assets 24,610                  1,875               

Net cash outflow from investing activities (142,288)               (443,087)          

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 17,862,554           (10,106,837)     
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 5,664,796             15,771,633      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 6 23,527,350           5,664,796        
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THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1  Basis of preparation
The � nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (GAAP) including any interpretations of such statements issued by the Accounting Practices 
Board, with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP statement as follows:

Standard of GRAP     Replacing statements of GAAP

GRAP 1:  Presentation of � nancial statements  IAS 1:  Presentation of � nancial statements
 
GRAP 2:  Cash � ow statement    IAS 7:  Cash � ow statements

GRAP 3:  Accounting policies, changes   IAS 8:  Accounting policies, changes in 
   in accounting estimates and errors   accounting estimates and errors

Currently recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP statements do not differ or result 
in material differences in items presented and disclosed in the � nancial statements.  The implementation of GRAP 
1,2 & 3 has resulted in the following signi� cant changes in the presentation of the � nancial statements: 

a)  Terminology differences:

     Standard of GRAP     Replacing statements of GAAP

     Statement of � nancial performance   Income statement
 
     Statement of � nancial position    Balance sheet

     Statement of changes in net assets   Statement of changes in equity

     Net assets      Equity

     Surplus/de� cit for the period    Pro� t/loss for the period

     Accumulated surplus/de� cit    Retained earning

     Reporting date     Balance sheet date

b)  The cash � ow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method.

c)  Speci� c information has been presented separately on the statement of � nancial position such as:
 (i). Receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and transfers
 (ii). Taxes and transfers payable
 (iii). Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions
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THE EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

1.1  Basis of preparation (continued)

d)  Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is required.

Paragraph 11 - 15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented due to the fact that the budget reporting standard has been 
developed by the local standard setter and the international standard is not effective for this � nancial year.  Although 
the inclusion of budget information would enhance the usefulness of the � nancial statements, non-disclosure will not 
affect the objective of the � nancial statement.

1.2  Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises levies received and recognised on the income statement when received in cash.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective 
interest rate over the period to maturity.

1.3  Operating leases
Lease of assets under which all the risks and bene� ts of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor, are 
classi� ed as operating leases.  IAS 17 requires lease payments with a � xed escalation to be recognised on a straight 
line basis over the term of the lease for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005.  Previously, lease 
payments were recognised as incurred.  The effect of this is detailed in note 17.

1.4  Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Cost is determined as the initial acquisition price which 
includes value added taxation less discount.  All other expenditure required to maintain the operational capacity of 
property, plant and equipment is treated as repairs and maintenance and expensed in the statement of � nancial 
performance, unless it meets the recognition criteria in which case it is capitalised. Subsequent property, plant and 
equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is charged so as to write off the 
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method.  Useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed on an annual basis.

 Computer equipment  8 years
 Of� ce equipment   8 years
 Motor vehicles   7 years
 Furniture & � ttings  10 years
 Land & buildings   25 years
 Other � xed assets  8 years

1.5  Impairment
At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant assets is carried at a revalued 
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1.5  Impairment (continued)

amount under another Standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under the 
applicable Standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recovered amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been determined had no impairment loss been recognised  
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another Standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that other standard.

1.6  Financial instruments
Financial assets and � nancial liabilities are recognised on the ELRC’s statement of � nancial position when the ELRC 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial instruments carried on the statement of � nancial position include cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, trade payables and interest bearing borrowings. These instruments are initially recognised at their 
estimated fair value. The particular recognition and measurement methods are disclosed in the individual policy 
statements associated with each item.

1.7  Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, including 
impairment adjustments where necessary.

1.8  Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

1.9  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of bank balances, cash and short-term deposits held by the Council’s treasury 
function. These assets and liabilities approximate their fair value.

1.10  Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of 
any applicable legislation including:
- The PFMA or
- Any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial government.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which they are incurred. 
(See note 15)

1.11  Related party transactions
The entity recognises transactions with public entities within the national sphere of government and outstanding 
balances together with any relationships are disclosed as related party transactions.
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Restated
2008 2007
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2. LEVIES

Average no of educators 390,446             385,257           
Contribution from employee per month 5.00                   1.50                 
Contribution from employer per month 5.00                   1.50                 

Total levies received for the period 35,903,139        13,869,260      
 

3. INVESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME
Interest received 881,256             824,503           
Sundry income 7,800                 9,675               

Total 889,056             834,178           

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

4.1 Summary

2008

Categories   Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carry value

Computer equipment 2,891,457          (1,756,749)      1,134,708      
Office equipment 1,890,935          (1,627,682)      263,253         
Motor vehicles 151,422             (133,392)         18,030           
Furniture & fittings 2,140,758          (1,607,701)      533,057         
Land & buildings 9,412,848          (3,276,437)      6,136,411      
Other fixed asset 223,083             (191,046)         32,037           

  16,710,503        (8,593,007)      8,117,496      

2007  

Categories Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carry value

Computer equipment 2,834,671          (1,406,133)      1,428,538      
Office equipment 1,886,530          (1,407,300)      479,230         
Motor vehicles 151,422             (133,392)         18,030           
Furniture & fittings 2,168,525          (1,489,672)      678,853         
Land & buildings 9,353,669          (2,884,188)      6,469,481      
Other fixed asset 222,436             (162,595)         59,841           

16,617,253        (7,483,280)      9,133,973      
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The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

 2008

Categories
Carrying value 
at beginning of 

year
Additions Disposal Depreciation

Carrying 
value at end 

of year

Computer equipment 1,428,538         74,322        (11,557)          (356,595)        1,134,708      
Office equipment 479,230            11,566        (1,366)            (226,177)        263,253         
Motor vehicles 18,030              -                     18,030           
Furniture & fittings 678,853            21,181        (15,429)          (151,548)        533,057         
Land & buildings 6,469,481         59,180        (392,250)        6,136,411      
Other fixed asset 59,841              649             (28,453)          32,037           

9,133,973         166,898      (28,352)          (1,155,023)     8,117,496      

2,007                          

Categories
 Carrying value 
at beginning of 

year 
 Additions  Disposal  Depreciation 

 Carrying 
value at end 

of year 

Computer equipment 1,476,113         307,611      (11,643)          (343,543)        1,428,538      
Office equipment 980,931            27,938        (294,456)        (235,183)        479,230         
Motor vehicles 39,662              (21,632)          18,030           
Furniture & fittings 922,863            62,732        (93,285)          (213,457)        678,853         
Land & buildings 6,795,145         46,681        (372,345)        6,469,481      
Other fixed asset 87,645               (27,804)          59,841           

10,302,359       444,962      (399,384)        (1,213,964)     9,133,973      

4.2 Land 

Erf 62, die Hoewes extension 26 township, Registration Division
J. R., province of Gauteng, in extent 3019 square metres.
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5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Investment Interest accrued 171,473         27,657           
Prepayments 357,855         112,872         
Rental Deposits 76,904           70,122           
Sundry debtors 138,886         18,421           

745,118         229,072         
  

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   
 

Current account and cash 7,921,849      1,272,197      
Call deposits 15,605,501    4,392,599      
Total 23,527,350    5,664,796      

7. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES   
  

Trade creditors 505,667         983,464         
Accruals 1,109,012      306,056         
Provisions 9,571,497      1,088,147      
Transformation project accounts 821,021         1,324,683      

12,007,197    3,702,350      
  

Provisions comprises of amounts for which services   
have been rendered but for which invoices were 
received after year end.  

 
8. ACCUMULATED FUNDS  

 
Designated funds  20,382,767     11,325,491    

Refer statement of changes in net assets on page Refer statement of changes in net assets on page 113
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9. DEFICIT FROM OPERATIONS

Deficit from operations has been arrived at after taking 
into account the following:

Auditors' remuneration  

~ Statutory audit 733,058           485,420             
733,058           485,420             

Depreciation
Computer equipment and software 356,595           343,543             
Office equipment 226,177           235,183             
Motor vehicles -                       21,632               
Furniture and fittings 151,548           213,457             
Buildings 392,250           372,345             
Other fixed asset 28,453             27,804               

1,155,023        1,213,964          

Staff cost 7,371,733        7,153,000          

No of employees: 34                    35                      

Rentals
Office buildings 1,303,472        1,053,980          

Future minimum lease payments Up to 1year 2 to 5 years
R R
899,658           693,340             
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Key Personnel

Year ended 31/3/2008

Bonus & Pension Other Travel &
Performance Contributions Contributions Housing

Payments Allowance
M Govender 383,606            86,902            69,049             -                       64,644            604,201      
J Moshakga 281,186            50,456            50,613             -                       14,748            397,003      
NO Foca 219,903            39,168            39,306             6,240               15,432            320,049      
NE Shandukani 67,846              -                     10,177             5,260               9,036              92,319        
L Padayachee 229,770            40,709            41,359             6,240               29,832            347,910      
H Worst 257,400            -                     -                       -                       -                     257,400      

1,439,711         217,235          210,504           17,740             133,692          2,018,882   

Year ended 31/3/2007

M Govender 392,563            58,493            70,661             -                       46,596            568,313      
J Moshakga 257,198            23,168            46,296             -                       13,485            340,147      
NO Foca 199,486            17,969            35,908             6,417               26,796            286,576      
NE Shandukani 199,319            18,140            29,898             42,952             25,854            316,163      
L Padayachee 201,195            19,445            36,215             6,481               24,134            287,470      
LJ Seshoka 158,538            15,355            21,693             20,062             10,500            226,148      
H Worst 85,800              -                     -                       -                       -                     85,800        

1,494,099         152,570          240,671           75,912             147,365          2,110,617   

Note: Remuneration is in compliance with the Public Sector grading system for educators.

TotalBasic Salary
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10. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO DEFICIT

Surplus/(Deficit) 9,070,570        (7,279,986)          
Non-cash movements
    Lease smoothing adjustment (13,294)            (64,284)               
    Depreciation 1,155,023        1,213,964            
    Disposal of assets 28,352             399,384               
    Proceeds from replacement of assets (24,610)            (1,875)                 

10,216,041      (5,732,797)          
 
Decrease/(Increase) in accounts receivable (516,046)          119,227               
(Decrease)/Increase in accounts payable 8,304,847        (4,050,180)          

18,004,842      (9,663,750)          
  

11. TAXATION   
The Council is exempt from the payment of income tax in terms of section 10(1) (CA) (I) of the Income 
Tax Act, No. 58 of 1962.

12. GUARANTEE
The Council's bankers have issued no guarantee in respect of the Council's obligations under operating
leases.

13. RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Except for current contributions towards medical and retirement schemes, the Council has no obligation

towards the provision of post retirement benefits for its staff members.

14. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Credit Risk
Credit risk in respect of trade receivables is limited due to the small amount of credit transactions.

Cash Flow Risk
Cash flow risk is the risk that the future cash flow associated with monetary financial instruments will
fluctuate in amount as a result of a change in the effective interest rate of the financial instruments,
without a corresponding change in fair value.Sufficient surplus in the cash and bank balances exist.

Interest Rate Risk
The Council has no significant interest bearing long term liabilities thereby limiting interest rate  
exposure.
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15. IRREGULAR AND FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL 
EXPENDITURE
15.1  The following fruitless and wasteful expenditure  

were incurred during the year:   
Travel and accommodation not cancelled -                     9,396              
Shuttle service bookings not cancelled 2,485             7,980              

2,485             17,376            

15.2  Irregular expenditure was incurred due to fraudulent 
 activity within the organisation by employees.  

Disciplinary steps were taken and criminal 
proceedings have been laid against the perpetrators 
last year.  The bulk of the loss was incurred in prior 
year.

Loss due to inflated/false invoices 2,253,010      
MacRobert Inc Attorneys Legal services 78,066           
PricewaterhouseCoopers Forensic services 562,480         
Larry Shear Disciplinary services 3,000             
Afzal Mosam Disciplinary services 9,120             

2,905,676      

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
16.1 Transactions with the ELRC 
        Transformation Funds

Inter-entity transactions arise due to payment of 
expense by one entity on behalf of the other and 
reimbursement of such.

Opening balance Payable 1,324,683      584,083          

Received 247,015         9,107,669       
Transfers -                     9,088,273       
Expenses 247,015         19,396            

Paid 750,677         8,367,069       
Transfers -                     6,000,000       
Expenses 750,677         2,367,069       

Total -503,662        740,600          
 

Outstanding balance - Payable 821,021         1,324,683       

The balance is interest free, not secured and no guarantees have been given. 
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16.2 Transactions with Public Entities within the national 
 sphere of government

Paid
Telkom 459,984       572,243       
City of Tshwane 344,044       396,893       
Department of Labour 13,455         21,419         
South African Revenue Services 1,168,560    1,161,783    

1,986,043    2,152,338    

17. Effect of IAS 17 lease on retained earnings is as 
follows: 

Accumulated current funds as previously reported - 01/04/2006 1,039,313    
Effect of lease adjustment
Decrease in rental expenses (64,284)        

Accumulated profit/(loss) as restated - 01/04/2006 975,029       
Effect of lease adjustment
Decrease in rental expenses (13,294)        

Accumulated profit/(loss) as restated - 01/04/2007 961,735       

Statement of financial position 
 As previously 

reported 
IAS 17 Restated

as at 31 March 2007
Trade and other receivables 264,047        (34,975)        229,072       

Statement of financial performance 
for the year ended 31 March 2007
Rental 1,083,289     (29,309)        1,053,980    
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Administration expenses

Staff cost 7,371,733         7,153,000       
Telephone, fax costs and postal fees 565,194            709,008          
Rental 1,303,472         1,053,980       
Relocation cost 51,273              22,048            
Water and electricity  183,077            149,573          
Stationery 122,712            120,507          
Cleaning and sanitation  301,627            346,261          
Security 69,643              42,333            
Office expenses 38,842              61,016            
Skills development levy 53,230              54,190            
Unemployment insurance fund contributions 39,722              40,891            
Workmen's compensation 13,455              21,419            

10,113,980       9,774,226       

Other operating expenses

Arbitration and mediation 1,551,613         2,837,694       
Dispute Prevention Support 7,967,333         -                      
Travelling costs  764,468            1,062,601       
Depreciation 1,155,023         1,213,964       
Meals and accommodation 413,776            331,483          
Transcriptions 257,299            2,059,569       
Provincial chambers 96,282              260,245          
Workshops 83,156              604,730          
Audit fees 733,058            485,420          
Meetings 1,848,999         353,941          
Electronic media 408,983            578,241          
Insurance 132,791            145,915          
Repairs and maintenance 193,516            222,471          
Legal costs 205,283            481,436          
Consulting fees 1,143,379         461,000          
Advertising & Recruitment  140,277            171,167          
Printing and publications  69,856              106,929          
Motor vehicle expenses 56,615              41,120            
Bank charges 33,386              34,826            
Interest Expense 67,551              -                      
Staff training 179,153            295,443          
Subscriptions 75,900              57,582            
RSC levies -                       5,203              
Sundry 25,030              10,477            
Disposal of assets 4,917                387,741          

17,607,644       12,209,198     
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

I have audited the accompanying � nancial statements of the Transformation Funds administered by the Education 1. 
Labour Relations Council which comprise the statement of � nancial position as at 31 March 2008, the statement 
of � nancial performance, statement of changes in net assets and cash � ow statement for the year then ended, 
and a summary of signi� cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 137 to 147.

Responsibility of the accounting authority for the � nancial statements

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these � nancial statements 2. 
in accordance with the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in note 1.1 to the 
� nancial statements and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 
1999) (PFMA). This responsibility includes: 

designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of • 
� nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies• 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.• 

Responsibility of the Auditor-General

As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the 3. 
Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these � nancial 
statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing and 4. General Notice 616 of 
2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the � nancial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

Responsibility of the Auditor-General 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 5. 
� nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the � nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the � nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.

An audit also includes evaluating the:6. 
appropriateness of accounting policies used• 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management• 
overall presentation of the � nancial statements.• 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suf� cient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 7. 
opinion.

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF THE TRANSFORMATION FUND OF THE EDUCATION
LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2008
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Basis of accounting

The public entity’s policy is to prepare � nancial statements on the basis of accounting determined by the National 8. 
Treasury, as set out in note 1.1 to the � nancial statements.

Opinion 

In my opinion the � nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects,9.  the � nancial position of the 
Transformation Funds administered by the Education Labour Relations Council as at 31 March 2008 and its 
� nancial performance and cash � ows for the year then ended, in accordance with the basis of accounting 
determined by the National Treasury, as set out in note 1.1 to the � nancial statements and in the manner 
required by the PFMA.

OTHER MATTERS

Without qualifying my audit opinion, I draw attention to the following matters that relate to my responsibilities in the 
audit of the � nancial statements:   

Matters of governance

The PFMA tasks the accounting authority with a number of responsibilities concerning � nancial and risk 10. 
management and internal control. Fundamental to achieving this is the implementation of certain key governance 
responsibilities, which I have assessed as follows:

Matter of governance Yes No

Audit committee

The entity had an audit committee in operation throughout the � nancial year.• �

The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, written terms of • 
reference.

�

The audit committee substantially ful� lled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in • 
section 77 of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.10/27.1.8.

�

Internal audit

The public entity had an internal audit function in operation throughout the � nancial • 
year.

�

The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved internal audit plan.• �

The internal audit function substantially ful� lled its responsibilities for the year, as set • 
out in Treasury Regulation 3.2/27.2.

�

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF THE TRANSFORMATION FUND OF THE EDUCATION
LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2008 (continued)
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Matter of governance Yes No

Other matters of governance

The annual � nancial statements were submitted for audit as per the legislated deadlines • 
(section 55 of the PFMA).

�

The � nancial statements submitted for audit were not subject to any material • 
amendments resulting from the audit.

�

No signi� cant dif� culties were experienced during the audit concerning delays or the • 
unavailability of expected information and/or the unavailability of senior management.

�

The prior year's external audit recommendations have been substantially • 
implemented.

�

Unaudited supplementary schedules

11. The supplementary information set out on pages 148 to 151 does not form part of the � nancial statements and 
is presented as additional information. I have not audited this information.

APPRECIATION

12. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Transformation Funds administered by the Education Labour Relations 
Council during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

Pretoria

30 July 2008

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF THE TRANSFORMATION FUND OF THE EDUCATION
LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2008 (continued)
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No 1 of 1999), as amended, requires the Accounting Authority to 
ensure that the Council keeps full and proper records of its � nancial affairs. The annual � nancial statements should 
fairly present the state of affairs of the Council, its � nancial results, its performance against predetermined objectives 
and its � nancial position at the end of the year in terms of Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
(GRAP). 

The � nancial statements are the responsibility of the Accounting Authority. The Auditor General is responsible for 
independently auditing and reporting on the � nancial statements. The Of� ce of the Auditor General has audited the 
� nancial statements and the report appears on page 131 and 133.

The � nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting 
Practices Board, with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statement. These � nancial statements are based on 
appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Accounting Authority has reviewed the Council’s budget and cash � ow forecasts for the year 
ended 31 March 2008. On the basis of this review, and in view of the current � nancial position, the Accounting 
Authority has every reason to believe that funds set aside for the projects will be depleted in the year ahead.

The Accounting Authority sets standards to enable management to meet the above responsibilities by The 
Accounting Authority sets standards to enable management to meet the above responsibilities by implementing 
systems of internal control and risk management that are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance 
against material misstatements and losses. The Council maintains internal � nancial controls to provide assurance 
regarding:  1. The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposition
  2. The maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of � nancial information  
   used within the business or for publication.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

TRANSFORMATION FUNDS

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct de� ciencies as they are identi� ed. 
Even an effective system of internal control, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the 
possibility of circumvention or the overriding of controls. An effective system of internal control therefore aims to 
provide reasonable assurance with respect to the reliability of � nancial information and, in particular, � nancial 
statements presentation. Furthermore, because of change in conditions, the effectiveness of internal controls may 
vary over time. 

The Accounting Authority has reviewed the Council’s system of internal control and risk management for the period 
April 2007 to March 2008. The Accounting Authority is of the opinion that the Council’s system of internal control and 
risk management were effective for the period under review. 

In the opinion of the Accounting Authority, based on the information available to date, the � nancial statements 
fairly present the � nancial position of the Council at 31 March 2008 and the results of its operations and cash � ow 
information for the year. 

The � nancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008, set out on pages 134 to 151, were submitted for auditing 
on 30 May 2008 and approved by the Accounting Authority in terms  of section 51 (1) (f) of the Public Finance 
Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) as amended and are signed on its behalf by: 

NO FOCA                                                              M J Moshakga      
Acting General Secretary                                               Chief Financial Of� cer

M J Moshakga      NO FFFOCOCOCA AA        
Actingngg G GGeeeneral Secret
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TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY'S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2008

The Accounting Authority presents its report that forms part of the audited Annual Financial Statements of the ELRC 
for 31 March 2008. 

1. Principal Activities of the Transformation Funds

The funds were set aside for the following activities/projects in terms of Resolution No 2 of 1999:
The investigation and development of materials and programmes for the upgrading of quali� cations of “unquali� ed” 
and “under-quali� ed” educators. The funding of substitute educators as a result of the secondment of fulltime 
shop stewards in education. The funding of the Public Service Job Summit and the implementation of resolutions 
emanating from it. Developing materials and transformation programmes for reskilling of educators. Research and 
development activities.

2. Review of operations

a)  Trust Funds

 The amount of funds disclosed in the annual � nancial statements is R4,759,596  (2007: R5,474,385).  
 Expenditure incurred for the various funds is R 1,452,841 (2007: R10,632,536). The expenses for the 
 utilisation of these funds for the period under review are disclosed in the � nancial statements.  
 Commitments for the 2008-2009 year are as follows:            - CCMA training.
        - Research & Development

 In terms of the decision of the HEDCOM, all funds not collected by provincial departments in respect of  
 FTSS claims must be transferred to the National Department of Education. 

 Events subsequent to Statement of Financial Position date 
 The Accounting Authority is not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the 
 � nancial year, not otherwise dealt with in the report or annual � nancial statements that would
 affect the results of the operations of the transformation funds signi� cantly. 

 Accounting Authority’s interest in contracts
 No contracts involving the Accounting Authority’s interest were entered into, on behalf of the funds, in the  
 current � nancial year. 

3. Approval by Accounting Authority

The Accounting Of� cer (General Secretary) shall present this report to the Accounting Authority at its Annual 
General Meeting on 14 August 2008 for its approval.

                                             
ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY
NO FOCA
(ACTING GENERAL SECRETARY)

Date: 24 July 2008

COUNNNTIIING AUTHOR
FOCCCA
TING G G GEGEGENERAL SEC
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2008 2007
R R

INCOME 738,052           929,187           

Interest received 738,052           929,187           

EXPENDITURE 1,452,841        10,632,536      

Transformation Fund 62,971             200,484           
Research and Development Fund 688,377           2,633,807        
Shop Stewards Fund -                       1,760,028        
Special Programmes Fund 701,493           6,038,217        

Net deficit for the year (714,789)          (9,703,349)       

 
 
 

NB: For details of expenditure of funds, see statement set out on pages 18 to 21.

TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

NB: For details of expenditure of funds, see statement set out on pages 148 - 151
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TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2008

2008 2007
Notes R R

ASSETS

Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 2 78,816                108,830          

Current Assets 7,376,623 10,805,447

Trade and other receivables 3 882,321              1,401,286       
Cash and cash-equivalents 4 6,494,302           9,404,161       

Total Assets 7,455,439 10,914,277

LIABILITIES

Current  Liabilities

Trade and other payables 5 2,695,843           5,439,892       

Total  Liabilities 2,695,843           5,439,892       

Net Assets 4,759,596           5,474,385       

NET ASSETS

Trust Funds 6 4,759,596           5,474,385       

Total Net Assets 4,759,596           5,474,385       
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TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

2008 2007
Notes R R

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Receipts   
    Investment income 717,434             112,518           
    Earmarked funds for projects -                         5,708,071        
Payments
    Suppliers (3,627,293)         (14,308,538)    

Net cash outflow from operating activities 7 (2,909,859)         (8,487,949)      

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,909,859)         (8,487,949)      
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 9,404,161          17,892,110      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 4 6,494,302          9,404,161        
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TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED '31 MARCH 2008

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1  Basis of preparation

The � nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African  Statements of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) including any interpretations of such statements issued by the Accounting 
Practices Board, with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP statement as follows:

Standard of GRAP           Replacing statements of GAAP

GRAP 1:  Presentation of � nancial statements IAS 1:   Presentation of � nancial statements

GRAP 2:  Cash � ow statement   IAS 7:   Cash � ow statements

GRAP 3: Accounting policies, changes in   IAS 8: Accounting policies, changes in
  accounting estimates and errors   accounting estimates and errors

The recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP statements do not differ or result in 
material differences in items presented and disclosed in the � nancial statements.  The implementation of GRAP 1, 2 
& 3 has resulted in the following signi� cant changes in the presentation of the � nancial statements:

a)  Terminalogy differences:

     Standard of GRAP     Replacing statements of GAAP
 
     Statement of � nancial performance   Income statement

     Statement of � nancial position    Balance sheet
 
     Statement of change in net assets   Statement of change in equity

     Net assets      Equity

     Surplus/de� cit for the period    Pro� t/loss for the period

     Accumulated surplus/de� cit    Retained earning
    
     Reporting date     Balance sheet date
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TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED '31 MARCH 2008

b)  The cash � ow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method.

c)  Speci� c information has been presented separately on the statement of � nancial
     position such as:
 (i). Receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and transfers
 (ii). Taxes  and transfers payable
 (iii).Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions

d)  Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is required. Paragraph 11 - 15 of GRAP 1 has not been 
implemented due to the fact that the budget reporting standard has been developed by the local standard setter and 
the international standard is not effective for this � nancial year.  Although the inclusion of budget information would 
enhance the usefulness of the � nancial statements, non-disclosure will not affect fair presentation.

1.2  Revenue recognition
Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective 
interest rate over the period to maturity.

1.3  Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost.  Cost is determined  as the initial acquisition price 
which includes value added taxation less discount. All other expenditure required to maintain the operational capacity 
of property, plant and equipment is treated as repairs and maintenance and expensed in the � nancial performance 
statement.  Subsequently property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.  

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line 
method.

Computer equipment   8 years

1.4  Financial instruments
Financial assets and � nancial liabilities are recognised on the Transformation Funds � nancial position when the 
Funds becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial instruments carried on the � nancial position include cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables 
and interest bearing borrowing. These instruments are initially recognised at their estimated fair value. The particular 
recognition and measurement methods are disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each item.
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TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED '31 MARCH 2008

1.5  Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

1.6  Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

1.7  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of both bank balances and short term deposits held by the fund’s treasury 
function. These assets and liabilities approximate to their fair value.

1.8  Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of 
any applicable legislation including:
- The PFMA or
- Any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in  that provincial government.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which they are 
incurred.

1.9  Related party transactions
The entity recognises transactions with public entities within the national sphere of government and outstanding 
balances together with any relationships are disclosed as related party transactions.
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TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2008

2. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2.1 Summary

2008

Categories Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carry value

Computer equipment 240,111              (161,295)            78,816               
240,111              (161,295)            78,816               

2007

Categories Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carry value

Computer equipment 240,111              (131,281)            108,830             
240,111              (131,281)            108,830             

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

2008

Categories
Carrying value at 
beginning of year

Depreciation
Carrying value at 

end of year

Computer equipment 108,830              30,014               78,816               
108,830              30,014               78,816               

2007

Categories
Carrying value at 
beginning of year

Depreciation
Carrying value at 

end of year

Computer equipment 138,844              30,014               108,830             
138,844              30,014               108,830             
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TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2008

2008 2007
R R

3. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Interest receivable 54,878                34,261               
Council account 821,021              1,324,683          
Trade debtors 6,422                  42,342               

882,321              1,401,286          

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 

Call deposits 5,745,425           8,580,805          
Current account balance 748,877              823,356             
Total 6,494,302           9,404,161          

5. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade creditors 83,349                63,172               
Accruals 6,087                  71,731               
Department of Education(DOE) 2,606,407           4,326,406          
Provisions -                         978,583             

2,695,843           5,439,892          

6. TRUST FUNDS R R

Trust Funds 4,759,596           5,474,385          

Refer Statement of Changes in Net Assets on page 9Refer statement of changes in net assets on page 139
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2008 2007
R R

7. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO DEFICIT

Surplus/(Deficit) (714,789)                (9,703,349)          
Non-cash movements
Depreciation 30,014 30,014

(684,775)                (9,673,335)          
   
Increase in transfer -                         5,708,071           
Decrease/(Increase) in accounts receivable 518,965                 (816,668)             
(Decrease)/Increase in accounts payable (2,744,049)             (3,706,017)          

(2,909,859)             (8,487,949)          
  

8. COMMITMENTS  

Expenditure contracted for at reporting date but not recognised in the  
financial statements amounts to approximately R1,510,009
(2007 - R5,297,479).

9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Credit Risk

Credit risk in respect of trade receivables is limited due to the small 
amount of credit transactions.
 
Cash Flow Risk

Cash flow risk is the risk that the future cash flow associated with 
monetary financial instruments will fluctuate in amount as a result of a
change in the effective interest rate of the financial instruments, without 
a corresponding change in fair value.  Sufficient surplus in the cash and
cash equivalents exist.
 
Interest Rate Risk

The Funds has no significant interest bearing long term liabilities thereby 
limiting interest rate exposure.  

10. IRREGULAR AND FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

During the financial year no irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure occurred.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2008
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11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

11.1 Transactions with the ELRC 

Inter-entity transactions arise due to payment of expenses by one entity on behalf of the other and
reimbursement of such.

2008 2007
R R

Amount Amount
of the of the

transaction transaction

Opening Balance - Receivable 1,324,683          584,084          

Received 750,676             8,367,069       
Transfers -                         6,000,000       
Expenses 750,676              2,367,069       

Paid 247,014              9,107,668       
Transfers -                         9,088,273       
Expenses 247,014              19,395            

Total (503,662)            (740,599)        

Outstanding balance - Receivable 821,021             1,324,683       

The balance is interest free, not secured and no guarantees have been given.

No provision has been made for bad or doubtful debts due from related parties.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2008
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2008 2007
R R

EXPENDITURE

Audit fees -                     159,300         
Bank charges 660                1,333             
Interest expense 20,225           -                     
Bad debt 8,555             -                     
Legal fees -                     2,348             
Depreciation 30,014           30,014           
Refreshments 3,517             2,623             
Printing -                     4,866             

Total for the year 62,971           200,484         

TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
EXPENDITURE FOR THE TRANSFORMATION FUND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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2008 2007
R R

EXPENDITURE

CCMA Training 396,360             2,508,089         
Curriculum 2005 -                         (17,809)             
Policy handbook for educators 292,017             143,527            

Total for the year 688,377             2,633,807         

TRANSFORMATION FUNDS

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
EXPENDITURE FOR THE RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT FUND FOR 
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2008 2007
R R

EXPENDITURE

Remuneration paid 1,760,028           

Total for the year -                         1,760,028           

TRANSFORMATION FUNDS
EXPENDITURE FOR THE SHOP STEWARDS FUND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

 

2008 2007
R R

EXPENDITURE

CCEM & ELRC Seminar (181,760)             2,129,182            
IIRA Congress -                           646,151               
FETC 858,460               -                           
Study Visit 24,793                 3,262,884            

Total for the year 701,493               6,038,217            

TRANSFORMTION FUNDS
EXPENDITURE FOR THE SPECIAL PROGRAMMES FUND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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EXECUTIVE SERVICES
 
General Secretary / Accounting Of� cer 
Mr M Govender 
   
Tel: (012) 663 0432
Fax: (012) 663 3418
E-mail: gen.sec@elrc.co.za

Executive Support and Client Liaison
    
Tel: (012) 663 0432
Fax:  (012) 663 3418
E-mail: exe.sclo@elrc.co.za

Chief Financial Of� cer 
Mr J Moshakga   
  
Tel:  (012) 663 0451
Fax:  (012) 663 9604
E-mail: cfo@elrc.co.za

Human Resource Administrator
  
Tel:  (012) 663 0437
Fax:  (012) 663 3418
E-mail: hrm@elrc.co.za
 

CIRA Media Manager
Mr H Worst

Tel:  (012) 663 0442
Fax:  (012) 663 9604
E-mail: media.man@elrc.co.za

CIRA Media Of� cer
Ms B Davids

Tel: (012) 663 0432
Fax: (012) 663 9604
Email: media.pro@elrc.co.za

HEAD OFFICE

Physical Address:     
  
ELRC Building  
261 West Avenue 
Centurion 
 
Tel: (012) 663 7446
Fax:  (012) 663 9604
E-mail: admin.of� ce@elrc.co.za
Website: www.elrc.org.za

Postal Address: 
  
Education Labour 
Relations Council 
Private Bag X 126
Centurion 
0046

CONTACTS
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DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
SERVICES 

Acting Managing Senior Commissioner 
Mr R Naidoo
 
Tel:  (012) 663 0436
Fax:  (012) 663 9604
Email: manager.drs@elrc.co.za
 

Case Management Administrator
Ms E Naidoo

Tel:  (012) 663 0458
Fax:  (012) 663 1600
Email: cma.drs@elrc.co.za

Case Management Of� cer
Ms B Nkosi
   
Tel: (012) 663 0434
Fax: (012) 643 1600 
E-mail: cmo2@elrc.co.za

Case Management Of� cer 
Mr S Skweyiya
   
Tel: (012) 663 0434
Fax: (012) 643 1600
E-mail: cmo1@elrc.co.za

NEGOTIATION SUPPORT 
SERVICES 

Senior Manager  
Ms N O Foca
  
Tel: (012) 663 0440
Fax: (012) 663 8189
E-mail: hod.neg@elrc.co.za

Manager: NSS
Ms A Ngobeni

Tel: (012) 663 0448
Fax: (012) 663 8189
Email:  manager.nss@elrc.co.za

 
Administrator: NSS
Ms M Milne
  
Tel:  (012) 663 0457
Fax:  (012) 663 8189
E-mail:   neg.amg@elrc.co.za
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CORPORATE SERVICES  

Senior Manager 
Ms  L   Padayachee
 
Tel:      (012) 663 0449
Fax:     (012) 663 9604
E-mail: corporate.hod@elrc.co.za

Administrator: Finance and Administration 
Ms S Meyer 

Tel:  (012) 663 0448
Fax:  (012) 663 9604
E-mail: corporate.amg@elrc.co.za

Senior Of� cer: Admin Services
Mr M Sijendu

Tel: (012) 663 0444
Fax: (012) 663 9604
E-mail: admin.services@elrc.co.za

Receptionist
Mrs L Mathabathe
   
Tel:  (012) 663 7446
Fax:  (012) 663 9604
E-mail: admin.of� ce@elrc.co.za
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PROVINCIAL OFFICES 

Eastern Cape 
Nosisa Siwendu

Bisho Business Village Block A, Unit 2
Siswani Avenue 
Bisho
5605

Tel: 040 639 3535 
Fax: 040 636 3562

Free State
Rose Sefotlhelo

Address: Business Partners Building 
Cnr East-Burger and Henry Street 
Bloemfontein 
9300

Tel:  051 430 8927
Fax:  051 430 5803

Gauteng
Sharon Cawa

6th Floor, Standard Bank House 
20 Albert Street 
Johannesburg 
2000
  
Tel:  011 838 3155
Fax:  011 833 7140

KwaZulu-Natal  
Vusi Mhlaba

55 Church Road
Red Hill
Durban
4071

Tel:  031 573 1777
Fax:  031 573 1779

Limpopo 
 
49 Landros Mare, Standard Bank Building 
3rd Floor Of� ce 3005
Polokwane
0700

Tel:  015 291 1460/56
Fax:  015 295 3090

Mpumalanga  

17 Louis Trichard Street
2nd Floor Old Mutual Building 
Nelspruit
1200 

Tel:  013 755 3404
Fax:  013 752 6769

Northern Cape
Ursula Rasego

95 Du Toit Span Building Suite 13  
Du Toit Span Road
Kimberley
8300

Tel: 053 832 0247
Fax:  053 832 0248

North West

Address: 134 Beyers Naude Street
1st Floor, Mimosa building
Protea Park
Rustenburg
0300

Tel:  014 592 0085
Fax:  014 594 2427

Western Cape 
Bernie Tataw

Sunbell Building,12th Floor
Cnr Old Paarl and 
Voortrekker Road
Belville
7530   

Tel: 021 945 3055
Fax:  021 9451254
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GLOSSARY

 All Africa Teachers’ Organisation
 Adult Basic Education and Training          
  Advanced Certi� cate in Education          
  African Federation of Teachers          
  Basic Conditions of Employment Act          
  Collective Agreement          
  Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration
  Centre for Education Policy Development
  Communication, Information, Reporting, and Accounting
 Congress of South African Trades Unions
  Cape Teachers Professional Association
  Director General
  Durban Housing Action Committee
  Department of Education
  Departmental Training Committee
  Early Childhood Development
 Education Development and Support Centre
  Employment Equity
  Education International
 Education Labour Relations Council
 Education Management and Development Centre
 Education Management Information Systems
  ELRC Executive Committee
  Further Education and Training Colleges
 Further Education and Training
  Full Time Equivalent
  Full-time Shop Steward
 General Education and Training
  Higher Education Institutions
 Head of Department
  Human Sciences Research Council

AATO
ABET

ACE
AFT

BCEA
CA

CCMA
CEPD
CIRA

COSATU
CTPA

DG
DHAC

DoE
DTC
ECD

EDSC
EE
EI

ELRC
EMDC
EMIS

EXCO
FETC

FET
FTE

FTSS
GET
HEIs
HOD

HSRC
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IIRA  International Industrial Relations Association
IRasa  Industrial Relations Association of South Africa
IQMS  Integrated Quality Management Systems 
IRASA  Industrial Relations Association of South Africa
ISC  Institution Support Co-ordinators
LRA  Labour Relations Act
LSEN  Learners with Special Education Needs
LTSM  Learner Teacher Support Material
MTEF  Medium Term Expenditure Framework
NAPTOSA National Professional Teachers Organisation of South Africa
NATU  National Teachers Union
NCED  Northern Cape Education Department
NCS  National Curriculum Statement
NPDE  National Professional Diploma in Education
NQF  National Quali� cations Framework
NTA  National Teaching Awards
OSD  Occupation Speci� c Dispensation
PCTA  Prevention, Care, Treatment and Access
PPN  Post Provisioning Norms
PSCBC  Public Service Coordinating Bargaining Committee
PTU  Progressive Teachers Union
RBP  Relationship Building Process
SACE  South African Council of Educators
SADTU  South African Democratic Teachers Union
SATO  Southern Africa Teachers Organisation
SS  Shop Stewards
UDM  United Democratic Movement
UNISA  University of South Africa
WSP  Workplace Skills Plan
WSE  Whole School Evaluation
WCED  Western Cape Education Department
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ANNEXURE A:  
 CCMA TRAINING REPORT  

1. AUTHORITY

At an EXCO meeting held on 22 November 2005 the following mandate was rati� ed by parties to the Council: 

That a Task Team meet to discuss and � nalise the co-ordination of the training programme and mandate the 
General Secretary for implementation. The training programme of Dispute Resolution Practitioners from the 
Educator Unions and Department of Education was approved.

In accordance with the aforementioned mandate, the training of Dispute Resolution Practitioners on the accredited 
CCMA commissioner modules took place in all nine provinces. The training commenced in the second quarter 
of 2006 and was completed in 2007. 

CCMA 
TRAINING
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The following core modules were the subject of the training:

Substantive Law
Conciliation
Jurisdictional Rulings
Managing Dismissals
Arbitration 1
Arbitration 2

2. PURPOSE

The purpose of the training was to empower Dispute Resolution Practitioners, who were involved in dispute 
resolution and prevention activities, with the relevant knowledge on labour law and the practical application 
thereof.   

3. NUMBER OF PARTICIPANTS PER MODULE 

Originally it was envisaged that 240 Dispute Resolution Practitioners would be trained from both the 
Department of Education and the Educator Unions. A total of 187 practitioners initially enrolled for the 
training. Of the 187 practitioners 135 proceeded to write the examinations for the initial module (substantive 
law). The table below re� ects the level of participation per module and the success rate of the participants 
per module.

CCMA Module Number Successfully 
completed

Number Unsuccessful Total Enrolled for 
Module

Substantive Law 124 11 135

Conciliation 124 0 124

Jurisdictional Rulings 90 34 124

Managing Dismissals 85 9 94

Arbitration 1 70 3 73

Arbitration 2 43 31 74

Of the 135 practitioners who initially wrote the examinations for the � rst module, approximately 89% of the 
practitioners managed to complete at least three modules of the training ( Substantive law, Conciliation, 
Jurisdictional Rulings). Fifty percent of the originally enrolled participants managed to complete all the 
modules. 

For the Arbitration modules, Mpumalanga and Limpopo were combined, as well as the Northern Cape and 
Free State were combined due to the decline in the number of participants in those provinces. 
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The intention of exposing the participants to the CCMA training was to give them a grounding and insight into 
the substantive area of Labour Law as well as to equip them with a practical approach to conciliation and 
arbitration. Whilst only 50% of the initial participants managed to be exposed to all six modules, a signi� cant 
number of practitioners were equipped with the basic skill to approach labour disputes. This in itself is a great 
bene� t to both the unions and the employer alike in empowering their representatives to be more au fait with 
the labour law and practical implementation thereof.

4. BUDGET AND EXPENDITURE

As at 30/03 2008

Expendure items Budget Expense Available

  Actual (+)

 R R  

    

CCMA Disbursement      430,880.00      526,800.00       -95,920.00 

     

Facilitators Cost  3,673,206.50  2,119,141.76  1,554,064.24 

Juta's Pocket Statues Library        62,913.50        75,472.00       -12,558.50 

Refreshments        70,000.00        93,417.12       -23,417.12 

Logistical expenses      120,000.00        89,617.96        30,382.04 

    

  4,357,000.00  2,904,449.34  1,452,550.66 

A total of R 4, 357 million was budgeted for the project. The actual expenditure for the project amounted to 
R2, 904,443. A savings of R 1,452,550 was realised on the project. The disbursement to the CCMA for the 
development and use of the training material amounted to R 526,800.00. The facilitators cost to conduct 
the actual training amounted to R 2, 119,141.00. An amount of R 75,472.00 was spent on the provision of 
the Juta’s Pocket Statute Library. Initially this item was under budgeted and therefore exceeded the budget 
expectation by R 12, 558.00.  The actual amount spent on refreshments amounted to R 93 417.00. This 
exceeded the projected budget for the line item by R23 417.00. This was due to the fact that the catering cost 
from supplier to supplier in the different provinces varied. Provision was also made for additional training 
sessions in certain modules for participants who were not successful on the � rst attempt. This contributed 
to the added catering cost.
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5. SUMMARY OF TRAINING CONDUCTED

Substantive Law

Province Date Facilitator

Free State 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006 Keketso Moahloli

North West 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006 Nad Murugan

Gauteng 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006 Pat Stone

Kwazulu-Natal 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006 Anand Jugath

KZN- Diakonia 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006 Khabo Mamba

Limpopo 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006 A M Carrim/ A Osman

Western Cape 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006
Sarah Christie/Bella 
Goldman

Eastern Cape 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006 Luvuyo Bono

Mpumalanga 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006 Marion Fouche

Northern Cape 26 Sept - 30 Sept 2006 Saleem Seedat

Conciliation

Province Date Facilitator

Free State 16 Oct - 20 Oct 2006  Marion Fouche

North West 16 Oct - 20 Oct 2006 Nad Murugan

Gauteng 16 Oct - 20 Oct 2006 K C Moodley

Kwazulu-Natal 16 Oct - 20 Oct 2006 Luvuyo Bono

KZN- Diakonia 16 Oct - 20 Oct 2006 Khabo Mamba

Limpopo 16 Oct - 20 Oct 2006 Winnie Everett

Western Cape 16 Oct - 20 Oct 2006 Bella Goldman

Eastern Cape- Bisho 16 Oct - 19 Oct 2006 Miles Hartford

Mpumalanga 16 Oct - 20 Oct 2006 Larry Shear

Northern Cape 16 Oct - 19 Oct 2006 Elias Maponya
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Jurisdictional Rulings

Province Date Facilitator

Free State 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Steven Mabalane

North West 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Khabo Mamba

Gauteng 14 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Larry Shear

Kwazulu-Natal 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Winnie Everrett

KZN- Diakonia 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Lungile Zondi

Limpopo 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 A Osman

Western Cape 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Sarah Christie

Eastern Cape- PE 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Luvuyo Bono

Eastern Cape-EL 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Bella Goldman

Mpumalanga 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Elias Maponya

Northern Cape 13 Nov - 17 Nov 2006 Keketso Moahloli

Limpopo 8 Dec 2006 & 11 Dec 2006 Khabo Mamba

Mpumalanga 24 Jan 07 & 26 Jan 07 Khabo Mamba

North West 11 Dec 2006 & 15 Dec 2006 Pat Stone

Eestern Cape 8 Dec 2006 & 11 Dec 2006 Luvuyo Bono

Northern Cape 11-Dec-06 Elias Maponya

Kwazulu Natal 30-Jan-07 N G Winfred

Bloemfontein 08-Dec-06 S Seedat

Kwazulu Natal 20 - 22 Nove 2006 K C Moodley

166
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Managing Dismissals

Province Date Facilitator

Free State 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 Khabo Mamba

North West 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 Pat Stone

Gauteng 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 Mapalo Tsatsimpe

Kwazulu-Natal 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 Richard Lyster

KZN- Diakonia 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 A L Jugath

Limpopo 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 Elias maponya

Western Cape 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 Luvuyo Bono

Eastern Cape- PE 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 Saleem Seedat

Eastern Cape-EL 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 J A van der Walt

Mpumalanga 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 Winnie Everett

Northern Cape 05 Feb - 09 Feb 2007 Keketso Moahloli

KZN- Diakonia 12 February 2007 A L Jugath

Eastern Cape- PE 12 February 2007 Luvuyo Bono

North West 18 May 2007 Khabo Mamba

Free State 19 May 2007 Khabo Mamba

Northern Cape 21 May 2007 Khabo Mamba

Arbitration 1

Province Date Facilitator

Gauteng 13 Aug - 17 Aug 2007 Saleem Seedat

Kwazulu-Natal 13 Aug - 17 Aug 2007 Richard Lyster

Limpopo 13 Aug - 17 Aug 2007 Mapalo Tsatsimpe

Northern Cape 13 Aug - 17 Aug 2007 Elias Maponya

Arbitration 2

Province Date Facilitator

North West 25 Sept - 28 Sept 2007 Faizel Mooi

Gauteng 26 Sept - 28 Sept 2007 Khabo mamba

Gauteng 25-Sep-07 A Osman

Kwazulu Natal 25 -28 Sept 2007 & 1 Oct 2007 K C Moodley

Limpopo 25 Sept - 28 Sept 2007 Elias Maponya

Western Cape 25 Sept - 29 Sept 2007 Bella Goldman

Eastern Cape- PE 25 Sept - 28 Sept 2007 J A van der Walt

It is envisaged that an additional arbitration module will be catered for in the 2008/2009 � nancial year to give those 
participants, who were not successful in those modules, an opportunity to complete the training in its entirety.
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ANNEXURE B:  
 OCCUPATION SPECIFIC DISPENSATION  

INTRODUCTION1. 

1.1 PSCBC Resolution No. 1 of 2007: “Agreement on improvement in salaries and other 
conditions of service for the � nancial years 2007/2008 to 2010/2011” was concluded on 5th 
July 2007.

The resolution indicates in clause:

4.13 “These dispensations will be implemented over the next three years commencing 
with effect from 1 July 2007.  The priorities for implementation for new occupations 
will be determined by agreement with the sectoral bargaining council.”

 
 4.14 “The revised salary structure per occupation shall be implemented as 

follows:-“

4.14.2 “Education Sector:-

OSD
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All school based educators, with effect from 1 January 2008;1.1.1.1 
Of� ce based educators, with effect from 1 April 2008;1.1.1.2 
Educator specialist – Counsellors, therapists, and psychologist  – with effect from 1 1.1.1.3 
April 2008.”

 
PSCBC Resolution No. 4 of 2007:  Amendments to Resolution 1 of 2007 (Extension 1.2 
of Timeframes) – 14 November 2007

“Clause 4.1.1 To allow the ELRC to � nalise the revised occupational salary 
structure for all school based educators by 1 March 2008.”

The purpose of this report is:1.3 

To record the extent of the work accomplished to date; and(a) 
To outline the facilitation of the implementation of Collective Agreement 1 (b) 
and 2 of 2008.

NEGOTIATIONS, DELIBERATIONS AND FACILITATION2. 

Bargaining and Special Bargaining Meetings2.1 

2.1.1 Subsequent to the PSCBC Resolution No. 1 of 2007 the ELRC convened 
the following meetings to negotiate the draft Collective Agreement on OSD 
tabled by the Department of Education:

6 September 20071) 
13 September 20072) 
20 September 20073) 
1 October 20074) 
28 November 20075) 
3 December 20076) 

2.1.2 After intense negotiations parties to Council could not reach agreement 
and therefore the following interventions took place:

On the 14(1) th January 2008 the DG of the DOE extended an invitation 
to the principals of trade unions in the ELRC to explore resolution/
agreement on OSD. 

On the 22(2) nd January 2008 the education trade unions had discussions 
to formulate a common position on OSD.

On the 23(3) rd January 2008 an ELRC report on OSD was tabled at 
PSCBC after which the matter was referred back to the ELRC.

Subsequent to the DG’s invitation, CTU-SADTU met with the DDG on (4) 
the 24th January 2008 to explore a resolution on OSD.  Both parties 
agreed on a process of facilitation.

On 25(5) th January 2008, following a discussion between the General 
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Secretary and the late Mr D Pasquallie the following dates were 
identi� ed for the OSD facilitation meeting 4-6 February 2008 with Mr 
Brian Currin as the facilitator.

On 28-31 January 2008 preparation meetings between Mr Brian Currin (6) 
and parties to Council for the facilitation meeting took place.

 2.2 OSD Facilitation meetings

2.2.1 The facilitation meetings between Mr Brian Currin and parties to Council were 
convened to reach consensus on the Collective Agreement:

15 February 2008 1) 
19 February 2008 2) 
21 February 2008 3) 
25 February 20084) 

 2.3 Report on the Facilitation Process

Mr Brian Currin was advised at the outset that in terms of the referral resolution of 
the PSCBC, the deadline for reaching an agreement would be by 29 February 2008. 
During negotiations on 28th February 2008, notwithstanding progress, the parties did 
not reach an agreement. 

Based on Mr Currin’s redraft of sections of the proposed collective agreement, both 
the employer and employee parties felt that progress was being made and undertook 
to seek fresh mandates. The Department of Education placed on record that it was 
not within their remit to extend the deadline of 29 February 2008. In the circumstances 

the Department of Education requested that mandates be sought urgently and that 
negotiations continue on 29 February 2008. 

The union parties indicated that it would not be possible for them to obtain mandates 
within such a short period. In the circumstances, but without in any way undermining 
the integrity of the deadline as per the PSCBC referral, the General Secretary invited 
the union parties to approach the Council once mandates had been obtained. He 
would then advise the Department of Education accordingly, and if appropriate would 
convene further negotiations.

 In summary, the parties could not resolve their dispute. 

Intervention1.4 

The General Secretary of the ELRC convened a number of meetings with leaders of 
parties in order to � nd consensus.

The following Special Bargaining meetings were convened.

17 March 2008 7) 
19 March 2008 8) 
2 April 20089) 



171ANNUAL REPORT 2007/08

CONCLUSION3. 

Nine months of intense deliberation, discussion and negotiations 
took place before Collective Agreement 1of 2008: “Framework for 
establishment of an occupation speci� c dispensation (OSD) for 
educators in public education” and Collective Agreement 2 of 2008: 
“Special Task Team” was signed on 3 April 2008.

The OSD Agreement ensures a fair, equitable and competitive 
remuneration structure for identi� ed categories of employees, which 
would provide for longer salary bands and substantial overlaps between 
salary levels to facilitate adequate salary progression to employees 
who choose to remain in the classroom instead of aspiring to move into 
supervisory or management posts.

With the OSD Agreement, a proper career pathing model that does not 
entail automatic increases but a forward looking plan to systematically 
increase salaries after pre-determined periods based on speci� c 
criteria such as performance, quali� cations, competencies, scope 
of work and experience; would be put into place.  One of the areas 
covered by the OSD is the provision for dual career paths in terms of 
which professionals and specialists could progress to levels where they 
earn salaries that are equal to/or higher than that of managers without 
moving into management/supervisory posts.  This would ensure that 
good educators could be retained in the classroom.

The introduction of the OSD for educators would ensure that no 
educator would receive a salary (notch or package) that is less than 
what s/he received on 31 December 2007 prior to the implementation of 
the Agreement.  The salaries of educators would be upwardly adjusted 
based on the salary notches that applied on 1 July 2007 and then 
translated to the new OSD salary scales.  A newly quali� ed educator 
entering the profession would earn R115,276 per annum as compared 
to R107,700 per annum prior to the implementation of the OSD.

171



172 EDUCATION LABOUR RELATIONS COUNCIL

FACILITATION OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT 1 AND 2 OF 2008 4. 

Collective Agreement No. 1 and 2 of 2008 gives effect to the following:
 
  (1) The establishment of task teams
  (2) Internal research study visits
  (3) Annual conference

 4.1 Task Teams

Five Task Teams and a Co-ordinating Committee were established with the following terms of 
reference: 

Task Team 1

Task Team 1 is charged with � nalising key aspects of the agreement relating to EMS school-
based and EMS of� ce-based staff. Speci� cally, TT1 will be required to undertake the following 
set of activities:

Finalise standardised performance agreements and issues related to assessment.1. 

Finalise � exible remuneration packages.2. 

Finalise implementation date of EMS, including packages. (In the case of of� ce-based 3. 
staff, this will include employees not covered by MMS).

Develop and implement information sessions.4. 
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Task Team 2

Task Team 2 will oversee aspects of the implementation of the Collective Agreement No. 1 and 
2 of 2008. Speci� cally TT2 will be required to:

Investigate anomalies, inequities and backlogs and make recommendations to the 1. 
Council;

Identify incidences relating to the incorrect and/or non-implementation of previous collective 2. 
agreements with speci� c reference to the following ELRC collective agreements, i.e. No.4 
of 2003, No.2 of 2005, and No.5 of 2006. Recommendations relating to these should be 
made to the council.

Finalise issues relating to ‘salary history’ including meeting with PERSAL; � nalising the 3. 
required information, and the costs for print-out; making the print-outs available; and 
rectifying the salaries.

 Finalise issues relating to pay progression including overseeing the following activities:4. 

Labour’s submission of proposal on duration to the maximum salary notch and • 
Employer’s provision of response on personnel data and � nancial costs;
Labour’s submission of proposal on dates for salary/accelerated progression and • 
Employer’s provision of response on personnel data and � nancial costs.

Task Team 3

Task Team 3 will oversee aspects of the agreement relating to specialist educators; and 
evaluation, as well as amendments that may be required in other collective agreements.

Speci� cally, TT3 will be required to undertake the following sets of activities:

Specialist educators (TLS and STLS)

Develop guidelines for the processes of � lling and advertising of posts;1. 

Finalise the requirements for the posts (quali� cations, experience, etc);2. 

Develop and implement norms for posts; 3. 

Finalise commencement date; and4. 

Finalise the methodology for maintaining senior and master teachers.5. 

Evaluation

Include learner performance in evaluation instrument (IQMS);6. 

Develop guidelines for educator’s portfolio of evidence; 7. 

Finalise the process and methodology for moderation (external) – IQMS with respect to 8. 
specialist educators and accelerated progression;

Finalise the assessment cycle for July 2010-2011; and9. 

Amend IQMS/PMDS if necessary.10. 

Other Collective Agreements

Identify possible amendments to other collective agreements.11. 
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Task Team 4

Task Team 4 will be required to deal with the formal recognition of experience; requirements for appointments, 
upgrading and promotions; and a set of miscellaneous issues relating to the above. Speci� c activities include 
the following:

Formal recognition of experience

Receive and engage with Labour’s submission on proposal and Employer’s response on personnel data 1. 
and � nancial costs.

Requirements for appointments, upgrading and promotions

Re� ne Annexure “A”.2. 

Including aspects such as managerial competency; curricular competency; improved quali� cations; 3. 
upgrading; appointments; and promotions.

Miscellaneous

Investigate and propose measures for the � nalisation of: recognition of relevant experience on appointments 4. 
from outside the public sector; salary recognition on promotion/upgrade; determination of salaries with re-
appointment after a break in service; and acting allowances.

Amend PAM if necessary.5. 

Address de� nitions in agreement.6. 

Task Team 5

Task Team 5’s mandate relates to the upskilling of educators and research. Speci� c activities for TT5 are the 
following:

Upskilling of Educators

Finalise the RPL process.1. 

Finalise required quali� cations of educators.2. 

Develop terms of reference and establish task team for upgrading.3. 

Develop a detailed plan to include the granting of study leave and provisioning of bursaries.4. 

Research

Commission an investigation into the most effective methodology for training and development of 5. 
educators.

Produce a report on the above for the ELRC.6. 
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Coordinating Committee

The Coordinating Committee will comprise of the following delegates:

Facilitator• 
General Secretary – ELRC• 
Leaders of parties• 
 3 delegates – DoE• 
 2  delegates – CTU-SADTU• 
 1 delegate – CTU-SAOU• 

5 Chairpersons of Task Teams• 
 2  – DoE• 
 2  – CTU-SADTU• 
 1  – CTU-SAOU• 

The Coordinating Committee’s will drive the implementation process of Collective Agreements 
No. 1 and 2 of 2008.  

The committee’s mandate also relates to the planning of the study research visits and OSD for 
educator specialists (psychologist and therapist). 

Speci� c activities for the Coordinating Committee are the following:

Study Research Visits

Plan study research visits and areas of investigation. 1. 

Produce a report on study research visits. 2. 

OSD for Educator Specialists (Psychologist and Therapist)

Finalise proposal and implementation. 1. 
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4.2 Proposed International Study Research Visits For Department Of 
Education and Teacher Union Of� cials: Australia, New Zealand, 
United Kingdom

The main purpose of the study visits is to assess the systems of 
performance-based remuneration schemes in these countries, including 
identifying potential impediments to the introduction of performance-
based pay for teachers.

An additional aim would be to obtain an overview of the attitudes of 
stakeholders to performance-based pay schemes and the impact of 
these on, for example, teacher retention, improving teaching standards, 
improved student outcomes and recognition of accomplished teachers. 

In all three countries, there is an increasing desire among all stakeholders 
to develop policies for revitalising the teaching profession. This includes 
reward systems that are more effective in giving incentives for highly 
accomplished teaching, for keeping excellent teachers working in 
classrooms, and for providing leadership to colleagues. There is increasing 
recognition, internationally, that career paths and pay systems can be 
linked to evidence of increasing capacity to promote valued student 
learning outcomes and, thereby, stronger levers for ensuring professional 
development and quality learning outcomes for all students. 

The study tours will therefore enable participants to better understand the 
policy and implementation challenges posed by the ‘Occupation Speci� c 
Dispensation’.

176
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The intention is to spend approximately one week in each country. 
The visits to Australia and New Zealand will be ‘back-to-back’ and that 
to the UK a short while later. In each country a sample of stakeholders 
will be visited – for example, government at both the national and sub-
national levels (Australia), and teacher organisations in particular. The 
details of each country programme will be worked out in consultation 
with the Embassy of each of the countries.

The study tours will focus on the following countries:
Australia;
New Zealand;
England; and 
Ireland.

The September date is proposed for the UK because of their summer 
holidays.

4.3 Annual Conference

According to Collective Agreement No. 1 of 2008 the ELRC has been 
tasked to arrange a conference.   Clause 5.8.5.5 indicates the following 
“The parties agree that a thorough investigation to the most effective 
methodology for the training and development of teachers needs to 
be done as a matter of urgency.  To this end an investigation under 
the auspices of the ELRC will be completed by 30 September 2008.  
The ELRC will make funds available and arrange a conference by 30 
November 2008 to facilitate discussions in this regard.”
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ANNEXURE C:  
 IMPLEMENTATION OF THE FURTHER EDUCATION 
 AND TRAINING COLLEGES ACT 16 OF 2006  

INTRODUCTION1. 

The Further Education and Training Colleges Act (FETC) was promulgated on 11 December 2006.  The 
Act provides for the employment of staff at public further education and training colleges.

It was noted that a bold step such as this one would have the inherent dimension of clear communications 
of operation and implementation.  Thus it was decided that the ELRC would facilitate the effective 
implementation of the FETC Act in so far as the appointment of staff is concerned and the matters 
incidental. 

This process consisted primarily of fora of engagement, consultation, workshops, and information sharing 
sessions.  It provided information to all affected parties in order to actively engage in the parliamentary 
process.
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This processes to date primarily involved the DoE (Old Employer) and Trade Unions registered in the 
ELRC, and had as its primary objective the implementation of Collective Agreements Numbers 4 and 
5. 

The purpose of this report is:  
To record the extent of the work accomplished to date;(a) 
To identify the problems experienced and challenges that need to be addressed; and(b) 
To plan the remaining phases of the ELRC facilitation of the implementation of the FETC Act.(c) 

PRE-PROMULGATION OF THE FECT ACT OF THE FACILITATION – PHASE 1 2. 

2.1  Colloquium On The FETC Bill, 2006 – 15 August 2006

The Council, at a Bargaining Meeting, took a decision to convene a workshop on the implications of the 
FECT Bill.  The workshop, held in the form of a colloquium was held at the St Georges Hotel, Centurion 
to interact with the proposed FETC Act and its implications on the rights of the educators.

 The objectives of the colloquium included: 

To appraise FET educators on the then newly proposed FETC Bill (a) 

To provide a platform for FET educators to openly discuss fears that they may have had in relation (b) 
to the Bill.

To jointly formulate proposals / comments with regards to the Bill that may improve professional and (c) 
quality delivery of education in FET Institutions.

 The participants to the colloquium were the principals of the FET Colleges, the trade union   
 representatives and the national and provincial DoE

The General Secretary (GS) appointed Adv Karel Tip SC to consider the proposed Bill and its impact on 
the rights of the educators. His considered research and opinion was entitled: “Employment Relations 
Considerations arising from the Further Education and Training Bill”.

Adv Karel Tip SC was then appointed to facilitate the interactions at the colloquium.  In the main the 
delegates discussed Chapter 2 “Public College” and Chapter 4 “Appointment of Management Staff, 
Lecturers and Non-Lecturers in Public Colleges”.

 The outcome of the colloquium was that the FECT Act as well as conditions of services needed   
 additional clari� cation.  

 Parties were urged to engage in the parliamentary consultative processes.
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 2.2 FET Task Team Meeting – 27 November 2006

Subsequent to the Colloquium and on the understanding that the Parliamentary processes 
regarding the FETC ACT was concluded; the ELRC FETC Task Team meeting was convened to 
consider impact of the FETC ACT on the conditions of service for FET educators in the categories 
viz. transfer of employment and labour rights.

The PDoE and DoE as well as the combined trade unions CTU-SADTU and CTU-SAOU, 
participated to this meeting.

Primary discussions centred on the procedures that would expedite the transfer of staff and the 
transfer of the terms and conditions to the new employer.  

Secondary discussions centred on the future envisaged collaboration between the PSCBC 
(GPSSBC) and the ELRC

The FETC Task Team concurred on the issues that needed to be addressed in the ELRC, which 
included:

a) Current and future conditions of service, 

b) The appointment and transfers (Section 197), and

c) Consistency in norms and standards 

PROMULGATION OF THE FETC ACT OF 20063. 

The promulgation of the FETC Act No. 16 of 2006, on 11 December 2006, necessitated further 
discussions on the implementation process.  

POST-PROMULGATION OF THE FECT ACT OF 2006 – PHASE 24. 

General Secretary and Director General Of The DoE1.1 

In February 2007 the GS of the ELRC interacted with the Director General (DG) of the DoE.  

The purpose of the meeting was to engage the DG with a view to � nd an approach to minimise 
con� ict and legal challenges with regard to implementation of the FECT Act 2006.  

The DG requested the GS to convene the consultative meeting with the trade unions to address 
the challenges.
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First Consultative Meeting between DOE and Trade Unions in the ELRC - 15 1.2 
March 2007

The General Secretary convened the First Consultative Meeting on the 15th March 
2007.

The overall purpose of the workshop was for representatives from the current 
employer and trade unions to identify understand and begin to deal with broad 
areas of implementation arising from the FETC Act 16 of 2006, in respect of CS 
Educators (Lecturers).

The Participants included:
DoE – National • 
DoE – Provincial • 
Trade Unions.• 

CCMA National Senior Commissioner K C. Moodley conducted a presentation on 
the implementation of the FETC Act entitled, - an overview and other laws to be 
considered in implementing the process. 

The presentation was centred on the following sections: Section 5 (12), Section 6 
(8), Section 21 of the FETC ACT and section 197 and 197A of the LRA.

The workshop concluded with the DG offering the following guarantees:
That educators would be given the right to decide whether to transfer or not; • 
and  
That those who opted to transfer would retain membership of the GEPF and • 
the GEMS.

The GS was then requested by the DG to capture the guarantees in a Memorandum 
of Understanding to be concluded between the DoE and the trade unions.
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First set of Bi-Lateral Meetings1.3 

These respective bi-lateral meetings, in order to � nalise the MoU, were held during the month of May.  The GS, 
upon request from the DG, facilitated separate bi-lateral meetings between the DG and SADTU, SAOU, NAPTOSA 
and NATU.  However the latter union did not attend.  

The objectives of the bi-lateral meetings were as follows: 

a)  To inform all parties of the progress in the implementation of the Act.

b)  To address concerns of affected parties and to remove any obstacles that may impede the   
  implementation of the Act.

Arising from these meetings the DG changed the MoU to Collective Agreement No 4 of 2007.  

SAPCO Meeting -  30 May 20071.4 

A request was then received for the GS to address the SAPCO meeting

The General Secretary, assisted by the CCMA National Senior Commissioner K C Moodley, addressed a meeting 
of the SACPO convened at the Regent Hotel, East London in June 2007.

The meeting was constituted by rectors, CEOs, college council chairpersons and or representatives.

Some issues raised in the meeting included:
Who is the new employer – principal or college council;(a) 
Where would the bargaining for the sector be conducted – ELRC or a new one created.(b) 
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Collective Agreement No 4 of 2007- Implementation of the Further Education and 1.5 
Training Colleges Act Number 16 of 2006

After the bi-lateral meetings between the DOE and the trade unions, the DG tabled the 
Collective Agreement No 4 of 2007 for � nalisation.

A bargaining meeting was convened on 17th July 2007 to address the matter. Collective 
Agreement No. 4 of 2007 was agreed upon between the trade unions and the DoE.

The objective of the agreement was to identify the process by which the employment 
of educators at FET institutions would be transferred from the State to the College. It 
contained guidelines to promote the effective, ef� cient and fair implementation of the 
FETC Act.

Pertinent provisions include:

All CS educators employed by the State shall be identi� ed as potential (a) 
transferees.
Educators shall have the option to either be transferred or remain in the employ (b) 
of the State.
The terms and conditions of the educators’ current contracts would be (c) 
transferred to the new employer. 
The option of a voluntary severance package is extended if desired. (d) 

First Facilitators’ Workshop – 18 August 20071.6 

On the 18th August 2007 a workshop was held with facilitators.  At the workshop Collective 
Agreement No 4 of 2007 was discussed and the facilitation process conceptualised.   

The workshops had as it aims the following: 

To contextualise the need for facilitation (a) 
Achieve an understanding of the provisions of the FETC Act.(b) 
Identify other associated legislation and jurisprudence that may impact on the (c) 
implementation of the Act.
Develop a common understanding in the interpretation of the Act.(d) 
Understanding the Department of Education’s approach and vision on the (e) 
implementation process.
Clarify the rights and obligation of the affected parties in relation to matters (f) 
such as terms and conditions of employment and collective bargaining.  

The outcome of this meeting was that lessons had been drawn with due reference to the 
process that the Department of Social Services followed in relation to the implementation 
of the South African Social Security Act, in establishing the South African Security Agency. 
Speci� c mention was made of the collective agreement concluded on the said matter in 
the PHSDSBC.
 
A series of meetings emanated from this workshop, which were held in August 2007 and 
gave rise to the formulation of draft ELRC Collective Agreement No. 5 of 2007 that was 
based on the collective agreement from the PHSDSBC. 

Second set of bi-laterals between the DOE and CTU-SADTU and CTU-SAOU were 
facilitated by the GS before the second consultative meeting.
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Second Consultative Meeting 25 August 20071.7 

The purpose of the meeting was to � nalise the consultation between the DoE and the trade unions that    
was required by Collective Agreement No. 4 of 2007.  
Draft Collective Agreement No. 5 of 2007 was discussed in its entirety at this consultative meeting and 
there was unanimity in respect of all clauses of the agreement.  

The General Secretary was then tasked to ensure that this agreement was signed.

Collective Agreement No. 5 of 2007 - Further Agreement on the Transfer of Employees from the 
Department of Education to Individual FET Colleges; is a collective agreement concluded in terms of 
section 197 (7) and includes commitments by the new employer (FETC colleges)

The objective of this agreement is to ensure that the transfer of employees was in accordance with the 
provisions of section 197 of the LRA, the FETC Act and Collective Agreement No 4 of 2007.

The secondary objective was to ensure that the transfer is fair, equitable and transparent

Pertinent provisions of the collective agreement include:

All bene� ts which employees currently receive are transferable (a) 
All organisational rights are transferable.  (b) 
A bargaining unit for the FET sector within the ELRC is to be established with effect from the (c) 
1st January 2008.
The DoE is liable for the accrued bene� ts(d) 
Eligible employees are to be matched and placed with possible vacancies(e) 
Employees who are not matched or placed may apply for posts in a closed vacancy list.(f) 
The � lling of posts is to be conducted in accordance with ELRC Resolution 6 of 1998 (g) 
Employees who are not matched and placed or appointed may be offered severance (h) 
packages. 
Employees who elect not to be transferred to the Colleges or who elect not to remain with the (i) 
DoE shall be automatically transferred with effect from 1st January 2008.

Collective Agreement No. 5 of 2007 was signed belatedly on the 30 August 2007 by the Department of 
Education (DoE) and by the Trade Unions in September 2007.    

The delayed signing of Collective Agreement No 5 of 2007 and the postponed publication of the vacancy 
lists resulted in the need for the facilitation meetings to be rescheduled.

Second Facilitators’ Workshop – 25 August 20071.8 

This workshop was held with all the facilitators in order to brief them on the provisions of Collective 
Agreement No 5 of 2007. The facilitators were requested to submit their facilitation programmes, subject 
to approval by the General Secretary.  

As the Collective Agreement had not been signed at that stage, the facilitators were accordingly 
requested to perform administrative tasks.   

Actual facilitation by the individual facilitators was conducted during the period 17- 21 September 
2007
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The facilitation (information sharing) meetings included the following:

Information sharing (a) 
Time frames for implementation      (b) 

Meeting to adopt FETC Employers’ Organisation and found the Organisation – 2-3 1.10 
November 2008 

The following objectives were achieved:
 The formalisation of the FETC Employers’ Organisation constitution. (a) 
 The founding of the FETC Employers’ Organisation (b) 
 The establishment of the Executive Committee of the FETC Employers’ (c) 

Organisation.  The members of the National Executive Committee are as 
follows:

 

National 
Executive

Province College Designation

Chairperson North West Orbit FET College
College Council  
Chairperson

Vice 
Chairperson

Limpopo Mopani South East
College Council 
Chairperson

Secretary Free State
Gold� elds FET 
College

College Council 
Chairperson

Treasurer Gauteng Ekurhuleni East
College Council 
Chairperson
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INFORMATION SHARING PHASE5. 

5.1 NUMBER OF COLLEGE AND CAMPUSES PER PROVINCE

Province
Number of 

Central Of� ces
Number of 
Campuses

Total

Eastern Cape 8 38 46

Free State 4 24 28

Gauteng 8 36 44

KwaZulu-Natal 9 45 54

Limpopo 7 20 27

Mpumalanga 3 17 20

Northern Cape 1 6 7

North West 3 12 15

Western Cape 6 43 49

186
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5.2 PROGRAMME

Date Activity

11 – 17 August Appointment of facilitators
1 x National facilitator
12 x Provincial facilitators

18 August 2007 First National Facilitators meeting

25  August 2007 Second National Facilitators meeting

8 September 2007 Special Facilitators Meeting

17-21 September 2007 College Facilitation meetings 

12-13 October 2007 College Council with the Department of Education 
Facilitation Meeting

2-3 November 2007 Founding Meeting 

 
Note:  Kindly refer to Annexure A for the list of actual facilitation meetings which were 
held to date

5.3 INFORMATION SHARING MEETINGS CONDUCTED BY INDIVIDUAL 
FACILITATORS

     
PROVINCE FACILITATOR DATES

Eastern Cape Adv L Bono
Mr C Brunton

12-21 Sept 07

Free State Adv N Winfred
Adv L Bono

14 & 21 Sept 07

Gauteng Mr P Stone 17,18,19 & 21 Sept 07

KwaZulu Natal Ms S Balkaran
Mr P Govindasamy 
Adv N Winfred

13-21 Sept 07

Mpumalanga Ms G Khoza 17-28 Sept 07

Limpopo Mr E Nephalela 10 – 21 Sept 07

Northern Cape Mr F Mooi 17 – 21 Sept 07

North West Mr L Maponya 19-21 Sept 07

Western Cape Adv Ingrid Botha
Ms K Mamba
M Govender

17-20 Sept 07

Special Meeting - Stellenbosch

DETERMINATION OF THE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 6. 
COLLEGE COUNCIL AND THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 

Subsequent to the process of facilitation the need was identi� ed to determine the 
roles and responsibilities of the Department of Education (DoE) and the College 
Councils.  

Furthermore the ELRC had been requested to establish an independent 
bargaining unit for the FETC sector within the ELRC.  
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THE MEETING:

Contextualised the need for the implementation of the residual process of the FETC Act1. 
Clari� ed the roles and responsibilities of the Department of Education and the College 2. 
Council
Clari� ed the relationship between the Department of Education and the College Council 3. 
Entrenched an understanding of the provisions of the FETC Act.4. 
Entrenched an understanding of Collective Agreement No 5.5. 
Clari� ed the rights and obligation of the affected parties in relation to matters such as terms 6. 
and conditions of employment and collective bargaining.  

This meeting arrived at a decision of Colleges present, to form an (1) 
Employers Organisation for the FETC Sector.

The meeting elected the following persons as members of the (2) Pro-
Term Committee:

 Mr. P Naake   North West  Convenor(a) 
 Mr. M Marumo   Free State  Secretary(b) 
 Mr. D Nkaiseng   Gauteng(c) 
 Mr. D Mabuyakhulu  KwaZulu-Natal(d) 
 Ms T Baloyi   Limpopo(e) 
 Ms F Loliwe   Eastern Cape(f) 
 Dr. J Papier   Western Cape(g) 
 Mr. P Maminza   Mpumalanga(h) 
 Mr. A Richards   Northern Cape(i) 

The mandate of the Pro-Term Committee was(3) 
To draft a constitution for the organisation;(a) 
To convene a meeting to draft the constitution;(b) 
To found/establish the organisation at an inaugural meeting.(c) 

In pursuance of the above, the Pro-Term Committee met as follows:(4) 
 13 October 2007  -  Process(a) 
 23 October 2007   - Draft Constitution(b) 
 24 October 2007   - Amendment to ELRC Constitution(c) 

 for FETC Bargaining Unit 
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FOUNDING OF THE EMPLOYERS’ ORGANISATION AND ADOPTION OF THE CONSTITUTION.  7. 

The following objectives were achieved at the meeting:
 The formalisation of the FETC Employers’ Organisation constitution. (d) 
 The founding of the FETC Employers’ Organisation (e) 
 The establishment of the Executive Committee of the FETC Employers’ Organisation.  (f) 

The members of the National Executive Committee are as follows:
 

National 
Executive

Province College Designation Title Name Surname

Chairperson
North 
West

Orbit FET College
College 
Council  
Chairperson

Mr Phale Naake

Vice 
Chairperson

Limpopo
Mopani South 
East

College 
Council 
Chairperson

Mr Michael Masuluke

Secretary
Free 
State

Gold� elds FET 
College

College 
Council 
Chairperson

Mr Maruping Marumo

Treasurer Gauteng Ekurhuleni East
College 
Council 
Chairperson

Dr Ngozi Awa

CONTRACTS OF EMPLOYMENT8. 

The process thus far has included the circulation of a draft contract of employment for signature by lecturers 
should they elect to be employed by the respective Colleges.  

The contract is in compliance with the Basic Conditions of Employment Act (BCEA), relevant Collective 
Agreements and other labour legislation.   

DECISION OF LECTURERS TO TRANSFER9. 

A noted general outcome of the facilitation sessions highlighted the eagerness of some educators to 
transfer as opposed to those who would not transfer.  

Those who would not transfer were not clearly informed and could thus not make an informed decision.  

PROBLEMS EXPERIENCED10. 

The common problems expressed as noted by the facilitators are encapsulated as follows:

Educators expressed their dissatisfaction of not being consulted in the decision to make the (a) 
colleges independent.  
Some colleges in rural and historically disadvantaged areas voiced their concern as to their (b) 
� nancial stability in order to honour their � nancial commitments with reference to the transfer of 
lecturers. 
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On a procedural level the lack of information packs and vacancy lists created (c) 
dissatisfaction. The absence of a vacancy list resulted in lecturers not being in a position 
to decide whether to transfer to the college or not. 
Respective employer unions and DoE of� cials were not present at the some of the (d) 
facilitation sessions.
Respective unions did not have a clear position on OSD(e) 
Question 13 of the FAQ which relates to why principals, vice-principals and CFOs are (f) 
separated from the rest of the staff.
Lecturers were ill-informed on the FETC Act and its implications as well as a general (g) 
lack of communication and information sharing from the DoE and principals with the 
lecturers. 
Lack of trust between the DoE and lecturers(h) 
The issue of temporary teachers was a cause of concern and should be resolved.(i) 
Job security with reference to acting or interim Councils as well as employee positions (j) 
after the initial twelve month period.
The working hours stated initially violated the retention of service conditions being (k) 
transferable.  
It is noted here that additional anomalies and dissatisfaction with the contracts (l) 
were expressed.  These have however, been subsequently dealt with as the 
negotiation of the contract had occurred at the same time as the information 
sessions.
The question with reference to the salary increments within the education sector as (m) 
expressed by the Minister of Education was raised and how this relates to the employees 
opting for transfer.
In essence the encapsulated concern was raised that all issues be clearly addressed (n) 
and resolved in order for employees to make an informed decision as to whether to 
transfer or remain in the employ of the State.  
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RECOMMENDATIONS 11. 

The DoE should engender speci� c policies to sustain rural and historically (a) 
disadvantaged colleges who foresee problems with � nancial liquidity.
Contracts should be monitored by the DoE and ELRC, should contain all relevant (b) 
speci� cs and stipulations 
The DoE should endeavour to reabsorb lecturers if they are retrenched from the (c) 
Colleges.  
KwaZulu Natal, Western Cape and Eastern Cape would need additional intensive (d) 
assistance in order to ensure the effectiveness of implementation with reference to 
respective deadlines.

SHORT TERM FUTURE PROCESS12. 

It is evident from the above that the information sharing process has been substantially 
concluded.  

The target date set for the conclusion of the facilitation processes as well as the signing of 
individual contracts of employment is 31 October 2007.

Further consultative processes that need to be convened are as follows:

Facilitation between the DoE and the College Councils (a) 
A process to enable College Councils to sign Collective Agreement No 5 of 2007.(b) 
The residual implementation of the FETC Act and compliance with section 197 of the (c) 
LRA. 

ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS13. 

It is therefore recommended that:

The meeting between the DoE and College Councils to be convened by 12 October 2007.  a) 

The above meeting would have as its primary objectives:b) 
The establishment of a bargaining unit for the FET sector.�. 
The establishment of an employer’s organisation with the ambit of the FET sector.��. 

The meeting between the Trade Unions and the College Councils to be convened on the c) 
19 October 2007.

The above meeting would have as its primary objectives:d) 
To determine the process to extend the scope of the Constitution of the ELRC I. 
to include a bargaining unit for the FET sector

To negotiate the amendments to the ELRC constitution accordingly(d) 

The DOE � nalises it approach on OSD for the FETC sector.(e) 

The DOE considers creating a window period for temporary lecturers, who are (f) 
transferring to the FET colleges, to acquire bene� ts of GEMS, GEPF, housing 
allowance, etc.
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The PDoEs issue in writing, to affected lecturers, whether they have vacant (g) 
posts for the matching and placement process by Friday, 5th October 2007.

The colleges inform the affected lecturers of the envisaged 2008 curriculum (h) 
offering of the college, in writing, by Friday, 5th October 2007.

14. INTERVENTIONS

 14.1 King Hintsa FET and Port Elizabeth FET Colleges - 18 June 2008

Adv Bono had a meeting with the task team (CTU-SADTU, DOE; CTU-SAOU 
and the PELRC in the Eastern Cape).

 
In the meeting he was advised of a previous meeting with all the educators 
that had opted to remain with the DOE. In that meeting it was agreed that King 
Hintsa and Port Elizabeth would be treated differently as they had their own 
particular problems. Part of the alleged problems with the said colleges was 
that the principals had been appointed as registrars. Advocate Bono would 
visit the said colleges in an attempt to resolve their issues. What appeared 
on the TV news were educators who had opted to stay with the DOE claiming 
that they report at the district of� ce and were not given any work to do. 

 
  The following intervention meetings were arranged:
 

26 May 2008:    Meeting with all educators to map out the new timeframes 
on the implementation of Res 4 & 5:  - Convened by the Task Team

 
28 May 2008:    Meeting with the King Hintsa FET College educators that 
opted to remain with the DOE:  - Convened by the ELRC (L Bono)

 
5 June 2008:      Meeting with the PE FET College educators that opted to 
remain with the DOE:  - Convened by the ELRC (L Bono)
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 ANNEXURE A 

SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS FACILITATED BY THE GENERAL SECRETARY OF THE ELRC ASSISTED BY 
THE COMMISSIONER TERRY MOODLEY

DATES PURPOSE REGION ASSISTED BY

June 2006 To address SACPO Eastern Cape

15 Aug 2006
To address the principals 

and Trade Unions
Western Cape

Adv K Tip who did a 

presentation

27 November 2006
To convened a task team re 

conditions of service
National

Feb 2007 Interaction with DG of DoE National

15 March 2007

MoU formulation  which 

transpired into Collective 

Agreement No. 4 

National K Moodley

8 Aug 2007
Meeting with DDG of DoE, 

Ms P Vinjevold 
National

15 Aug 2007 Meeting with Dr Mahlobo National

18 Aug 2007 Workshop with panellists National K Moodley

22 Aug 2007 Meeting with PSCBC National

25 Aug 2007

Workshops with all affected 

parties to draft Collective 

Agreement No. 5

National K Moodley

18 Sept 2007
Facilitation of meeting in the 

Eastern Cape
Eastern Cape, George

22 Sept Presentation to DoE K Moodley

28 Sept 2007
Meeting with KZN role 

players
KwaZulu Natal K Moodley

29 Sept 2007

Facilitation meeting 

convened by Gold� elds 

College 

Free State
General Secretary 

represented by Adv L Bono

01 Oct 2007
Facilitation meeting initiated 

by DoE (Prov) 
Free State

Adv Winfred who gave a 

presentation

03 Oct 2007

Facilitation in Port 

Shepstone initiated by DoE 

(Prov) 

General Secretary 

represented by Adv 

Winfred

05 Oct 2007
Facilitation in KZN initiated 

by DoE (Prov)
KwaZulu Natal

Representation to be 

con� rmed 

08 Oct 2007
Facilitation in the Western 

Cape initiated by PDoE 
Western Cape General Secretary

12-13 Oct 2007
Implementation of FETC Act 

Workshop
National K Moodley

2-3 Nov 2007
Founding meeting of FETC 

Employers organisation
National K Moodley
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ANNEXURE B

Expenses Report

Council account

01/04/2007 to 31/03/2008

 2560/001 FETC: Flight       197,221.62 

 2560/002 FETC: Accommodation       167,901.87 

 2560/003 FETC: Travel         47,138.69 

 2560/004 FETC: Meals         12,248.73 

 2560/006 FETC: Others       917,683.27 

1,342,194.18

   

Transformation account

01/04/07 to 31/03/08

1850/001 FETC-Flights       146,148.75 

1850/002 FETC-Accommodation       175,011.63 

1850/003 FETC-Travel          7,313.12 

1850/005 FETC-Equipment Hire          8,550.00 

1850/006 FETC-Gala Cost          5,825.75 

1850/007 FETC-Other       505,527.00 

1850/008 FETC-Transcript         10,083.87 

      858,460.12 
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ANNEXURE C

MONITORING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF C/A 4&5 0F 2007

PROVINCE NAME OF COLLEGE NO.TRANSFERRED NO.SECONDED

    
EASTERN CAPE PORT ELIZABETH FETC 141 0
 EAST CAPE MIDLANDS FETC 53 2
 BUFFALO CITY FETC 92 0
 LOVEDALE FETC 0 24

 
KING SABATA DALINDYEBO 
FETC 35 4

 INGWE FETC 41 1
 IKHALA FETC 8 18
 KING HINTSA FETC 25 1
    
FREE STATE GOLDFIELDS FETC 56 0
 MOTHEO FETC 103 0
 MALUTI FETC 88 0
 FLAVIUS MAREKA 52 0
    
GAUTENG TSHWANE SOUTH FETC 271 0
 TSHWANE NORTH FETC 220 0
 EKURHULENI WEST FETC 205 0
 EKURHULENI EAST FETC NOT RECEIVED  
 SOUTH WEST FETC 121 0
 CENTRAL JHB FETC 175 38
 WESTERN COLLEGE FET 44 0
 SEDIBENG FETC 97 0
    
KWAZULU NATAL MTHASHANA FETC 35 5
 UMFOLOZI FETC 6 1
 MAJUBA FETC 103 0
 MNAMBITHI FETC 20 5
 ELANGENI FETC 48 7
 COASTAL FETC NOT RECEIVED  
 THEKWINI FETC 80 13
 UMGUNGUNDLOVU FETC 72 4
 ESAYIDI FETC 35 0
    
LIMPOPO LEPHALALE FETC 0 0
 CAPRICORN FETC 189 0
 WATERBERG FETC 48 0
 VHEMBE FETC 92 34
 MOPANI SE FETC 56 0
 LETABA FETC 44 0
 SEKHUKHUNE FETC 82 0
    
MPUMALANGA EHLANZENI FETC 93 0
 NKANGALA FETC NOT RECEIVED  
 GERT SIBANDE FETC 81 0
    
NORTHERN CAPE NORTHERN CAPE URBAN 51 6
 NORTHERN CAPE RURAL 39 9
    
NORTH WEST TALETSO FETC 63 0
 VUSELELA FETC 112 0
 ORBIT FETC 49 0
    
WESTERN CAPE WEST COAST FETC 23 5
 BOLAND FETC 73 3
 SOUTH CAPE FETC 39 2
 NORTHLINK FETC 158 30
 COLLEGE OF CAPE TOWN 299 20
 FALSEBAY FETC 53 10
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ANNEXURE D:   
 ELRC � HIV/AIDS INTERVENTION PROGRAMME  

PROJECT NARRATIVE SEMI-ANNUAL REPORT
28 September 2007 – 31 March 2008

ELRC-PREVENTION, CARE AND TREATMENT ACCESS

SUMMARY

Other prevention:�  A total of 353 educators were reached in community based 
outreach by unions in two provinces on World AIDS Day to promote prevention 
beyond abstinence and being faithful. 

Counselling and Testing:�  The ELRC-PCTA successfully conducted the Training 
of Trainers training for 52 (15 male and 37 female) master trainers across all the 
union partners on counselling and testing.  The training was conducted by AED and 
Tshepang Trust. 

  •

  •
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A.

  • Policy Analysis and System Strengthening:�   The ELRC-PCTA project held a Grant 
Compliance and Finance Administration workshop for 16 (10 female and 6 males) from union 
partners. In addition 20 master trainers from all union partners were trained on workplace 
policies to counter HIIV induced stigma. The same master trainers received an introductory 
course in monitoring and evaluation and a follow-up refresher course four weeks later. 

OVERVIEW�. 

The ELRC-PCTA project is a comprehensive union HIV and AIDS project which caters for South 
Africa’s government school educators living with and affected by HIV and AIDS.  This project provides 
resources to implement union HIV and AIDS workplace policies as well as the recommendations of 
the Education Labour Relations Council (ELRC) comprehensive research on the impact of HIV and 
AIDS on the education sector.

The project is under the leadership of the ELRC, governed by the ELRC PCTA Governing Committee 
(PGC), with the AFT and AED offering ongoing technical assistance. The four national South African 
teacher unions are implementing partners, namely; National Professional Teacher’s Organization 
of South Africa (NAPTOSA), National Teacher’s Union (NATU), South African Democratic Teachers 
Union (SADTU) and Suid Afrikaanse Onderwysunie (SAOU) enjoy working independently with their 
respective membership to display their unique strength in reaching and mobilizing educators in the 
Prevention, Care and Treatment Access project.

PROJECT STRATEGY�. 

The ELRC in partnership with AED and AFT, is working across all unions to administer the union 
grants, strengthen capacity, provide technical support, facilitate sharing of lessons learned, supporting 
a systematic and common M&E approach and ensure meeting of overall project objectives.

The workplace project is implemented via sub-agreements to the unions which focus on a 
comprehensive approach that includes: prevention, voluntary counselling and testing (VCT), care 
and support, treatment and countering stigma and discrimination in the schools and communities in 
which they are located.

In this reporting period, the ELRC-PCTA II project activities focused on:
Internal project management and an integrated cooperative union planning� 
Staff recruitment and training� 
Capacity building � 
Technical assistance on grant compliance� 
Training of master trainers.� 

B.

  •
  •
  •
  •
  •
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OBJECTIVES�. 
 

To prevent new infections by focusing on prevention through abstinence and being • 
faithful;
To distribute male and female condoms to sites accessible to educators;• 
To motivate educators to know their HIV status;• 
To foster linkages to community based care and support services ;• 
To support increased up-take of ARV treatment by educators and their families;• 
To increase efforts to combat and reduce HIV-related stigma and discrimination by training • 
educators and teacher union leaders.
To increase the capacity of unions to address HIV and AIDS among their members.• 

PEPFAR INDICATORS�. 

The ELRC PCTA 2 project addresses six PEPFAR indicators however reports on the following � ve:  
Prevention through Abstinence, being faithful � 
Condom usage� 
Voluntary Counselling and Testing� 
Reduction of stigma and discrimination� 
Policy Analysis and System Strengthening.� 

C.

D.

  •
  •
  •
  •
  •
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PROJECT ACTIVITIES1. 

World AIDS Day 

In the lead up to the formal commencement of the ELRC PCTA 2 project, the Project 
Governing Committee (PGC) approved community outreach activities to occur as part 
of the transition from the previous pilot project to the roll out of the new project. The 
core activities occurred around World AIDS Day when, two of the three educator union 
partners undertook to organise and commemorate World AIDS day in Mgungundlovu 
(KZN), NATU, and Bethal (Mpumalanga), NAPTOSA, to pay tribute to the educators who 
had been trained as peer educators and were carrying out the PCTA project activities.

Participating in these outreach activities were the HIV and AIDS Ambassadors (teachers 
who have disclosed their HIV status and are on ART).  The unions have built their testing 
and treatment campaigns around these courageous men and women who are the focal 
point for combating stigma.  The NAPTOSA activity was attended by 53 representatives 
from Mpumalanga DoE and DoH, by a Tshepang Trust doctor and lab technician who 
provided on-site counselling and testing.

NATU activity addressed stigma and discrimination and prevention.  This activity was well 
attended by 300 educators and union leaders and the KZN provincial DoE

Recruitment and Training of Master Trainers

Each union has used their own unique recruitment policies to recruit master trainers and 
project staff.  NATU has recruited 22 master trainers who are conducting workshops in 6 
provinces, NAPTOSA has 4 master trainers, conducting workshops in four provinces and 
SAOU has 3 master trainers who conduct workshops in three provinces.

The master trainers across all the unions were recruited for a period of 3 months in order 
to conduct 2 days peer education workshops, union trainings and community outreach.

The three days Training of Trainers training was conducted by AED, where by the 
ELRC-PCTA Project Director, the SADTU Project Director and the AFT were present 
to encourage and give support to the master trainers.  The Tshepang Trust doctors and 
VCT staff made a presentation and thereafter the VCT was conducted.   The � rst training 
was held in Gauteng in Pretoria for NAPTOSA and SAOU and the second for NATU in 
Empangeni in KZN.

The AED stigma manual and the draft modules on stigma and discrimination, HIV and 
AIDS policy development and legal issues, HIV and AIDS: counselling and testing, HIV 
and AIDS prevention and M&E slides and tools were used for the training of trainer’s 
workshop as the � nal training tool kits were still being � nalised.

At the workshop, master trainers were provided with Soul City Material in different 
languages, six draft training modules and the union activity registers, training registers 
and outreach registers for M&E.
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Participants in Gauteng and Kwazulu-Natal felt that the workshop was very 
informative. The process used to run the workshops was an interactive process 
with real life role plays and case scenarios, bringing the subject of HIV and AIDS 
to the real home setting and community setting situation.

Feedback from participants on the workshop bene� ts:

Learning experience and developed group cohesion• 
Networks developed between provinces• 
Duration of workshop short-to run for few more days in future• 
Well developed module material, well capacitated• 
Learned through observation• 
Poor people progress to prosperity (poor in knowledge)• 
Prepared to work hard especially on monitoring and reporting • 
Encouraged to test for HIV, expectations met• 
Am now able to help others after the stigma session• 
Informative-getting facts from experts• 
Doctor’s presence in workshop very helpful• 
Capacity building-ongoing• 
Information was given from the heart• 
First time attending HIV and AIDS workshop-feeling enlightened• 
Facilitators were equipped with information and shared openly with • 
participants
Team work was displayed by the participants• 
Steps to develop an HIV and AIDS and STI policy to be made available• 
Love and respect was displayed from both participants and facilitators• 
Pray for courage and strength to face challenges as the trainings were • 
to begin
Have learnt that facilitators do not have to talk all the time but to • 
encourage interaction of participants
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HERE ARE THE MASTER TRAINERS WHO WILL BE FIGHTING THE SPREAD OF HIV AND 
AIDS INFECTION AMONGST EDUCATORS AND LEARNERS THROUGH TEAM WORK

Peer Education Workshops

20 educators attended peer educators workshops, conducted by NATU master 
trainers with the Tshepang Trust representative on counselling and testing.

Policy Analysis and System Strengthening: 

The ELRC-PCTA 2 Grants Administrator organised a training workshop, 17 March 
2008, for union project coordinators and their respective � nancial administrators on 
USG grant compliance and ELRC PCTA � nancial reporting and administration. The 
Grants Administrator was assisted by the AFT and AED in the workshop design and 
content.

Sixteen people attended from all the partners (6 males & 10 females). Since all 
participants had the experience of grant compliance under the previous pilot project 
with the Solidarity Center, this workshop was focused on lessons learned and 
applying best practices. The workshop aimed to strengthen, enhance and ensure 
that the sub-grants are administered properly according to the US regulations on 
Cost Principles, Reporting, Budgets as well as roles and responsibilities of the 
� nance staff within the union partners.  
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There was an extensive interactive session on reviewing 
USG OMB circular A122. Participants also work shopped 
prototype time sheets for use in the project. 

The content of the workshop contributed to the grant 
compliance manual being developed and distributed in 
the next reporting period.  

MATERIAL DEVELOPMENT2. 

Using the core materials sourced from the Solidarity 
Center’s PCTA pilot project, the AFT’s Teachers Tool Kit 
in Kenya and the AED Stigma Tool Kit, the ELRC PCTA 
Project Director, AED and AFT designed materials for 
use in the project.  

The tool kit contains the following:

  MODULES
Stigma manual� 
HIV and AIDS: Stigma and discrimination� 
Policy Development and legal Issues� 
Counselling and Testing� 
HIV and AIDS Prevention� 
Monitoring and Evaluation� 
Power point presentation� 

OTHER
Fermi Dom� 
Male model� 
Male and Female condoms� 
Soul City material in different languages� 
VCT Directory� 
Brochure� 
VCT cards  � 

Tool Kit Bag

Prototype materials were sourced for the use as the 
carrying bag for the training materials.  The preferred 
case was that used by the Kenya Union of Teachers in 
their HIV and AIDS peer education project.  The case was 
sourced in South Africa, competitively bid and produced. 
It will be distributed in the next period when the content 
is published.

Production of T/shirts

In consultation with the Master Trainers the AFT procured 
the production of T-shirts with the ELRC PCTA logo to 
be the uniform of all trainers in the project. The T-shirts 
were produced and delivered in this period and will be 
distributed in the next period. 

  •
  •
  •
  •
  •
  •
  •

  •
  •
  •
  •
  •
  •
  •
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 3. MONITORING AND EVALUATION

The AED is the ELRC PCTA project partner 
responsible for monitoring and evaluation. Towards 
the end of this reporting period the AED � nalised 
the hiring of their M&E of� cer. The M&E plan will be 
reported to the PGC in the next reporting period. 

AED worked on the development of an electronic 
text-messaging reporting system for data compilation 
and a paper back up system for veri� cation. The 
paper system was work-shopped with master 
trainers at their March training. The paper data will 
be collected and � le with each union and bi-monthly 
audits will be conducted by the ELRC PCTA Grants 
Administrator. 

During the period the AED consulted with technical 
service providers for the SMS reporting system 
and posted requirements for the tender. The AED 
anticipates having the system up and running by 
mid May. 

At the end of the reporting period following the initial 
training of master trainers, AED recommended to 
the PGC and project team a refresher course on 
M&E for master trainers since so many of the 
trainers are new to the M&E activity. 

203
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PROJECT MANAGEMENT4. 

Project Governance Committee (PGC)� 

The Project Governance Committee for oversight and management of the project was 
established in the preceding quarter and met twice before the beginning of the year. The 
PGC reports to the Council and assures that the ELRC PCTA is carried out according to 
the mission of the ELRC as well as the requirements of the CDC agreement. SADTU and 
SAOU co –chair the PGC and the ELRC General Secretary reports directly to them 

The original PGC established in October 2007 consisted SADTU, SAOU and the General 
Secretary with technical assistance provided by the AFT. In this period the PGC was 
expanded to include NATU and NAPTOSA as well as the Project Director. 

All members of the PGC are senior executive union leaders and have other roles with the 
ELRC. In this period the PGC met twice. 

Project Staff � 
 

ELRC PCTA 

Prior to this reporting period, the ELRC led by the AFT under the supervision of the General 
Secretary utilized the services of its existing staff members to serve as an interim project 
staff in order to assist with coordination, setting up meetings for the formation of the 
Project Governance Committee (PGC), opening of the PCTA project bank account and 
other activities related to the project at its initial stage.  The General Secretary, PGC and 
AFT Program Director developed the job descriptions for the three core staff positions, 
wrote and placed the recruitment advertisements, screen and short-listed the applicants 
and organized the interview sessions with all partners for two positions, Project Director 
and Grants Administrator. By the end of December the two were appointed, Maggie 
Mogale and Katiso Molefe respectively. 

Mogale and Molefe commenced their assigned responsibilities, 15 January and 01 
February respectively. With the Project Director hired, she and the AFT program of� cer 
proceeded to the screening of applicants for Project Of� cer and interviews were arranged 
by the partners and all short-listed candidates. By mid March, Boitumelo Mahlomoje had 
taken up her posting responsibilities.  

  •

  •
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Partner Project Staf� ng

In October the three partners had designated staff to the ELRC PCTA project:  AFTEF, NATU 
and SAOU. AED and NAPTOSA as well as cooperating partners – Tshepang Trust and SADTU – 
recruited and hired new staff for various positions through March. By the end of this reporting period 
all staff were in place and working together as a project team.    

Implementing Partners Sub Grant Agreements � 

The AED agreement was signed in November; all others were concluded in January and February. 
Each partner submitted a written proposal on their implementation responsibilities with a budget 
and budget notes. The Grants Administrator, with the technical assistance of the AFTED, drew up 
agreements with each implementing partner for the ELRC General Secretary to propose to the PGC 
and then proceed to be signed with each partner: AFTEF, NAPTOSA, SAOU and NATU. Preliminary 
discussion commenced with PEU and CTPA about the terms of their becoming full partners in the 
ELRC PCTA project.  

ELRC PCTA Operations Team� 

The core staff, technical advisors and union project coordinators sit together as an operations team. 
The team meets at least monthly to provide input into activities, identify and remedy problems 
in delivery and look at ways to expand the project and provide feedback to the Department of 
Education as a key player in the South African National AIDS Council.

During this reporting period the committee was formed and met four times because of the staff 
recruiting needs and the plans for the of� cial launch. The aim of these partners meetings is to 
have transparency and to ensure that there always is an agreement on issues related to the 
implementation of the ELRC PCTA II project and to resolve any issues that might need clarity.  The 
project implementing partners consists of the ELRC-PCTA Project Director, AFTEF, AED, Tshepang 
Trust, NAPTOSA, NATU and SAOU. Tshepang Trust and SADTU are invited to join these meetings 
and frequently participate.  

Payment Management System� 

The ELRC-PCTA project through the assistance of Ms Valerie Brock and Ms J Fowler assisted 
the ELRC-PCTA to access grant funds through the use of the Payment Management System 
(PMS), and the system was successfully activated.  The system works very well for the project, the 
instructions on the system are clear, it is easily accessible, and the turn around time is very fast. The 
ELRC PCTA has a consistent schedule to make its draw downs on Friday afternoons for all in-hand 
invoices. 

Collaborations with other stakeholders:� 

The ELRC-PCTA has formed collaborations with SADTU HIV/AIDS Project.  SADTU - 
participate in the Governance Committee, sharing of information, meeting of project 
directors of both organisations to discuss the progress of the projects as well as sharing 
of training materials.

  •

  •

  •

  •
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Collaborations have been formed with Tshepang Trust and a Memorandum of - 
Understanding between the ELRC-PCTA union partners and the Trust has been 
drafted and will be concluded in the next period. 

The PCTA pilot project formed established collaborations with the provincial DoE - 
Employee Assistance Programme (EAP).  During this reporting period the ELRC-
PCTA II project has renewed and broadened that collaboration with the national 
DoE, Mpumalanga and Gauteng provinces.

ELRC – HIV/AIDS INTERVENTION PROGRAMME C5. HALLENGES IN IMPLEMENTATION

Delays in�  implementation of the project

After the grant was awarded to the ELRC on 28 September, there was limited staff 
capacity. AED and AFT agreements were not signed until late in the period. Only 
the AFT was able to provide full-time staff assistance on the � rst of November. The 
AFT program of� cer worked with designated ELRC staff – all of whom had other 
responsibilities pre-existing before the award. Because of delays in the actual award, 
the AED’s intended staff recruits were otherwise engaged. 

The nearly 6 week year-end holidays period posed other obstacles and delays in staff 
recruitment and assignment, sub-grants to implementing partners and � nalising the 07 
COP and annual workplan. 

Therefore this reporting period has seen all of the elements in place with the exception 
of the appointment of the ELRC PCTA dedicated � nancial administrator.

  •
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Coordination with SADTU� 

As the CDC awarded agreements individual to the ELRC and SADTU and require in the ELRC 
agreement inclusive planning and implementation, coordination and collaboration procedures needed 
to be established. SADTU agreed to an active role on the ELRC PCTA PGC and has participated 
in all meetings and side consultations. Once appointed in January the SADTU project director has 
participated in the ERLC PCTA training of master trainers and the development of training materials. 
The AED offered and SADTU agreed to a brief on the ELRC PCTA monitoring and reporting system. 
The process is slow but the collaboration is developing through the project implementation process. 

Training materials� 

Because of delays in the AED hiring dedicated project staff, the training materials which were anticipated 
to be completed before the training of master trainers, were not completed on time and master trainers 
were trained on a draft document and the tool kit used in the PCTA pilot project.

Monitoring and Evaluation� 

An M&E specialist resumed duty on 3 March when the � rst training of master trainers took place.  It 
was a challenge as she was not acquainted to using the tools designed for M&E and relied on the 
project director’s assistance.

Sourcing Female condoms and Female model (Fermi Dom)� 

In this reporting period the ELRC-PCTA project and AED had dif� culty in sourcing female condoms and 
the female model for the master trainers and peer educator to use for demonstration in their workshops.  
It is important that these be made available as educators understand better if demonstrations are 
made at the workshops.

Temporary Of� ce Space� 

During this reporting period, the ELRC-PCTA staff had it very hard to function in a cramped space since 
the issue of the of� ces in the SACE building was not � nalised as initially promised. It is anticipated that 
the of� ce space will be available 01 May. 

Placement of Financial Director/Consultant� 

In the proposal, the ELRC proposed to appoint a staff � nancial director or a � nancial services 
consultant. The services were budgeted for in the staff line item, but since SADTU was awarded its 
own funding, the ELRC General Secretary and the PGC determined that � nancial administration did 
not require the a full time dedicated staff person and would be best sourced from a fully quali� ed BEE 
accounting company with experience in U.S. government � nancial reporting and certi� cation according 
to SA accounting procedures. Proposals were solicited and by the end of the reporting period the 
ELRC attorneys had been tasked with drawing up a contract for Grandstone, Ltd. Grandstone would 
make available a quali� ed accountant to work part time in the ELRC of� ces to ful� ll the � nancial 
administration responsibilities. Grandstone has carried out similar responsibilities for the two largest 
implementing partners in the pilot project. 

  •

  •

  •

  •

  •

  •
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At the end of the period the CDC project of� cer disallowed the appointment of an outside 
consulting service and the Genearl Secretary prepared to advertise for the position of a 
full-time staff � nancial administrator.  This post was advertised and the appointment will 
be made after the closing date which is 16 May 2008. 

Services and Equipment Procurement� 

The process for establishing the project bank account and credit lines for travel services 
and acquisition of of� ce supplies, equipment and furniture has been slower then 
anticipated. Because the ELRC is a statutory body, project speci� c procurement needs 
to be carried out in project speci� c accounts and credit lines.   

Registration of the PCTA project under a Section 21 companies� 

In this reporting period, the ELRC explored with its lawyers the possibility of registering 
the ELRC PCTA under speci� c titles of section 21 of the South Africa Company Act as 
a project of the ELRC. This would provide legal indemnity to the state. The lawyers will 
report back in the next reporting period.

  

T/SHIRTS PRODUCED FOR MASTER TRAINERS
 

  •

  •
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SPECIAL ANNEXURE:  
 ELRC TRIBUTE TO THE LATE MR DON PASQUALLIE.
 Member of the ELRC Executive Committee and Chief Negotiator of CTU - SADTU

Don PasquallieDon Pasquallie
12 March 1962 - 27 January 2008

ATribute to a leader

In loving memory of
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PELRC Western Cape Stanco with GS (ELRC)
and Education MEC (WC)

From left back :

Front:

Bernie Tataw,

Don Pasquallie,

MEC Cameron Dugmore,

M Govender ( ,

Salie Faker.

Rebecca Mohamed,

Masisi Van Wyk,

Helene Sieborger.

ELRC GS)

2

TRIBUTETODONPASQUALLIEANDALFREDOPASQUALLIE:
TEACHERSWHOMADEADIFFERENCE

It is with notes of painful sadness that the Executive Committee of ELRC has learnt of

the death of Don Pasquallie, a member of the ELRC Executive Committee, who was

taken away from us under tragic circumstances.

Within the process of South Africa emerging from a fragmented society and

transforming into a fledgling democracy, bargaining structures within the labour

union movement had to be formed to serve the interests of teachers in public

education.

Don Pasquallie was one of those leading figures who tirelessly engaged the

formation of this process, and in 1991 joined SADTU as a member of the Elsies River

branch of the Western Cape, for he firmly believed, and I quote:

During the period 1995 -1996 he was one of the chief negotiators of SADTU at

national level, and in this context helped to build the ELRC. He played a pivotal role

in the development of the ELRC and can be ascribed to reaching a series of

milestones that benefited teachers and helped build a unified public education

system.

“Development of the human resources in the Western Cape through lifelong
learning, skills development, education and training improves the living conditions of
workers and all other citizens and offers them access to employment for a better
quality of life.”

“Good leaders go to their people, connect, find common
ground, And empower them to succeed”. - John C Maxwell

3

MESSAGE FROM MR M GOVENDER
General Secretary
Education Labour Relations Council
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One of his major contr ibutions was the

democratisation of schools; in this regard he

advocated the concept of school governing bodies.

During his tenure as the national chief negotiator for

SADTU, Don would leave no stone unturned to

resolve key problems facing public education. It was

during this period he ensured that significant

resolutions were passed in the ELRC to lay the basis

for transformation in public education in SouthAfrica.

In 1996, he was elected to the position of Provincial

Secretary of SADTU in the Western Cape:

whereupon he decided to concentrate on his

responsibilities as Provincial Secretary. He,

nevertheless, continued his role as chief negotiator of

SADTU Western Cape in the Provincial ELRC and

was highly effective in influencing pertinent public

education issues in the province.

4

In 2006 he was elected to the national leadership of SADTU

as Deputy General Secretary. As the Deputy General Secretary

he once again assumed the mantle of chief negotiator of SADTU

at a national level in the ELRC. Recent successes included the signing

of CollectiveAgreements between the unions and the employer in order

To pave the way for the successful implementation of the Further Education and

Training Colleges Act. He played a pivotal role in ensuring transformation in the

FETC sector.

Always walking the extra mile and with determination to achieve collective

consensus, he led negotiations with the Department of Education on the proposed

Occupation Specific Dispensation (OSD) for educators. Don was determined to

ensure that teachers got a better deal. He never forgot for one moment that he

himself was a teacher.

Don was not only a colleague but also a true and personal friend. Together we were

part of the founding members of SADTU, working closely together to set up a

structure to serve the interests of educators.

He was my mentor and imparted great and valuable skills. Skills which to this day

guides me in my responsibility as General Secretary of the ELRC. He taught me the

ability of approaching matters with flexibility and non-partisanship.

Don will be sadly missed but affectionately remembered. Don lived a true, passionate

and caring life. He lived not for himself but for the improvement of his fellow human

beings.

The ELRC, as an organisation serving teachers, is also saddened by the loss of a

soldier for quality public education. In this regard we salute the contribution made by

Alfredo Pasquallie to public education in the Western Cape. His commitment to the

people and pupils of the Western Cape is greatly admired and education reaped the

rewards of him being a teacher and a Deputy Principal. His dedication towards the

teaching profession is admired and serves as an inspiration to others to help our

pupils achieve a better life.

5

“Your best friend is he who brings out
the best that is within you”. - Henry Fordl
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On behalf of the Executive Committee of the ELRC, I

trust that we can celebrate their lives with the quote

- Leonardo da Vinci

Issued by: The General Secretary on behalf of the

Executive Committee of the ELRC.

General Secretary

Education Labour Relations Council

“As a well-spent day brings happy sleep, so a life well
used brings happy death”.

MrMGovender

6

Department of Education

WORDS OF CONDOLENCES TO THE SOUTH AFRICAN DEMOCRATIC
TEACHERS' UNION

It is with sadness and sympathy that the Department of Education learnt about the

tragic passing away of Don Pasquallie, the Deputy General Secretary of SADTU.

The Department of Education, through its Heads of Education Committee

(HEDCOM), wishes to express their sincere condolences at the loss of a

longstanding member and office-bearer of SADTU, a family member and an

educationist.

Don will be remembered for his outstanding contribution in the integration of the 17

segregated departments into one single Department of Education that ushered in a

transformation process of a new dispensation in a democratic SouthAfrica.

As one of the founder members of the Education Labour Relations Council (ELRC) he

will always be remembered as a pioneer who worked tirelessly and with great

commitment to bring about the rationalization of education that further addressed the

redress and equity imperatives in the education system, especially during the period

from 1994-1996 that culminated in ELRC Resolution 3 and 6 of 1996.

As an excellent mathematics teacher he managed to use these skills to assist both

government and labour in strategically resolving equations on the distribution models

that would ensure that the most disadvantaged educators and learners benefited

most. He was resolute and convincing in articulating policy in this regard.

He was a visionary and a strategist and his most recent contributions in trying to reach

agreement on the Occupational Specific Dispensation (OSD) is an example of how

he tried to balance the interests of the union with the needs of quality education.

7
“Wherever people find themselves in life, they usually
possess the natural desire to move up”. - John C Maxwell

MESSAGES FROM PARTIES TO THE ELRC
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He will always be remembered as solid, a rock, a

tough negotiator and a dedicated trade unionist that

never lost sight of being an educationist at heart. As

an activist and an intellectual he was able to look

beyond the sectoral interests and passionately

advanced the National Resource Development

towards nurturing a caring society in a developmental

state.

The loss of Don Pasquallie is not only the loss of his

family, SADTU and its members, but the greatest loss

to the education fraternity.

, Director General of Education,

On behalf of Heads of Education Committee

Duncan Hindle

8 9

SAOU

TRIBUTE TO MR DON PASQUALLIE
HULDEBLYK AAN MNR DON PASQUALLIE

KobusPieterse

It was with great regret that the Suid-Afrikaanse Onderwysersunie (SAOU) learnt of

the tragic and premature passing of Don Pasquallie in the early hours of 26 January

2008. Our hearts go out to his loved ones. They are and will be in our prayers.

Don was a remarkable person who was blessed with many gifts. He was a person

who showed empathy towards his fellow man and he was an inspiration to others. He

will be remembered as one who fought for the rights of those he served. His ability to

bring groupings with different beliefs together and to lead under difficult

circumstances will be remembered and greatly missed. His leadership in the

Education Labour Relations Council serves as an example to all of those who had the

honour to work with him at this particular level.

Die georganiseerde onderwys het 'n man van inbors verloor en rou saam met sy

gesin oor die verlies van 'n persoon wat groot liefde vir sy geliefdes geopenbaar het,

maar wie ook op die breër terrein bewys gelewer het van 'n mens met visie. Sy

pogings, en die sukses wat hy daardeur behaal het, om mense van verskillende

politieke sienings, gelowe, tale en kulture saam te voeg in 'n hegte onderwyseenheid,

sal altyd onthou word en baan die weg vir nog groter samewerking in die toekoms.

In die woud van die lewe het 'n belangrike boom geval. Sy plek staan nou leeg, maar

ons weet dat die goeie herinneringe aan Don vir sy gesin en vir ons almal troos sal

bring.

Wanneer ons groet, salueer ons 'n vriend, 'n onderwyser en 'n kollega.

Executive Director, SAOU

“When you do a job well, and you know the impact of the
work you did, that should give you great satisfaction”. - John C Maxwell
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NATU

CONDOLENCE MESSAGE FROM NATU ON THE
PASSING AWAY OF THE DEPUTY GENERAL
SECRETARY OF SADTU

E.M.Biyela

The National Teachers Union received the news of

the tragic passing away of Don with shock. The

leadership of NATU expresses its profound sorrow

and sympathy with Don's family, SADTU and the

teaching profession as a whole, for losing one of its

greatest leaders. Don will surely be missed for his

exceptional work ethic and commitment to the welfare

of educators in particular, and workers in general.

May God strengthen all of us especially SADTU, as

we endure this very difficult time of accepting this

immeasurable loss.

Executive Director, NATU

10 11

NAPTOSA

SADTU

TRIBUTE: DON PASQUALLIE,
DEPUTY GENERAL SECRETARY OF SADTU

H Hendricks

ThulasNxesi

The President, leaders and members of NAPTOSA wish to express our deep

sadness at the sudden and tragic passing of Don Pasquallie.

Don will long be remembered for his passion and commitment as well as his very

principled approach to all matters. A very tenacious negotiator, Don did not waiver or

compromise in carrying his mandate. This won him the respect of all with whom he

interacted.

Education, and indeed our country are richer because of the contribution that Don has

made. He will therefore be sorely missed.

NAPTOSAextends its sincere condolences to Don's family for their very sad loss and

wish them God's peace and comfort.

Executive Director, NAPTOSA

Even as we reel from the shock of the news of his death, we take some comfort in

recognising and celebrating Don's massive achievement and contribution to trade

unionism and the teachers of South Africa. He would be remembered as a visionary

and a strategist. A hard-working organiser and negotiator, he was a man of great

warmth and compassion. He was a giant. He will be greatly missed

General Secretary, Sadtu

“The number one characteristic of leaders
is the ability to make things happen”. - John C Maxwell


